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Minutes: 

Chairman Price: We will open the hearing on HB 1154. 

Representative Keiser District 47: This bill is a Wisconsin bill. The first section we talk 

about permit and a fee. We talk about advertising, failure to wear eye protection. We need to 

• put some responsibility on the facility. 

Senator Ralph Kilzer: District 47 in Bismarck. See attached with amendments. 

Dr. William Cornatzer: I am a certified dermatologist in Bismarck ND. I have been practicing 

here for 22 years. My son and I were basically the two that did the leg work for this bill. My 

son is in medical school and can't be here to testify. In the past 5 years approximately 19 

different states have submitted legislation to try to regulate the tanning industry, in effect of 

minors having the ability to get and have access to tanning beds. No one under 18 should be 

allowed with out parent consent. There should also be a warning label on the booths, and 

there should be a law saying they are not allowed to say they are safe. It is a known fact that 

ultra light causes cancer. We are seeing an epidemic of melanoma, a fatal skin cancer if deep 

in the skin. It is as high a rate of death as people using tobacco. On an average I take out 5-

1 O melanomas a month. I hope the committee will think about and pass this bill to protect our 

children's health. Over half the tanning facilities have no regulations at all. There is 
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• medications where you should not get sun light, and they have come into the emergency 

rooms with sever burns. In France you can drink at 12, but you can't go to a tanning bed until 

they are 18. This is to try and protect their children. See information attached. 

Dr Todd Twogood: President of ND American Academy of Pediatrics. I am a pediatrician 

in Bismarck ND. See attached. I am here to show support for the bill 

Dr. Denise DForte: I am a dermatologist in Bismarck. We are seeing a tremendous increase 

in melanoma. Any tanning does damage to the skin. It is proven that tanning in a booth is 

much more damaging than out doors. We should try to prevent cancer. If there are to be 

changes on this bill it should be more stringent. 

Kenan Bullinger: Director of Division of food and Lodging for ND Department of Health. See 

attached testimony. I have neutral testimony to HB 1154. 

Representative Porter: Is it possible for your agency to contract with local health units or 

local inspectors. 

Mr. Bullinger: That is currently the way we do it. I did notify them that this may be coming 

their way. Most are receptive. We have vehicles in place that inspect and collect. 

Mary Ann Foss, Director of the Division of Cancer Prevention and Control of the ND 

Department of Health: See attached testimony. 

Heidi Heitkamp, representing the Indoor Tanning Association: See Attached testimony. 

Currently the FDA does regulate these machines. We are also seeing more melanoma 

because we are testing more. In the back of my testimony is a spread sheet on how minors 

are monitored in other states. II is a parent's responsibility not ours I would be happy to work 

with the committee to get the bill implemented. Most that is in here is common sense. The 

beds are regulated not the facility. 

Chairman Price: Any opposition? 
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• Sue Blair, a salon owner In Bismarck: I am not completely against the bill. I do think we 

• 

need to be regulated. I do support Heidi on what she is asking for. We provide sun screen 

and I regulate all of my people on the length of time an how often. 

Jeri Heiser, Owner of two tanning facilities. I employ 15-25 people. Smarttan.com has 

very much information for you to help you with this bill. We have a log book to monitor our 

clients. Some of my beds have a higher UV. We do not allow them to tan for 48 hours. 

Moderation is the key. I will invite any of you a tour at my facility on tanning devices 

Representative Schneider: Tanning devices must be accurate. Have you had any 

problems? 

Ms. Heiser: The first time you tan, we do a skin analysis. We have total control about time. 

We set the time, and it can not be changed. I think it is important for tanning facilities to have a 

computer. 

Chairman Price: We will close the hearing on HB 1154. 
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Bill/Resolution No. HB 1154 

House Human Services Committee 
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II Committee Clerk Signature 

Minutes: 

Chairman Price: Let's open HB 1154 

Heidi Heidkamp purposed amendments See attached. 

The committee discusses an in home tanning bed where a parent allows a 12 year old to use. 

• Are we trying to solve a problem we don't have. Also is it our problem or the parents as to 

when a child can use a tanning bed. 

Representative Schneider moves a do pass as amended. Second by Representative 

Conrad. Vote was 8 years, 3 nays and one absent. The bill RR/Appropreations. 

Representative Schneider to carry to the floor. 



FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

0411812007 

Amendment to: Engrossed 
HB 1154 

1A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
fundina levels and aooropriations anticioated under current law. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $32,281 $30,027 

Expenditures $32,281 $30,027 

Appropriations 

1 B C ountv, city, and school district fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the aooropriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

This bill requires the Department of Health to regulate tanning facilities within the state of North Dakota. Currently this 
group of providers is not regulated. The costs included in this fiscal note include staff time for rules development and 
inspection of approximately 250 tanning facilities. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

There is no mention in the proposed legislation that inspections of tanning facilities are mandated with passage of the 
law. However, the department is mandated to enforce the provisions of the law and any rules promulgated to further 
enforce. In order to enforce this chapter the department would need to conduct routine inspections. For purposes of 
this fiscal note, I used one annual inspection as a basis for inspection and permitting costs. Two inspections per year 
would not be out of line. The Senate has added language that allows the Health Department to deposit the funds into 
our operating account and waive fees that are subject to local jurisdiction. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

This bill allows the department to establish a fee for a permit to operate a tanning facility. Included in Engrossed HB 
1004 is language that allows these fees to be deposited into the department's operating fund similar to our food and 
lodging inspection fees. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, fine 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

During the 2007-2009 biennium, it is anticipated that it will take approximately 1,180 hours per biennium of staff time 
or about a .5 FTE for rules development, implementation, salary and operating costs. It is anticipated that the costs 
during the 2007-2009 biennium would be $32,281. 

As development will occur prior to the 2009-2011 biennium, it is anticipated that the expenditures for ongoing 
• operation of this program will be approximately $30,027 for the biennium. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 



• 
appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
continuing appropriation. 

Funds for this project are included in the Department's Appropriation bill (Engrossed HB 1004) as amended by the 
House. 

Name: Kathy J. Albin gency: Department of Health 
Phone Number: 328.4542 Date Prepared: 04118/2007 
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Amendment to: Engrossed 
HB 1154 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

03/01/2007 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
fundinq levels and aooropriations anticipated under current law. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $32,281 $30,027 

Expenditures $32,281 $30,027 

Appropriations 

18. County, city, and school district fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the aooropriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

This bill requires the Department of Health to regulate tanning facilities within the state of North Dakota. Currently this 
group of providers is not regulated. The costs included in this fiscal note include staff time for rules development and 
inspection of approximately 250 tanning facilities . 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

There is no mention in the proposed legislation that inspections of tanning facilities are mandated with passage of the 
law. However, the department is mandated to enforce the provisions of the law and any rules promulgated to further 
enforce. In order to enforce this chapter the department would need to conduct routine inspections. For purposes of 
this fiscal note, I used one annual inspection as a basis for inspection and permitting costs. Two inspections per year 
would not be out of line. The Senate has added language that allows the Health Department to deposit the funds into 
our operating account and waive fees that are subject to local jurisdiction. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

This bill allows the department to establish a fee for a permit to operate a tanning facility. Included in Engrossed HB 
1004 is language that allows these fees to be deposited into the department's operating fund similar to our food and 
lodging inspection fees. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

During the 2007-2009 biennium, it is anticipated that it will take approximately 1,180 hours per biennium of staff time 
or about a .5 FTE for rules development, implementation, salary and operating costs. It is anticipated that the costs 
during the 2007-2009 biennium would be $32,281. 

As development will occur prior to the 2009-2011 biennium, it is anticipated that the expenditures for ongoing 
operation of this program will be approximately $30,027 for the biennium . 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
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appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
continuing appropriation. 

Funds for this project are included in the Department's Appropriation bill (Engrossed HB 1004) as amended by the 
House. 

Name: Kathy J. Albin gency: Health 
Phone Number: 328.4542 Date Prepared: 03/01/2007 
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Amendment to: HB 1154 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

0211512007 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
fundina levels and aooropriations anticipated under current law. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $32,281 $30,027 

Expenditures $32,281 $30,027 

Appropriations 

18. Countv, city, and school district fiscal effect: ldentifv the fiscal effect on the aooropriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact {limited to 300 characters). 

This bill requires the Department of Health to regulate tanning facilities within the state of North Dakota. Currently this 
group of providers is not regulated. The costs included in this fiscal note include staff time for rules development and 
inspection of approximately 250 tanning facilities. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

There is no mention in the proposed legislation that inspections of tanning facilities are mandated with passage of the 
law. However, the department is mandated to enforce the provisions of the law and any rules promulgated to further 
enforce. In order to enforce this chapter the department would need to conduct routine inspections. For purposes of 
this fiscal note, I used one annual inspection as a basis for inspection and permitting costs. Two inspections per year 
would not be out of line. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

This bill allows the department to establish a fee for a permit to operate a tanning facility. Included in Engrossed HB 
1004 is language that allows these fees to be deposited into the department's operating fund similar to our food and 
lodging inspection fees. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

During the 2007-2009 biennium, it is anticipated that it will take approximately 1,180 hours per biennium of staff time 
or about a .5 FTE for rules development, implementation, salary and operating costs. It is anticipated that the costs 
during the 2007-2009 biennium would be $32,281. 

As development will occur prior to the 2009-2011 biennium, it is anticipated that the expenditures for ongoing 
operation of this program will be approximately $30,027 for the biennium. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
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• 

continuing appropriation. 

Funds for this project are included in the Department's Appropriation bill (Engrossed HB 1004) as amended by the 
House . 

Name: Kathy J. Albin gency: Health 
Phone Number: 328.4542 Date Prepared: 02/16/2007 



FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

0210512007 

- Amendment to: HB 1154 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
~ unding levels and aooropriations anticipated under current law. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $32,281 $30,027 

Expenditures $32,281 $30,027 

Appropriations 

1B. Countv, citv, and school district fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the aooropriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

This bill requires the Department of Health to regulate tanning facilities within the state of North Dakota. Currently this 
group of providers is not regulated. The costs included in this fiscal note include staff time for rules development and 
inspection of approximately 250 tanning facilities. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

There is no mention in the proposed legislation that inspections of tanning facilities are mandated with passage of the 
law. However, the department is mandated to enforce the provisions of the law and any rules promulgated to further 
enforce. In order to enforce this chapter the department would need to conduct routine inspections. For purposes of 
this fiscal note, 1 used one annual inspection as a basis for inspection and permitting costs. Two inspections per year 
would not be out of line 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

This bill allows the department to establish a fee for a permit to operate a tanning facility. Since the bill is silent with 
regard to the deposit of that fee, it would be deposited into the general fund. An alternative to this would be to deposit 
these fees into the department's operating fund similar to our food and lodging inspection fees. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, fine 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

During the 2007-2009 biennium, it is anticipated that it will take approximately 1,180 hours per biennium of staff time 
or about a .5 FTE for rules development, implementation, salary and operating costs. It is anticipated that the costs 
during the 2007-2009 biennium would be $32,281. 

As development will occur prior to the 2009-2011 biennium, it is anticipated that the expenditures for ongoing 
operation of this program will be approximately $30,027 for the biennium. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 



• 
continuing appropriation. 

Funds for this project are not included in the Department's Appropriation bill (HB 1004). The department would need 
these funds appropriated as well as a . 5 FTE to carry out these responsibilities. If the department obtains authority to 
deposit the fees into the department's operating fund a special fund appropriation would be needed rather than a 
general fund appropriation. 

Name: Kathy J. Albin gency: Health 
Phone Number: 328.4542 Date Prepared: 01/05/2007 
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Bill/Resolution No.: HB 1154 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

01/05/2007 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
~ d. I I d . t' d d I un ma eves an aooropr,a ions ant,cmate un er current aw. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $74,58, $77,003 

Expenditures $74,58, $77,003 

Appropriations 

1B C ountv, citv, and school district fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the annrooriate oolitical subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

This bill requires the Department of Health regulate tanning facilities within the state of North Dakota. Currently this 
group of providers is not regulated. The costs included in this fiscal note include staff time for rules development and 
inspection of approximately 650 tanning facilities. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

There is no mention in the proposed legislation that inspections of tanning facilities are mandated with passage of the 
law. However, the department is mandated to enforce the provisions of the law and any rules promulgated to further 
enforce. In order to enforce this chapter the department would need to conduct routine inspections. For purposes of 
this fiscal note, I used one annual inspection as a basis for inspection and permitting costs. Two inspections per year 
would not be out of line 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

A fee for a permit to operate a tanning facility is not addressed in this bill; however it does allow the department to 
establish a fee. We would collect a fee that would be equal to the cost of the program. The revenue would be 
deposited into the general fund. An alternative to this would be to deposit these fees into the department's operating 
fund similar to our food and lodging inspection fees. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

During the 2007-2009 biennium, it is anticipated that it will take approximately 2,800 hours per biennium of staff time 
or about a . 75 FTE for rules development, implementation, salary and operating costs. It is anticipated that the costs 
during the 2007-2009 biennium would be $74,583. 

As development will occur prior to the 2009-2011 biennium, it is anticipated that the expenditures for ongoing 
operation of this program will be approximately $77,003 for the biennium. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
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appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
continuing appropriation. 

Funds for this project are not included in the Department's Appropriation bill (HB 1004). The department would need 
these funds appropriated as well as a .75 FTE to carry out these responsibilities. 

Name: Kathy J. Albin gency: Health 
Phone Number: 328.4542 0110912007 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1154 

On page 3, remove lines 8 and 9 

On page 3, line I 0, remove "replaced." 

On page 3, line 11, after "replaced" insert", and that record shall be made readily 
available to any customer who requests that information" 

On page 3, remove lines 19 and 20 and insert the following: 

a. A customer under eighteen years of age shall not be permitted to use the 
tanning facility until such customer provides the facility with written consent, 
in a form prescribed by the Department, of a parent or legal guardian to use 
such tanning facility. The consent shall indicate that the parent or guardian 
has read the warnings required by this chapter and that the customer agrees to 
wear protective eyewear. The parent or legal guardian shall sign the consent 
form in the presence of the owner of the tanning facility or an employee 
responsible for the operation of the ultraviolet radiation device of the facility. 
The written consent form shall expire 12 months from the date signed. No 
customers under the age of 14 shall be allowed to utilize a tanning device at a 
tanning facility without a written order from a physician licensed in this state 
and customers under the age of 14 must be accompanied by a parent or legal 
guardian for every use of the tanning facility. 

On page 3, line 28, remove "A customer. before using a tanning device. is provided with properly" 
with "Properly" 

On page 3, line 27 after "balance" insert "is made available to the customer" 

On page 3. line 28 replace "uses" with "agrees to use FDA approved" 
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How the amendments will look in text 

Amendment number 1. Subsection 4 on line 8 will become: 

4. The tanning facility shall maintain a record of the date on which each fluorescent tube is 
replaced and that record shall be made readily available to any customer who requests 
that information. 

Amendment number 2. Subsection 1.a. on lines 19 and 20 of page 3 will become: 

b. A customer under eighteen years of age shall not be permitted to use the 
tanning facility until such customer provides the facility with written consent, 
in a form prescribed by the Department, of a parent or legal guardian to use 
such tanning facility. The consent shall indicate that the parent or guardian 
has read the warnings required by this chapter and that the customer agrees to 
wear protective eyewear. The parent or legal guardian shall sign the consent 
form in the presence of the owner of the tanning facility or an employee 
responsible for the operation of the ultraviolet radiation device of the facility. 
The written consent form shall expire 12 months from the date signed. No 
customers under the age of 14 shall be allowed to utilize a tanning device at a 
tanning facility without a written order from a physician licensed in this state 
and customers under the age of 14 must be accompanied by a parent or legal 
guardian for every use of the tanning facility . 

Amendment number 3. Subsection 1.d. on lines 25 through 27 of page 3 will become: 

,l Properly sanitized securely fitting protective eyewear that protects the wearer's eyes from 
ultraviolet radiation and allows enough vision to maintain balance is made available to the 
customer. 

Amendment number 4. Subsection 1.e. on lines 28 and 29 of page 3 will become: 

~ A customer is not allowed to use a tanning devise unless the customer agrees to use 
FDA approved protective eyewear . 



• 

• 

• 

Explanation of amendments 

Amendment number 1: It is unclear what public health benefit would be arrived 
from posting the date on which the fluorescent bulbs were replaced. Because 
the bulbs become less intense with age, this subsection appears to be an 
increased regulation without any benefit to the public. The facilities are willing to 
maintain a log as to when the bulbs were replaced and make that information 
available to customers who are interested. This appears to be a good 
compromise. 

Amendment number 2. The reasons for this amendment were discussed in the 
original testimony will not be repeated here. This proposed amendment is not 
identical to the amendment proposed in the original testimony. Rather this 
amendment addresses some of the comments that were made by the committee. 
In explanation, any customer 14 to 18 years of age would not be permitted to use 
a tanning device at a tanning facility unless that customer had the written consent 
of his or her parent or legal guardian. The amendment requires that that consent 
be given in writing in the presence of the owner of the facility or an employee and 
that the written consent will expire after 12 months. The initial amendment 
created a complete prohibition on the use of these devices by customers under 
the age of 14. However, I have since learned that occasionally physicians, for 
medical reasons, will recommend patients under the age of 14 use tanning 
devices. This amendment would allow customers under the age of 14 only with 
the written order of a licensed physician and only if that customer under the age 
of 14 was accompanied by a parent or legal guardian at every use. 

Amendment number 3. This amendment clarifies that tanning facilities are not 
required to provide protective eyewear free of charge. Rather than using the 
words "provided with", the amendment requires that eyewear "be made available 
to the customer." This amendment addresses the health concerns of protective 
eyewear without putting an additional financial burden on the facilities. 

Amendment number 4 This amendment clarifies that the customers must 
agree to use FDA approved protective eyewear 
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70432.0101 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator Kilzer 

January 9, 2007 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1154 

Page 4, after line 26, insert: 

"23-39-07. Exception. Notwithstanding section 23-39-05. a customer under 
the age of sixteen may use a tanning facility if the use is under the order of a physician 
and the physician. tanning facility. and customer comply with an authorization protocol 
established by the department." 

Page 4, line 27, replace "23-39-07" with "23-39-08" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 70432.0101 
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Date: 1/1p 

Roll Call Vote #: "[ 

2007 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES 
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. "Click here to type Bill/Resolution No." 

House HUMAN SERVICES fl (j { { 5- cf 

0 Check here for Conference Committee 

Legislative Council Amendment Number 

Action Taken 

Motion Made By _ __,(j,==}:..::&-i~c...../2,..,_,,z"-"L~l=---. __ Seconded By 

Representatives Yes No Representatives 
Clara Sue Price - Chairman Kari L Conrad 
Vonnie Pietsch - Vice Chairman Lee Kaldor 
Chuck Damschen Louise Potter 
Patrick R. Hatlestad Jasoer Schneider 
Curt Hofstad 
Todd Porter 
Gerrv Ualem 
Robin Weisz 

Total 

Absent 

(Yes) "Click here to type/i(e~t?e?. No "Click here to type No Vote" 

Floor Assignment 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

Committee 

Yes No 
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\tlf 
Date: 

Roll Call Vote #: :}-' 

2007 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES 
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. "Click here to type Bill/Resolution No." 

House HUMAN SERVICES 

0 Check here for Conference Committee 

Legislative Council Amendment Number 

Action Taken 

Motion Made By ----11f-· ~------- Seconded By [/J "::::3 
Representatives Yes No Representatives 

Clara Sue Price - Chairman Kari L Conrad 
Vonnie Pietsch - Vice Chairman Lee Kaldor 
Chuck Damschen Louise Potter 
Patrick R. Hatlestad Jasoer Schneider 
Curt Hofstad 
Todd Porter 
Gerrv Ualem 
Robin Weisz 

Total 

Absent 

(Yes) 
C(;«:_ 

"Click here to type Ye~ Vote" No "Click here to type No Vote" 

Floor Assignment 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

Committee 

Yes No 
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Date: Yi\,, 
Roll Call Vote #:_37 

2007 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES 
BILURESOLUTION NO. "Click here to type Bill/Resolution No." 

House HUMAN SERVICES 

D Check here for Conference Committee 

Legislative Council Amendment Number 

Action Taken 

Committee 

Motion Made By j L,,-Jl IL-v--.. Seconded By ,/)~ 
~{ "'"""·~,t-'----- ;r-~~~---

Reoresentatives Yes No Reoresentatives Yes No 
Clara Sue Price - Chairman v-- · Kari L Conrad i---
Vonnie Pietsch - Vice Chairman v Lee Kaldor 
Chuck Damschen v-- Louise Potter .,...... 
Patrick R. Hatlestad ...,..---- Jasper Schneider ,. 

1/ 
Curt Hofstad ,~ 
Todd Porter ~ 

Gerrv Ualem 1,--"". 

Robin Weisz /,/" 

Total 

Absent 

(Yes) 
q ~ 

"Click here to'type Yes Vote" No _"Cc....lc....ic'""k-'h.c.e....cre'--tc.c.o .... ty .... pc...ce_N_o~V.c.o~te_" ___ _ 

Floor Assignment 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 
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70432.0102 
Title.0200 

Adopted by the Human Services Committee 
January 17, 2007 

House Amendments to HB 1154 (70432.0102) • Human Services Committee 01/17/2007 

Page 1, line 13, after "including" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

House Amendments to HB 1154 (70432.0102) - Human Services Committee 01/17/2007 

Page 2, line 27, after "Wear" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

House Amendments to HB 1154 (70432.0102) • Human Services Committee 01/17/2007 

Page 3, line 8, remove "A tanning facility shall post a sign in each area where a tanning device 
is used" 

Page 3, remove line 9 

Page 3, line 10, remove "replaced." 

Page 3, line 11, after "replaced" insert "and that record must be made readily available to any 
customer who requests the information" 

Page 3, line 19, replace "sixteen" with "eighteen" and replace "is not" with "may not be" 

Page 3, line 20, after "facility" insert "until the customer provides the facility with written 
consent. in a form prescribed by the department, of a parent or legal guardian to use 
the tanning facility. The consent must indicate that the parent or legal guardian has 
read the warnings required by this chapter and that the customer agrees to wear food 
and drug administration-approved protective eyewear. The parent or legal guardian 
shall provide a notarized statement of consent or sign the consent form in the presence 
of the owner of the tanning facility or an employee responsible for the operation of the 
ultraviolet radiation device of the facility. The written consent form expires twelve 
months from the date signed. A customer under the age of fourteen years may not be 
allowed to utilize a tanning device at a tanning facility without a written order from a 
physician licensed in this state and without being accompanied by a parent or legal 
guardian for every use of the tanning facility" 

Page 3, line 25, replace "A customer. before using a tanning device. is provided with properly" 
with "Properly" 

Page 3, line 26, after "fitting" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 3, line 27, after "balance" insert "is made available to the customer" 

Page 3, line 28, replace "uses" with "agrees to use food and drug administration-approved" 

1 of 2 70432.0102 
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House Amendments to HB 1154 (70432.0102) - Human Services Committee 01/17/2007 

Page 4, line 21, after "use" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 4, line 22, after "Use" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 4, line 24, after the underscored comma insert "any physician, medical professional, or" 

Renumber accordingly 

2 of 2 70432.0102 
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Date: (1,,, 
Roll Call Vote #: 3/ 

2007 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES 
BILURESOLUTION NO. "Click here to type Bill/Resolution No." 

House HUMAN SERVICES 

0 Check here for Conference Committee 

Legislative Council Amendment Number 

Action Taken /VL~ LL,~ 
Motion Made By /) 

4
~ 

I 

,<J 13 (I S:-f 

Reoresentatives Yes No Reoresentatives 
Clara Sue Price - Chairman 
Vonnie Pietsch - Vice Chairman 
Chuck Damschen 
Patrick R. Hatlestad 
Curt Hofstad 
Todd Porter 
Gerrv Ualem 
Robin Weisz 

Total 

Absent 

(Yes) 

Floor Assignment 

" 
/If 

Kari L Conrad 
Lee Kaldor 
Louise Potter 
Jasper Schneider 

6 
" ' No 'Click here to type No Vote 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

Committee 

Yes No 

" 
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Date: 11 Y' ... -Roll Call Vote#: .-

2007 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES 
BILURESOLUTION NO. "Click here to type Bill/Resolution No." 

House HUMAN SERVICES 

D Check here for Conference Committee 

Legislative Council Amendment Number 

Action Taken /h:~ £_,,:J 

Motion Made sh ~ ~ 
Reoresentatives Yes 

Clara Sue Price - Chairman I _,,. 

Vonnie Pietsch - Vice Chairman -
Chuck Damschen 
Patrick R. Hatlestad ' -
Curt Hofstad 1-

Todd Porter 
Gerrv Uolem i 

Robin Weisz 

No 

I 

,._,_ 
; 

Total (Yes) "Click here to t:teies Vote" No 
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Floor Assignment 

Reoresentatives 
Kari L Conrad 
Lee Kaldor 
Louise Potter 
Jasper Schneider 
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If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

/0 

!Cv(, /_-,,- -~ ·c;-

Committee 

Yes No 
/...-

,_..-
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·-··-· -----------------
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE (410) 
January 18, 2007 11 :12 a.m. 

Module No: HR-12-0732 
Carrier: Schnelder 

Insert LC: 70432.0102 TIiie: .0200 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1154: Human Services Committee (Rep. Price, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS 
(8 YEAS, 3 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HB 1154 was placed on the Sixth 
order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 13, after "including" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 2, line 27, after "Wear" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 3, line 8, remove "A tanning facility shall post a sign in each area where a tanning device 
is used" 

Page 3, remove line 9 

Page 3, line 10, remove "replaced." 

Page 3, line 11, after "replaced" insert "and that record must be made readily available to any 
customer who requests the information" 

Page 3, line 19, replace "sixteen" with "eighteen" and replace "is not" with "may not be" 

Page 3, line 20, after "facility" insert "until the customer provides the facility with written 
consent, in a form prescribed by the department, of a parent or legal guardian to use 
the tanning facility. The consent must indicate that the parent or legal guardian has 
read the warnings required by this chapter and that the customer agrees to wear food 
and drug administration-approved protective eyewear. The parent or legal guardian 
shall provide a notarized statement of consent or sign the consent form in the presence 
of the owner of the tanning facility or an employee responsible for the operation of the 
ultraviolet radiation device of the facility. The written consent form expires twelve 
months from the date signed. A customer under the age of fourteen years may not be 
allowed to utilize a tanning device at a tanning facility without a written order from a 
physician licensed in this state and without being accompanied by a parent or legal 
guardian for every use of the tanning facility" 

Page 3, line 25, replace "A customer, before using a tanning device, is provided with properly" 
with "Properly" 

Page 3, line 26, after "fitting" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 3, line 27, after "balance" insert "is made available to the customer" 

Page 3, line 28, replace "uses" with "agrees to use food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 4, line 21, after "use" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 4, line 22, after "Use" insert "food and drug administration-approved" 

Page 4, line 24, after the underscored comma insert "any physician, medical professional, or" 

Renumber accordingly 

(2) DESK, (3) COMM Page No. 1 HR-12-0732 
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2007 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Bill/Resolution No. HB 1154 

House Appropriations Committee 

D Check here for Conference Committee 

Hearing Date: January 29, 2007 

Recorder Job Number: 2202 

Minutes: 

Chm. Svedjen called the meeting to order to take up HB 1154, a bill relating to regulation of 

tanning facilities by calling on Rep. Clara Sue Price, District 40 to explain the bill. 

Rep. Price: This bill developed as a result of dermatologists in the area who want regulations 

for the tanning facilities. What is in front of you is what the policy committee set forth . 

Chm. Svedjen asked Rep. Price to explain the bill amendment. 

Rep. Price: The fiscal part of this is the regulation of facilities, permit fees, health inspections 

on a state wide basis. We added approved eye wear, age of permission. 

Rep. Kempenich: Is there any duplication? 

Rep. Wald: How are they regulated now? 

Rep. Price: They are not, but possibly in larger communities. Some of the owners already 

have rules in place. A recommendation to pass this bill was made. 

Rep. Klein moved a Do Pass to HB 1154. Rep. Carlisle seconded the motion. The Do 

Pass motion carried by a roll call vote of 17 yeas, 6 nay and 1 absent and not voting. 

Rep Schneider will be the carrier of the bill . 
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Date: January 29, 2007 
Roll Call Vote #: / 

2007 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES 
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. 1154 

House Appropriations Full 

D Check here for Conference Committee 

Legislative Council Amendment Number 

Action Taken 

Motion Made By _ ___.,& .... ~"'""'u""""~-'-· -'------- Seconded By 

Reoresentatives Yes No Representatives 
Chairman Svedian ./ 
Vice Chairman Kemoenich ./ 

Representative Wald ,/ Representative Aarsvold 
Reoresentative Monson Reoresentative Gulleson 
Reoresentative Hawken .I -IA,, =-
Representative Klein ✓ 
Reoresentative Martinson ,/ 

, 

Representative Carlson , ✓ Representative Glassheim 
Reoresentative Carlisle ./ Reoresentative Kroeber 
Reoresentative Skarohol ✓ Reoresentative Williams 
Representative Thoreson v 
Representative Poller! v Representative Ekstrom 
Reoresentative Bellew ✓ Reoresentative Kerzman 
Representative Kreidt v Representative Metcalf 
Reoresentative Nelson ,/ 
Representative Wieland ,/ 

Total (Yes) ---------'-/__,_ _____ No 

Absent 

Floor Assignment -;(. ,,/z-A(,,~'a._,., 
✓ 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

Committee 

Yes No 

v 
,/ 

✓ 
,/ 
,/ 

,/ 
,/ 
✓ 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE (410) 
January 30, 2007 9:54 a.m. 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 

Module No: HR-19-1499 
Carrier: Schnelder 
Insert LC: . Tltle: . 

HB 1154, as engrossed: Appropriations Committee (Rep. Svedjan, Chairman) 
recommends DO PASS (17YEAS, 6 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). 
Engrossed HB 1154 was placed on the Eleventh order on the calendar . 

(2) DESK, (3) COMM Page No. 1 HR-19-1499 
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2007 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Bill/Resolution No. HB 1154 

Senate Human Services Committee 

D Check here for Conference Committee 

Hearing Date: 2-27-07 

Recorder Job Number: 3943, 4023 

II Committee Clerk Signature 2)J T R JTI ~ 

Minutes: 

Chairman Senator J. Lee opened the hearing on HB 1154 relating to regulation of tanning 

facilities; and to provide a penalty. 

Representative George Keiser (District #47) introduced HB 1154. His dermatologist brought 

• this issue to him. All the dermatologists in the state have a strong sense of passion for this 

issue because on a daily basis they see and treat melanoma. He gave an overview of the bill. 

It deals with the regulation of tanning facilities and it provides a penalty (meter 03:34). 

The heart of this bill and the major concern deals with lines 20-21 on page 23. Originally the 

bill was modeled after the Wisconsin legislation which said under a certain age you cannot use 

tanning facilities. The House modified this on lines 20-21 saying that a customer under 18 

years of age may not be permitted to use the tanning facility until the customer provides the 

facility with written consent from their parent or guardian. 

On page 5 the House added lines 5-9 dealing with injury reports. 

Senator Heckaman - How may tanning beds in ND operate under permits and how many 

don't? 

Rep. Keiser - Currently, there is no permitting process, no licensing process. 

Senator Heckaman - So this would start the licensing process? 
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Page 2 
Senate Human Services Committee 
Bill/Resolution No. HB 1154 
Hearing Date: 2-27-07 

Rep. Keiser - This would start the licensing and permitting process. 

Senator Warner - Does the Dept. of Health have any sanitation requirements for tanning 

parlors? 

Rep. Keiser - This is an unregulated industry and there is an appropriation on this bill to 

implement this type of monitoring. 

Senator Dever addressed the injury reports. Medical attention is a long term thins isn't it -

regarding tanning. Isn't that the whole point of the whole bill? 

Rep. Keiser - Yes, it is the intent of the whole bill. But, I believe, if you burn your eye, you will 

seek immediate attention. 

Senator Ralph Kilzer (District #47) testified in support of HB 1154. Tanning booths have 

increased five fold since 1992. They are a $5 billion a year business now and there is no 

regulation. About half of the states do have some level of regulation. Tanning machines can 

emit up to 15 x's the concentration of bright sunlight. There is a significant risk of melanoma, 

especially in people who receive excess exposure in life. The early and middle teens are more 

likely to develop melanoma. Approximately 10,000 cases of skin cancer deaths occur in the 

U.S. per year and close to 8,000 of those are melanoma. 

Senator Warner asked if there are any medical procedures that rely on tanning. 

Sen. Kilzer - Yes, there are some inflammatory disorders that dermatologists do treat with 

ultraviolet. That would normally be done with a sun lamp in the dermatologist's office. 

Senator J. Lee - Talked about prescription drugs that react with the sun. She asked if those 

with northern European ancestry would have more sensitivity to the sun. 

Sen. Kilzer responded yes they are more sensitive. He said the interaction with drugs cuts 

- across all the different classes where one or two out of each class will be sensitive. 

Senator Dever asked if the light intensity in the tanning bed and sun are different. 
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Page 3 
Senate Human Services Committee 
Bill/Resolution No. HB 1154 
Hearing Date: 2-27-07 

Sen. Kilzer said there is a difference in the exposure because there is more ultraviolet in the 

lamps than in the sun. 

Senator Dever - Is tanning basically cooking? 

Sen. Kilzer - Yes tanning is basically burning. 

Dr. William Cornatzer (Board Certified Dermatologist, Bismarck) testified in favor of HB 1154. 

(Meter 23:25) He and his son were the ones who initially brought this issue to Rep. Keiser. 

In answer to the question by Senator Dever he said it is not really cooking. It is radiation. 

What everyone needs to understand is that ultraviolet light is a form of radiation. 

The tanning bed industry is not against the general regulations in this bill which will hopefully 

protect people from getting accidentally burned from taking medicines. There are about 100 

different drugs that can cause photosensitivity reactions. Over a thousand hospitalizations 

yearly in the U.S. from second and third degree burns from people going to tanning beds not 

knowing they shouldn't be in there because of being on certain medications. 

This is a general health risk. 

The major reason for this bill is the increased number of cases of melanomas. These were 

rare cancers 25-30 years ago. It is now the most rapidly increasing cancer in the U.S. 

Dermatologist believes ii is from increased radiation of the skin from various methods, one 

being exposure to tanning beds or UVA exposure as young adults. 

(Meter 28:30) He referred to a long term women's health study in Norway. They have shown 

that women that go to tanning beds as teenagers have an 80% higher chance of getting a 

melanoma later in life. 

In respect to the amendment he would like what the world health organization has in their 

• position statement, that is, no one under the age of 18 should be allowed to go to a tanning 

bed. He would be happy with the amendment as it is with written parental consent or 
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Senate Human Services Committee 
Bill/Resolution No. HB 1154 
Hearing Date: 2-27-07 

notarization if the parent that is not there. He asked the committee to not change it from the 

House version. 

He provided packet of patient and study information for the record (Attachment #1 ). 

Senator Warner asked about a customer under the age of 14 on page 3 of the bill and if he 

prescribes. 

Dr. Cornatzer said he prescribes ultraviolet light all the time. He has a UVB emitting light box 

in his office which he treats conditions such as psoriasis and eczema. Unfortunately in ND it's 

not easy for a person to get to a dermatologist easily for daily treatments. There is, 

theoretically, a reason where a doctor would have a young child go to a tanning bed to get 

UVA light which is not as effective treatment for the skin conditions as the UVB light. But, if 

they live 50 or 100 miles away from dermatologist, that is needed in the bill so they could if 

they need to do this under physician supervision. 

Senator Heckaman said she didn't think this would do what they want it to do. 

Dr. Cornatzer replied that in Wisconsin said there are more tanning beds in Wisconsin now 

since their legislation, but they are keeping young children out. 

Senator Heckaman asked what happens with this with the home tanning beds. 

Dr. Cornatzer thought, unless the service was for sale, it would be exempt. 

Senator Dever asked if anything like cosmetology addresses tanning beds. 

Dr. Cornatzer said it does not. There is no legislation addressing tanning beds in ND. 

Senator Pomeroy asked about tanning one time a year to get ready for the prom and if there 

were statistics to show what risk that might be. 

Dr. Cornatzer said the paper from Norway shows increased risk of melanoma. It is not a one 

• time that makes a person get tan. To get tan for prom they need to go about a month ahead of 

time several times a week. He addressed other options for tanning. 
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Senator Dever asked if there was any history of injuries in ND. 

Heidi Hietkamp (Indoor Tanning Association) testified in support of HB 1154 and to protect 

children. The age limitation was her only real concern. 

She suggested that if the committee feels strongly that these are dangerous then maybe they 

should be banned for everyone (meter 43:20) 

In response to Dr. Cornatzer, she had some information to give concerning studies. When you 

look at all of the studies four out of the twenty that have been peer reviewed, that have been 

recognized medically, only indicate that there is some concern about tanning beds. There is a 

number of studies which would contradict that. 

She also had a report from a number of physicians taking a look at the increases in melanoma 

in American who would tell you that is the screening process. 

She also takes issue that all melanomas are driven by UV rays. 

She said she was they could agree to regulation and the bill as it is currently set forth. They 

believe the age limitations are appropriate, parents need to be involved, and young people 

may need to make up their own mind about what they are going to do. 

Senator Warner referred to page 2 about a tanning facility "may not partake in any advertising 

that the tanning facility holds the license or permit issued by the Dept. to operate the tanning 

facility." That seems very counter intuitive. 

Ms. Heitkamp - It's actually not because, in advertising, frequently if you say "I have a license, 

it somehow implies that it is safe and you don't have to use independent judgment. 

Senator Warner - Couldn't you make a counter argument that if the regulations involved in this 

bill have any weight whatsoever that tanning bed would be safer than one that is not licensed. 

• Ms. Heitkamp -After this legislation all tanning beds would be regulated so no one would have 

that advantage in business. 
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- Senator Dever - With liability concerns for manufacturers and those kinds of thing, are they 

careful with whom they sell tanning beds to? 

• 

Ms. Heitkamp - All tanning beds are regulated by the FDA. FDA has standards on how these 

beds should be maintained which is another reason why there isn't a big push to not have any 

regulation. There is already a fairly large amount of federal regulation. Right now there is no 

enforcement. This bill would provide for that enforcement in ND through the Health 

Department and through the local health units. 

Senator Dever - It sounds like any one can operate these facilities. 

Ms. Heitkamp - Any person who wants to go into this business who has the money can pursue 

it. What this regulation will do is eliminate the fly by nights who don't want to maintain sanitary 

conditions and their tanning facilities in a way that could mesh with this regulation . 

There was no opposing testimony. 

Kenan Bullinger (ND Department of Health) testified in a neutral manner and provided 

information on the fiscal impacts. (Attachment #2) 

(Meter 56:20) He answered questions that were asked earlier about sanitation requirements. 

Senator J. Lee asked if the amendment added to 1004 covered his concern adequately that he 

expressed on the bottom of page one of his testimony. 

Mr. Bullinger - Yes. 

Senator Dever - Do you regulate now or inspect some facilities that offer these services. 

Mr. Bulling - A lot of times they are in beauty salons, fitness centers, etc. Not the facilities they 

regulate now. 

Senator Warner - On page 3, line 11, dealing with bulbs, I assume these bulbs are at their 

maximum strength when new and decrease in power as they grow old. Would that be a fair 

assumption? 
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• Mr. Bullinger - I'm not real sure. I assume they are replaced either if they burn out or lose their 

intensity. 

Senator Warner - Would you anticipate your department would be charged with having a 

device to measure the intensity of the rays? 

Mr. Bullinger - We'll certainly look into that. That bill does provide some authority to 

promulgate rules. 

Senator Dever- The amendment put on HB1004 - should we put that in to this bill? 

Mr. Bullinger - Certainly that is an option. 

The hearing on HB 1154 was closed. 

JOB #4023 

Senator J. Lee opened HB 1154 for discussion. 

Senator Heckaman - I look at this bill as a bill to license and regulate the industry than as a 

deterrent for young people, because the mothers are still going to sign. 

Senator Warner had some discomfort with the bottom on page 3 requiring a prescription for a 

14 year old to be tanned. 

Senator J. Lee viewed it differently and thought it meant that they didn't want anyone under 14 

having ii done and the only exception would if it would be used in conjunction with some kind 

of appropriate medical treatment. 

There was some discussion on medical reasons for tanning and the difference between UVA 

and UVB bulbs. 

Senator J. Lee asked if the committee thought it was appropriate to amend the Department of 

Health amendment about license fees on to HB 1154. Discussion followed. 

Senator Heckaman moved to accept the amendment about the license fee. 

Senator Warner seconded the motion. Roll call vote 6-0-0. Amendment accepted. 
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• Discussion continued on other possible amendments such as deleting the wording for those 

under the age of 14 years. This would be weakening the bill. 

• 

• 

There was also discussion on not including private residences and also language dealing with 

public, business, and commercial. 

Senator Warner moved a Do Pass on engrossed HB 1154 as amended and rerefer to 

Appropriations. 

Motion seconded by Senator Heckaman. 

Roll call vote 6-0-0. Carrier is Senator Dever. 
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70432.0201 
Title.0300 

Adopted by the Human Services Committee 
February 27, 2007 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1154 

Page 1, line 18, after the second underscored boldfaced period insert: 

"L" 

Page 1, line 21, replace "expired" with "expire" 

Page 2, line 2, after the underscored period insert: 

"2. The permit fee established by the department must be based on the cost of 
conducting routine and complaint inspections and enforcement actions and 
the cost of preparing and sending license renewals. Any fee collected 
under this section must be deposited in the department's operating fund in 
the state treasury and any expenditure from the fund is subject to 
appropriation by the legislative assembly. The department shall waive all 
or a portion of the permit fee for any tanning facility that is subject to local 
jurisdiction. 

3. The department shall accept city or county enforcement of this chapter if 
the department determines the city or county requirements meet or exceed 
the requirements of this chapter and any rules adopted under this chapter." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 70432.0201 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE (410) 
February 28, 2007 7:19 a.m. 

Module No: SR-38-4066 
Carrier: Dever 

Insert LC: 70432.0201 Title: .0300 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1154, as engrossed: Human Services Committee (Sen. J. Lee, Chairman) 

recommends AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends 
DO PASS and BE REREFERRED to the Appropriations Committee (6 YEAS, 
0 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). Engrossed HB 1154 was placed on the 
Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 18, after the second underscored boldfaced period insert: 

"L" 

Page 1, line 21, replace "expired" with "expire" 

Page 2, line 2, after the underscored period insert: 

"2. The permit fee established by the department must be based on the cost 
of conducting routine and complaint inspections and enforcement actions 
and the cost of preparing and sending license renewals. Any fee collected 
under this section must be deposited in the department's operating fund in 
the state treasury and any expenditure from the fund is subject to 
appropriation by the legislative assembly. The department shall waive all 
or a portion of the permit fee for any tanning facility that is subject to local 
jurisdiction. 

3. The department shall accept city or county enforcement of this chapter if 
the department determines the city or county requirements meet or exceed 
the requirements of this chapter and any rules adopted under this 
chapter." 

Renumber accordingly 

(2) DESK, (3) COMM Page No. 1 SR-38-4066 
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2007 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Bill/Resolution No. 1154 

Senate Appropriations Committee 

D Check here for Conference Committee 

Hearing Date: 03-08-07 

Recorder Job Number: 4658 

Committee Clerk Signature 

Minutes: 

Vice Chairman Bowman opened the hearing on HB 1154. 

Senator Ralph Kilzer, District 47, Bismarck, introduced HB 1154 indicating it is a bill on tanning 

equipment regulations. He stated that the focus of the bill today is completely different then 

when it was introduced. The bill was brought about because of the issue of skin cancer, the 

lack of regulations on tanning machines. The engrossed bill brings the tanning industry under 

surveillance of the State Health Department who will also talk. 

Senator Bowman asked if there will be a fee charged and will there be a sticker or something 

indicating the business is abiding by the regulations. The response was yes there will be a 

permit fee and the appropriated amount may be covered by those fees. 

Senator Lindaas asked if there is skin cancer because of the overuse of the equipment. The 

response was there are three types of cancer that can result; squamous cell carcinoma and 

basil cell carcinoma which are generally found early. The cancer that is most worrisome is the 

melanoma. Sweden, for instance, has proven conclusively there is a relationship between 

cancer and tanning booths. There is definitely a cause and effect relationship. 

Tannon Bullinger, State Health Department, testified neutrally on HB 1154, indicating the fiscal 

note involves only the cost to the State Health Department to set up a license and inspection. 
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- Senator Robinson asked is it my understanding that up to now there have been no regulations 

in place, they are pretty much unregulated. The response was yes that is correct. He stressed 

that 19-20 other states do have regulations. 

Senator Bowman asked what the liability to the state is if the regulators say the business is ok 

and someone gets cancer. The response indicated they will work hard so those in the industry 

will monitor usage. 

Lauren Terveen, student, representing herself asked whether there will be age limits in the use 

of tanning machines. The response was yes those under age 14 cannot use the equipment, 

those ages 14-18 need permission from a parent. 

Courtney Hinkle, Student, Valley City, testified indicating it is appropriate to have this 

legislation but stressed not all teens are irresponsible. She asked how the permission status 

- works. The response was that the signatures must be notarized and witnessed in the 

presence of someone at the facility. 

Senator Bowman stressed this is being put in place for the protection of the child or young 

adult. 

Delores Manson, Guidance Counselor, Maple Valley School, testified indicating she is a parent 

of a 30 plus daughter who did the tanning equipment and has had many spots removed. She 

believes that had she known the risks at the time, she would have been stricter with her 

daughter in the use of the equipment. 

Vice Chairman Bowman closed the hearing on HB 1154. 
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Chairman Holmberg opened the hearing on HB 1154 regarding tanning facilities. Discussion 

followed. 

Senator Bowman stated that earlier testimony by mother of woman who developed skin 

cancer has convinced him to vote on this bill. 

Senator Lindaas moved a DO PASS, Senator Krebsbach seconded. There was further 

discussion concerning the reason the bill was in their committee and Senator Kilzer confirmed 

it was because of the fiscal note. 

Senator Christmann stated he would vote against the bill as he felt kids will still go outside 

the first hot day and get sunburned anyway so he is not convinced that this bill will solve any of 

these issues. A roll call votge was taken resulting in 132 yeas, 1 nay, 0 absent. The 

motion carried. Senator Dever from HMS will carry the bill. 

The hearing on HB 1154 closed. 
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Chairman Pietsch: called the meeting to order, and asks the Senate to explain the 

amendments. 

Senator Dever: first was to correct a grammatical mistake to replace the word expired with 

- expire. As we did with the tattoo parlors initiate the same language involving the fees for the 

department of health to collect, and also to indicate the cities and counties that do these 

inspections are acknowledged and they have the authority to do that in place of the 

department of health. 

Representative Porter: I have a couple questions for Mr. Bullinger. On page 1 line 22, would 

that work better from the departments stand point to put the period after annually and let you 

guys decide if it will be December of June? On the Senate amendments the sub division 3 that 

was added on page 2, line 2, number 3, is that language acceptable so that you can pass it to 

the public health units that just says city or county or do we need to say public health? 

Kenan Bullinger, Director of the Division of food and lodging for the ND Department of 

Health: That would be fine. We do things on a calendar year bases. Your other question that 

-is some what uniform with what we currently have and would be fine. I don't know if all of this 

will be health, sometimes it gives you the flexibility that it may be some other agency other 
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- than health enforcing this. I think in most cases it will be the local health department. That is 

uniform with what we currently have in statue for other facilities we license and inspect. 

Representative e Schneider: In the same section 3, how many cities or counties do you 

expect to take over enforcement of this? 

Mr. Bullinger: We don't have a number I can only tell you on health units. After the hearing in 

the original bill I did a poll just to see because our original fiscal note was based on our 

department doing all the work. We knew after wards maybe the locals were going to be 

involved as well. 5 out of the 7 that I have MOU's with now would be willing to take on this 

statutory responsibility should this legislation pass. Those are Fargo, Bismarck, Minot, 

Mandan, Dickinson, and Jamestown. Devils Lake and Grand Forks are not interested. That is 

where we adjusted the fiscal note. This is new to all of us. This is not like the tattooing art. It 

• is a ball park estimate on how many facilities are out there. We hear they are all over. 

Representative Schneider: Section 3, how many counties do you expect to take over? 

Mr. Bullinger: I heard Fargo was thinking of charging on per bed to license. We will talk about 

should this legislation pass. We will come up with regulations every one can live with. 

Industry has concerns about per bed because some of the larger firms are very reputable and 

isn't going to be much need to inspect. It is the other ones that aren't following the law that are 

going to demand more time and they are not as large. They will get by with a lesser license 

fee that the reputable firms. If you go per bed charge you may be undue ling putting a high 

license fee on those that are doing a good job. It is open for discussion. , Our average 

licensing fee is about 100-$110.00 for restraints, bars, and taverns. Some are a little less and 

some are higher. A ball park figure is about $100.00. 

-Representative Porter: Inside of the permanent section of the law than in order to avoid the 

complications of municipality or public health unit. Under sub division 3 if we said they have to 
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- be licensed by the facility not by the bed, would that take care of concerns in the industry? 

Right now all we are saying the county has to have the base line of this law; they can do what 

ever they want. They could even put someone out of business with the fees especially per 

bed. I guess what it comes down to if we say in that sub division 3 that there can't be a per 

bed charge, than all you really have to do is just raise their facility charge, or set per facility 

charge based on the number of beds of so much for so many beds. I don't think we should 

allow them to do a per bed charge. If they charge 100.00 dollars per bed and someone has 30 

beds, their annual license fee would be 3,000 dollars, and really never having to do anything, 

but to walk in once a year and inspect them. It does see like a potential over burdening on a 

now unregulated business. 

Mr. Bullinger: I agree with you. We have never put limitations on that before, or how they 

• assess their fee. I try to encourage them to be reasonable. On the average they are higher 

than we are. I don't know if they would be in favor of limitations. I don't have strong feelings 

one way or the other. I fully understand where you are coming from. Some times I think we 

need to devise the system of a variegated fee schedule. I don't know how you do it. We may 

do a flat fee on the state level. 

Representative Schneider: In charging per beds I see the republicans adopted those under 

administrative rules procedure. If the requirements are met or exceed could the county come 

in and charge a higher rate? 

Mr. Bullinger: That is what we do. Right now we do all of our fee settings. Just last session 

it was changed where they were established in statute. They do not have to go by our fees. 

Generally the language is they can establish their own fee. We will establish the fee in 

.administrative rule. We don't hold them to our fee that we establish in administrative rule. 

They are given the flexibility to have more stringent ordinances if they want. 
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- Representative Porter: I would be interested in the department looking at language that 

would somewhat give us more guidance in how fees will be charged. That there isn't a lot of 

wiggle room. I also think if we are going into a whole new area with a whole new set of 

regulations into an industry that not been regulated to this point. We certainly don't want it to 

be wide open to all of a sudden having undo burden of government and taxes placed upon 

them. 

Senator Dever: I don't see that as necessary at this point. It is something we could do next 

session if it becomes a problem. I am curious Representative Porter's thinking of language to 

put in the statute or some guidance to what they would consider to put into rule? 

Representative Porter: I think since we are seeing that they can exceed our requirements 

which do include the freeze to do statute . 

• Mr. Bullinger: There are still people who input into the fee process. I don't think a local is 

going to abuse that authority. I am not aware of problems with that in the past. They have the 

option if the fees are too high to have a local hearing for that ordinance. If you don't put it into 

statue we certainly will try to address that in the administrative rule. I don't know how to 

address this, and I fully understand where you are coming from. 

• 

Chairman Pietsch: think about the language and we will reschedule. The committee is 

adjourned . 
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Chairman Pietsch: Call the meeting to order for HB 1154. Mr. Bullinger do you mind 

answering a few questions? We had some discussion you had to take your administrative 

rules in order for them to be effective. If you could tell us what you have to prepare to take 

things to the administrative committee. 

Kenan Bullinger, Division Food and Lodging of ND Department of Health: Our fees are 

now are established through the administrative rule process as of 2005 session. They were 

previously established by statute. Any time we take a look at our fees and whether there is a 

need to increase we take a look at our cost for administrating the programs that are mandated 

by law. They are reasonably set, and in some cases may not be as high as they should be. 

There has been debate in past legislative sessions whether there should be general funds 

support to our programs, or should they be fully supported by fee. Some legislators have felt 

that the consumer should pay something for the service we provide. The balance of our 

budget is through the establishment of fees. We try to set and established fee that is 

reasonably close to paying for cost of administrative program. The same hold true for the local 

health department. You asked me to take a look at some amendments. I did draft some 

amendments. (See attached.) I did copy them to the local health department and at least three 
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of those responded. They seemed a bit surprised that they would be told to set their fees 

based on the cost of administrating the program, because they always do those themselves as 

well. The board should be able to provide that service with out burdening the industry with the 

full cost of administering the program. So they do through their boards get some money to 

operate with out putting the full charge on the industry. I went back after the last meeting and 

met with our health officer to see what she thought, and she said if you wanted to add 

language that direct the locals to asses their fees on the cost of administrating the programs 

and that puts some limitations on them without setting a dollar amount limitation. My response 

is from the locals, one from Bismarck, they establish their fees through an adoption of 

ordinance before the city commission, the necessary fees are to off set program costs. Fargo 

had no problem with the language as long as they do not set a specific amount limit that will 

end up having our department subsides the license cost. If a limit was set we may have to ask 

you division to implement the law unless they provide money in state aid for us to do so. They 

were quite clear. 

Representative Porter: What happens in the case of local public health, Fargo, or Bismarck 

looking at this and after you have put your rules in place and said we will go out and do it for 

$100.00. They come back and say we are going to do it for $10.00 a bed. Than you have two 

different kinds of triggers out there across the state, one at the local level and one at the state 

level. The other thing I was wondering like in Grand Forks they say no we don't even want to 

get into this, we are going to carve this piece out and you can do it. What happens if Fargo 

does it too. 

Mr. Bullinger: WE have run into those situations in the past. We have always had great 

- cooperation from the local health department. It is not often they throw up their hands saying 

they don't want anything to do with that. We had no complaints when Fargo wanted to take 
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over West Fargo, even though it generated higher license fees because of it. Some 

jurisdictions that they just were not going to do this work, we will throw it back at the state. We 

will do what we have to. I understand they have added and FTE for our division to handle the 

increased work load, it is not funded but we will try to increase our presence out there with that 

FTE and try to off set that cost of that through some license fees. 

Representative Porter: On page 5 under the injury report section, in the house we added 

physicians and medical professions so that if there were incidences that the owner didn't know 

about that the department would eventually find out bout them. As I look at it now we are 

making a statement in the law that they may not know if someone was injured. A person does 

not know until a day later when they go too the doctor. He says he need to send a report up to 

the health department. The way it reads in there the owner has to do that also. There is no 

mechanism for the owner to know that it had happened. Do we need to add language after the 

owner of the tanning facility, with knowledge of the injury, shall report the injury to the 

department? We could make it clear if they don't have knowledge they really didn't have a 

reason to report. Or is it clear that is how the rules would be promulgated, unless it happens 

where it is an acute injury at the facility. 

Mr.Bullinger: I think you are accurate in wondering if the owners are going to be notified. 01 

bet in most cases they won't be notified. I like you added the owner may never know and if it 

is only the owner reporting back to the department we never hear about it. Adding the medical 

profession to that is good. The whole purpose of it this is to try to figure out what went wrong. 

The rules will address the frequency and will address the time. Possibly we can build 

something into the rules to that will further enforce this. I think it is fine the way it is. 

• Representative Porter: If we just added after that little piece on the owner of the facility prior 

to the word shall and just say with knowledge of the injury shall report that injury to the 
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department, than everyone is under the same, including the medical profession. Let's say it 

happens in the summer than the person comes in, in July with second degree burns where did 

it happen? If the medical profession never really gets down to asking the question where did 

this happen, or they don't offer the information that could technically be a violation of the injury 

report, because the physician or the medical profession didn't report it even though the patient 

didn't tell them where it happened. I scan see that as a grey area of the reporting process. 

think it would flow better if everyone had to have the knowledge of the injury prior to the 

reporting requirement kicking in. 

Dave Peske, NO Medical Association: As you recall the dermatologist here in Bismarck that 

did a lot of the work on this bill and we were deferring to their expertise and desires on this. 

On a closer reading on the injury report it started to raise some question about the mechanics. 

I appreciate the suggestion for that section to add that. The second question I have about it is 

on line 16, it says the physician medical professional owners shall send a copy of the report to 

the injured individual. As you know the medical professional is going to be creating a medical 

record of that individual that they treat. I am not so sure again on the mechanics if once you 

have created a medical record you need to sent a report to that same patient. Maybe that is 

another area you would want tot think about. 

Representative Schneider: what ever they send as a report to the department, could they 

just send it to the patient? 

Mr. Peske: That is the mechanics I am questioning, would it be better for the physician to 

send it or the department to send it to the patient? 

Representative Porter: Currently when reports are required, what is the mechanics of those 

- and is there specific HIPPA language that we are missing here? 
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Mr. Bullinger: In the food division FYI, in my division everything that we deal with is open 

records. Nothing is at closed records. We are getting into an area that if we are going to be 

receiving information to my division we will probably have to take a look at it making sure that 

information is protected. Right now I have nothing that is. We deal with the facility. 

Representative Porter: I don't think at least on the house side that we had Mr. Mullen review 

that new piece as far as reports and HIPPA compliance. 

Senator Dever: I think you raise some good points that if you are going to have a patients 

name on a medical record that is going to become public information we should have that 

reviewed. 

Mr. Peske: I tend to agree just in general if the state law says you shall release a record of a 

patient that allows a provider to release it and not run into HIPPA trouble because the state law 

directs them to do that. The difference is Mr Bullinger pointed out is that our food poisonings 

are reportable disease or condition. 

Representative Porter: Inside of this I guess are a couple of things we need to look at, the 

HIPPA compliance because we are now introducing Mr. Bullinger's division to medical records. 

We also need to look at the open records law portion of it to make sure we aren't suddenly 

having medical records, public documents that anyone can go up and grab the injury reports 

off of someone and have it be public records. We need Mr. Bullinger review with Mr. Mullen 

and than at our next meeting Mr. Mullen can come and present the information to make sure 

we have that. 

Chairman Pietsch: Are there any questions on the amendments. The wording on 2 and 3 

are identical to what we passed in 1004. We did talk about changing page 1, 22 letting them 

• decide what month they want to stagger the month of license of inspection. I will ask they wait 

to reschedule us until we get the information. 
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Senator Dever: If he is going to provide the injury reports, if he is going to provide some 

amendment, maybe in that amendment he could also address the mechanics of the knowledge 

of. 

Chairman Pietsch: The committee is adjourned . 
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Chairman Pietsch: We will call the committee to order on HB 1154. WE have so far agreed 

with line 1, 18, inserting that one. Page 1, line 21 we were going to change the word expired 

with expire. Last time we had page 1, line 22 we would put a period after annually, and delete 

on June 30. On page 2, line 2 & 3 we agreed that 2 and 3 were okay, and than we were 

getting to the point of having to have more clarification on page 5, where we were talking about 

the injury report. 

Kenan Bullinger, ND Department of Health: I think there were HIPPA concerns. There was 

discussion th last time we met on confidentiality, and HIPPA requirements and you asked me 

to visit with Mike Mullen Assistant Attorney General, about that. I have purposed amendments 

as put together by Mike. See attached amendments. There is not too much in the way of 

HIPPA that is a concern here. We would keep any reports of injury confidential in our division. 

In addition Dave Peske has worked on some as well. 

Dave Peske, ND Medical Association: I have purposed amendments also. See attached. 

This is an attempt to clarify the injury reporting issues. Lines 14-18 we would not know how to 

explain to physicians what their duties are. How does the tanning facility owner know that the 

physician might have or vise versa? We are not clear on what is every ones duties are. In an 
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attempt to clarify that the first part is adding a new sub section f, handing it to each customer 

on things to watch for. That puts the onus on the customer who perceives there has been an 

injury. Rather than them going to the physician, and having the physician try and figure out if 

the injury was from the tanning facility, laying on the beach or riding the tractor, and than 

having another piece of paper work to file, and also sending a copy to the injured individual. 

When seeing a physician there is already a record being created. The information in the 

report shall be considered confidential. If it is not confidential that may make an injured 

customer reluctant to submit any reports, having their name spread from the health department 

elsewhere, and it becomes a public record. The department can use that form to interact with 

the owner of the facility where the injury took place. They can use that for the bases for 

inspection or corrections. I don't think the department cares to create a roster of additional 

injury reporting requirement. They just want to know when a tanning facility has faulty 

equipment that they can fix to protect the public. 

Senator Dever: As I understand this relieves the doctor of the responsibility to report it. What 

I am looking at is in the second amendment where it says information contains in the report 

shall be considered confidential. The department utilizes that to take corrective action. I am 

wondering of the intent of the confidentiality is to protect the identification of the individual. It 

almost seems to me that there might be circumstances where the public has a need to know 

where the problem is with the facility. Part of that should be confidential and part of it should 

be available. 

Mr. Peske: That is a good point. I would defer that to the department and I think you have the 

intent that is ours and that the name of the individual is confidential information. What the 

• department does with it is the same as if you were reporting an under done hamburger a 

restraint that has caused a problem. 
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Senator Dever: This says that all the information contained in the report is confidential so it 

almost seems to me prevent the department from publicizing what the problem was. 

Mr. Bullinger: One of the main purposes of the injury reporting is to look into what caused the 

injury, and try to prevent it from happening again. I am not sure I am interested in compiling a 

long laundry list of data. We do want to address the situation immediately. Were they 

exposed to long, was someone not monitoring the exposure, and were they tanning to 

frequently? Limiting it to a consumer to report is the best way. Someone may not have health 

insurance and will not see a physician. We are requiring them to post and I am sure we will 

get good compliance. People don't always read the precautions, and they may not read are to 

report if they are subject to injury. The important thing is we are notified. How we are notified I 

really don't care . 

Heidi Heitkamp: I have been representing the indoor tanning bed association. I hope 

confidentiality would not mean that the tanning bed owners would not know who filed the 

complaint. That would not be fair to the tanning bed owners. They need a chance to respond 

to what ever claims are being made. Some one could be a serial tanner going from bed to bed 

and end up with a bad result. I would be concerned about confidentiality extended so that 

someone accused of causing this injury was not given an opportunity to respond. 

Mike Mullen, Assistant Attorney General: With regards to the overall issue regarding 

HIPPA, there are two provisions. One permits a cover entity such as a hospital or clinic to 

disclose health information if the disclosure is required by law. There is another section that 

permits disclosure of covered entity for public health activities including surveillance of injury or 

illness. This case it would be injury. HIPPA permits the disclosure, and second the 

- department of health is a covered entity under HIPPA because it does provide some health 

care services and the whole health department is a covered entity. So all of the protected 
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health information the department receives is already confidential. So I don't think you need to 

put that in this amendment. Under HIPPA the department of health can use or disclose the 

protected health information in order to carry out their activities, if ii would be confidential. 

would need to look further about if I could disclose that. If the department made a public 

disclosure they would simply say that a female customer at a tanning facility was burned or 

injured. They don't have to disclose the name of that customer to the public. The identity of 

the person could still be disclosed to the tanning facility. 

Mr. Bullinger: I don't know how we are going to do a proper investigation unless we can 

disclose that individuals name to the tanning facility. They have records of their usage. 

Without providing a name we are not going to be able to investigate. They will have the date, 

time and what machine they used. The attorney generals office doesn't have any, you can go 

either way on the amendments, but in respect to the amendment that I helped draft for the 

department of health we did try to address some of the ambiguity questions that Mr. Peske has 

raised. 

Chairman Pietsch: Did you get a chance to look at the Health Department ones. 

Mr. Peske: I did get them this morning. The issue we are trying to address is the ambiguity 

in the reporting requirements. Mr. Mullen's amendment does help clarify that. It does not 

however address the duties of the owner of the tanning facility, which is in the existing 

language. How does the physician know that the owner of the tanning facility hasn't already 

submitted the report to the health department? It is the mechanical issues we are concerned 

about. I included that phrase shall be considered confidential in my proposal just to raise this 

discussion about whether it should be or can be or not. We too know that the HIPPA 

- requirements are all right here. 

Chairman Pietsch: Could we combine those two? 
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Mr. Mullen: Yes, but not in the next 10 minutes. 

Representative Porter: When we looked at the injury report language it was in the house it 

was felt that by only having that requirement only on the owner of the tanning facility you would 

end up in a situation that if you didn't have a mandatory report in mechanism would trigger on 

health care professionals you could end up in situations where the owner of the tanning facility 

did not know that there was an injury. We were looking at the health department the 

responsibility of regulating this industry. If the owner of the facility had no idea the person went 

to the doctor and no one reports there will be injuries no one knows about. The owner of the 

facility and the health department won't know as the regulatory agency. So the purpose of 

what was sent to the senate if we are going to regulate this industry, whoever has the 

knowledge of the injury needs to be responsible in putting a report into the department so the 

department can do their duties of regulating the industry and making sure it is safe for the 

consumer. In the end the reason for the bill was to make the industry safer and more 

responsible. If we weaken the reporting mechanism and make it non mandatory for anyone 

who has knowledge of the injury, than we are also weakening the ability of the department to 

regulate the industry. If there are no reports how is the health department suppose to make 

sure it is safe for the customer. That is where we were coming from the mandatory reporting 

requirement. Even taking our existing knowledge and adding with knowledge of the injury, 

because of all the other HIPPA and confidentiality things are covered in another portion of the 

law. 

Senator Dever: The department amendment doesn't require the owner of the facility to 

provide a report. 

- Representative Porter: You are right and I don't like that either. I like our language that we 

put into the bill. I think we need to add after the word facility, with knowledge of the injury so 
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that who ever has the knowledge has to report so the department can do their job making sure 

the facility is safe for others to use. If they get treatment and someone else knows it was 

because of a tanning facility, how would the health department do their jobs if it was not 

reported? 

Mr. Bullinger: I agree with Representative Porter. We hope that what you pass as laws and 

what we can propagate as reasonable administrative rules will limit the numbers of injuries. So 

we don't have to deal with the issue so much knowing there will be some. We need 

notification of those injuries by all parties involved. those with knowledge of it. I don't care if I 

get three notices on the same injury at least I am going to be assured that I am getting notified 

of the injury so we can do our job. 

Mr. Peske: I too agree with Representative Porter comments. I think adding with knowledge 

is an improvement to the language. Look at the top of my sheet sub section d. I would hope 

Mr. Bullinger would agree that perhaps addressing that issue in the rules. How will that make 

the tanning facility cop able for causing that injury when having done or used these things. 

Maybe you want those reports too. 

Mr. Bullinger: I think an investigation is going to be quite comprehensive. We will go at great 

lengths to try to determine what caused the injury, and what may have happened. We will 

explore all avenues. This is new for us, new for all of us to regulate. There are some states 

that have passed some legislation. I have copies of Wisconsin's legislation. 

Chairman Pietsch: Do you both kind of agree if we would end up on the 0200 if we went on 

line 6 and after the word facility add with knowledge of the injury? Would that do everything 

for us, and the rest go into administrative rules? 

Representative Porter: I think that given the fact that Mr. Mullen is here and the other 

reportable injuries in the other language that exits in the century code, we should try to keep it 
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the same as what we have. He has heard our discussion on who we think should report the 

injury is the person that gets the knowledge of the injury. 

Chairman Pietsch: That is the jest of what we want him to look at? 

Representative Porter: Yes, plus he needs the answer to the question on what information or 

could actually become public. Than at our next meeting we can have a new piece of language 

to look at. 

Senator Dever: If you wanted the facility to maintain a copy of the report and I think it needs 

to be clear that they have to be provided a copy of the report. 

Mr. Bullinger: We can do that in statute or rule. 

Representative Porter: That language may just need to go. I think what happened was we 

took a piece that was just back to the owner; we expanded it to who ever has the knowledge . 

don't think we took that last sentence out and maybe should have been. 

Senator Dever: How does that all fit together with the fact that sometimes it is not the health 

department doing the inspection but the local public health unit. Do they do the investigation? 

Mr. Bullinger: Yes they will, and they will be at the table when we prom agate our rules with 

the industry. 

Senator Dever: I can see the possibility of a 18 year old coming home on Mom and Dad's 

insurances they have been over exposed. The question is asked where did you get your tan, 

and they say one place and they actually went to three. You need to ask that question. 

Mr. Peske: I would again ask for the collective wisdom of the committee. The phrase in the 

existing language says the physician medical profession or the owner shall send a copy of that 

report to the injured individual. If the physician has sent a report to the health department 

• because they have seen an injured individual, do you think it is necessary for the doctor to also 
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send a copy of the report to the injured individual? Will the health department send them a 

report? 

Representative Porter: I think again that language that remained after we added other 

required reporters when it was just about the owner of the facility and the individual. 

Chairman Pietsch: We did have a lot of problems rewording that. 

Representative Porter: I think when Mr. Mullen puts it into play to coincide with other existing 

reported those redundancies won't be there. 

Chairman Pietsch: One of the things we didn't cover you will prepare that for the next 

meeting. Also on page 1 where Mr. Peske added under the advertising notice, do you want to 

take a look at that if we want that added on our amendments. 

Representative Porter: One of the things that simplifies that maybe just part of the poster 

that says, if you are injured here is where you can report it. 

Chairman Pietsch: Like Mr. Mullen said not everyone reads the rules. 

Mr. Pomeroy: Doesn't it assume where the writing says, these are shared with the person 

who is tanning. But that the owner is supposed to show that person, so it is not just on the 

wall. Another place in here we are saying the owner or an employee, I don't know of anyplace 

in there where it says what training that employee needs. It might just be something the owner 

has when the owner has to be gone. Is that going to be a concern of ours? 

Mr. Bullinger: We will discuss that through the administrative rule process and see what kind 

of training. I don't want to place a lot undue burden on the industry for training staff. 

Chairman Pietsch: Think about those things and will bring the proposal. The committee is 

adjourned. 
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Chairman Pietsch: We will call the meeting to order on HB 1154. She goes over and 

explains the amendments and questions they had talked about in prior meetings. We asked 

Mr. Mullen and Mr. Peske to work together before this meeting. 

- Mike Mullen, Assistant Attorney General: I have done three options of amendments for 

you. See attached. I tried to cover the discussions at the last meeting. I did not use Mr. 

Peske's suggestion for the new paragraph adding to the information that the tanning facility 

owner would have to disclose. What ever you decide to do about that. I didn't think that was 

• 

necessary. 

Senator Dever: As I read the note in option 2, most laws require reporting an injury or illness 

did not require the person causing the injury or illness to make a report. We have a class B 

misdemeanor in this. It is almost that if the owner is required to report something that might 

implicate him there might be amendments consideration? 

Mr. Mullen: there could be, generally the law doesn't require a person who causes an injury 

to report it to a government agency, with a few special exceptions. 

Representative Porter: I like option 1 and 3. I tend to like 3 a bit more than 1. I think the 

owner of a facility has the knowledge that someone was injured at their facility that they hand 
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- them a form and say here fill out and report it to the health department. That gives them the 

immunity of that reporting section and that misdemeanor charge. It also from the department 

stand point being in charge of the safety of the consumer covers all the bases to make sure if 

something bad does happen that it somehow gets back to the regulatory agency so they can 

fix the bad things. I think up to this point we have agreed on everything except the reporting 

injury. 

Chairman Pietsch: Mr. Mullen referred to Mr. Peske's proposal. We have added this to our 

agreement list, is that right? 

Dave Peske, with Medical Association: Just to reiterate with what Mr. Mullen said, the 

language in option 1 is the same in all options, and we are comfortable with that. Your 

selection with option 3 is fine with us. On the subsection F, which was intended to just be 

- something that was printed the saloon would prepare with the list of medication etc. etc. It is 

not that big an issue for us if you want to keep it or amend it. 

• 

Chairman Pietsch: In administrative rules involving the sheet you would include that? 

Mr. Bullinger: Yes we can include that. 

Senator Dever moves the Senate recede from the senate and further amendment, seconded 

by Representative Porter. The roll was taken with 6 yeas O nays and O absent. 

Representative Pietsch will carry the bill to the floor . 



' . 

• 

• 

REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITIEE 
(ACCEDE/RECEDE) 

Bill Nwnber 1,1.5 / (, as (re)engrossed): Date: · t/f/<> J 
Your Conference Committee~ ,h-?b ~~ 
;}.r the Senate: For the House: 
~ YES/ NO YES/NO 

recommends that the (SENA TE/HOUSE) (ACCEDE to) (RECEDE from) 

the (Senate/House) amendments on (SJ~ page(s) 9t' ,;i._ _ CJJ ::L.-> 

__, and place ____ on the Seventh order. 

__ , adopt (further) amendments as follows, and place ____ on the 
Seventh order: 

~ having been unable to agree, recommends that the committee be discharged 
and a new committee be appointed. 

((Re)Engrossed) ____ was placed on the Seventh order of business on the calendar. 

DATE: _______ _ 

CARRIER: ----------------
LCNO. of amendment 

LCNO. of enamssment 

Emen,encv clause added or deleted 
Statement of purpose of amendment 

MOTION MADE.BY: __________ _ 

SECONDED BY: ___________ _ 

• 

VOTE COUNT 

Revised 4/1/05 

YES NO ABSENT 



• 

• 

REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE 
(ACCEDE/RECED£) 

Bill Number // .:f' I (, as (re)engrossed): 

Your Conference Committee~ .)./4:"1:h-

Date: 1/f <.> 7 
~~ 

l_r th.e Senate: i YES/ NO 
For the House: 

Lv 

recommends that the (SENA TE/HOUSE) (ACCEDE to) (RECEDE from) 

YES/NO 

the (Senate/House) amendments on (SJ)liY) page(s) 9 ,f.?.... - C)J7 
:LJ 

. ~ andplace ____ ontheSeventhorder. 

__ , adopt (further) amendments as follows, and place ___ on the 
Seventh order: 

__, having been unable to agree, recommends that the committee be discharged 
and a new committee be appointed. 

((Re)Engrossed) ____ was placed on the Seventh order of business on the calendar. 

DATE: d,IC,lc '2 
CARRIER: ---------------
LCNO. of amendment 

LCNO. of enarnssment 

Emer2ency clause added or deleted 
Statement of nnmnse of amendment 

MOTION MADE BY: _________ _ 

SECONDED BY: ___________ _ 

VOTECOUNT YES NO ABSENT 

- Revised 411105 



• 

• 

Bill Number 

REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE 
(ACCEDE/RECEDE) 

(, as (re)engrossed): 

Your Conference Committee~ --h4:J-
lr tb.e Senate: 1 YES/ NO 

For the Bouse: 

~ 

recommends that the (SENA TFJHOUSE) (ACCEDE to) (RECEDE from) 

YES/NO 

the (S~te/House) amendments on (SJ.@) page(s) 9f'.;J.. _ CJJ ~ 

;__, and place ____ on the Seventh order. 

_, adopt (tbrther) amendments as follows, and place ___ on the 
Seventh order: 

--J having been unable to asree, recommends that the committee be discharged 
· and a new committee be appointed. 

((Re)Engrossed) was placed on the Seventh order of business on the calendar. 

DATE: -------CARRIER: ---------------
LCNO. of amendment 

LCNO. of en11mssment 

Emer2encv clause added or deleted 
Statement of numcse of amendment 

MOTION MADE BY: _________ _ 

SECONDED BY: ___________ _ 

VOTE COUNT 

• Revised 4/1/0S 

YES NO ABSENT 



• 

70432.0202 
Title.0400 

Adopted by the Conference Committee 
April 16, 2007 

Conference Committee Amendments to Engrossed HB 1154 (70432.0202) - 04/16/2005 

That the Senate recede from its amendments as printed on page 982 of the House Journal and 
page 650 of the Senate Journal and that Engrossed House Bill No. 1154 be amended as 
follows: 

Page 1, line 18, after the second underscored boldfaced period insert: 

".L" 

Page 1, line 21, replace "expired" with "expire" and remove "on June thirtieth" 

Conference Committee Amendments to Engrossed HB 1154 (70432.0202) - 04/16/2005 

Page 2, line 2, after the underscored period insert: 

"2. The permit fee established by the department must be based on the cost of 
conducting routine and complaint inspections and enforcement actions and 
the cost of preparing and sending license renewals. Any fee collected 
under this section must be deposited in the department's operating fund in 
the state treasury and any expenditure from the fund is subject to 
appropriation by the legislative assembly. The department shall waive all 
or a portion of the permit fee for any tanning facility that is subject to local 
jurisdiction . 

3. The department shall accept city or county enforcement of this chapter if 
the department determines the city or county requirements meet or exceed 
the requirements of this chapter and any rules adopted under this chapter." 

Conference Committee Amendments to Engrossed HB 1154 (70432.0202) - 04/16/2005 

Page 5, line 5, replace "an individual requires medical attention due to use of a" with "fl 
customer of a tanning facility reports a sunburn injury to that facility resulting from the 
use of its tanning device. the owner shall provide the customer with written information 
on how to report the alleged injury to the state department of health. If a health care 
provider treats a patient for a sunburn injury and determines, in the exercise of 
professional judgment, that the injury occurred as a result of using a tanning device at a 
tanning facility, the health care provider shall report the circumstances of the injury to 
the state department of health. A health care provider making or not making a report in 
good faith pursuant to this section is immune from liability for making or not making a 
report." 

Page 5, remove lines 6 through 9 

Renumber accordingly 

1 of 1 70432.0202 
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REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE (420) 
April 16, 2007 3:53 p.m. 

Module No: HR-71-8266 

Insert LC: 70432.0202 

REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE 
HB 1154, as engrossed: Your conference committee (Sens. Dever, Erbele, Pomeroy and 

Reps. Pietsch, Porter, Schneider) recommends that the SENATE RECEDE from the 
Senate amendments on HJ page 9828, adopt amendments as follows, and place 
HB 1154 on the Seventh order: 

That the Senate recede from its amendments as printed on page 982 of the House Journal 
and page 650 of the Senate Journal and that Engrossed House Bill No. 1154 be amended as 
follows: 

Page 1, line 18, after the second underscored boldfaced period insert: 

"L" 

Page 1, line 21, replace "expired" with "expire" and remove "on June thirtieth" 

Page 2, line 2, after the underscored period insert: 

"2. The permit fee established by the department must be based on the cost 
of conducting routine and complaint inspections and enforcement actions 
and the cost of preparing and sending license renewals. Any fee collected 
under this section must be deposited in the department's operating fund in 
the state treasury and any expenditure from the fund is subject to 
appropriation by the legislative assembly. The department shall waive all 
or a portion of the permit fee for any tanning facility that is subject to local 
jurisdiction. 

3. The department shall accept city or county enforcement of this chapter if 
the department determines the city or county requirements meet or exceed 
the requirements of this chapter and any rules adopted under this 
chapter." 

Page 5, line 5, replace "an individual requires medical attention due to use of a" with "g 
customer of a tanning facility reports a sunburn injury to that facility resulting from the 
use of its tanning device, the owner shall provide the customer with written information 
on how to report the alleged injury to the state department of health. If a health care 
provider treats a patient for a sunburn injury and determines. in the exercise of 
professional judgment, that the injury occurred as a result of using a tanning device at 
a tanning facility. the health care provider shall report the circumstances of the injury to 
the state department of health. A health care provider making or not making a report in 
good faith pursuant to this section is immune from liability for making or not making a 
report." 

Page 5, remove lines 6 through 9 

Renumber accordingly 

Engrossed HB 1154 was placed on the Seventh order of business on the calendar . 

(2) DESK, (2) COMM Page No. 1 HR-71-8266 
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NORTH DAKOTA LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY 

House Bill 1154 

Good morning Madam Chairman Price and members of the House Human Services 

Committee. For the record my name is Ralph Kilzer State Senator for district 47 in Bismarck. 

I was happy to sign to house bill 1154 which is the I st attempt to limitations of a harmful 

substance. I introduce this from a public health perspective. In door tanning is rapidly growing 

industry in our country. On an average day in the United States more than I million people 

partake of treatment in a tanning saloon. 70% of these of these girls are Caucasian girls and 

women between the ages of 16 and 49. Of the 30 million people that tan indoors in the United 

States annually, 2.3 million are teens. 

There are risks with indoor tanning . 

• The US Department of Health and Human Services has declared ultra violet 

radiation from the sun an artificial sources, such has tanning beds and sun 

lamps, as a known carcinogen (cancer causing substance.) 

• Indoor tanning lamps emit ultra violet A and ultra violet B radiation at levels 

that are far higher than the sun. New high pressure sun lamps emit doses 

that can be as much as 15 times that of the sun. 

• Exposure to ultra violet light is a known risk factor for melanoma. 

• A Swedish study presents strong evidence that in door tanning increases the 

risk of melanoma especially when in door tanning begins at an early age. 

• 
• Medical research shows that exposure to ultra violet A radiation is 

associated with an increased risk for skwamus cell carcinoma and basal cell 

carcinoma, the two most common types of skin cancer . 



• 
2 

About half of the states regulate indoor tanning use by teens, despite the call from the 

World Health Organization to prohibit teens from indoor tanning because of the danger . 

Support for regulating youth access to indoor tanning comes from The World 

Health organization, The American Academy of Dermatology, the AMA, and the American 

Academy of Pediatrics. 

Some people say that tanning booths with the ultra violet radiation have a health 

benefit because vitamin Dis activated. However, vitamin Dis readily accessible in a couple 

glasses of milk per day and it is also very easily available in fish products and even cod 

liver oil, if you can tolerate the taste. Vitamin D is one of the fat soluble vitamins, which 

remains stored in the body for a long period of time and there for it is not necessary to 

replenish this vitamin on a daily or weekly basis. I mentioned previously that excessive 

ultra violet exposures are associated with increased incidents of skin cancer these are some 

fact regarding skin cancer: 

• More than I million new cases of skin cancer will be diagnosed in the U.S this 

year. 

• There will be about I 12,000 new cases of melanoma, the deadliest form of 

skin cancer in 2007. 

• One American dies of melanoma almost every hour. In 2006 790, 010 deaths 

have been attributed to melanoma. 

• Melanoma is the 2nd most common cancer in women age 20-29 
7,'/0D 

• An estimate 10,710 people will die of skin cancer this year. 79,016 from 
:i.1 Yo<> 

melanoma and 28,086 from other cancers, especially skwamus cell, 

carcinoma, and basal cell carcinoma. 
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These were the mortality figures and the morbidity figures are equally impressive. If you 

request an appointment wit a dermatologist in Bismarck you will have to wait 6 months. 

That speaks to the high morbidity of the excessive ultra violet exposure and that's the 

reason why the dermatologists are solidly behind this measure. Of course if people would 

use less tanning and less exposure to the sun there would be less exposure to the 

carcinogens and you and I would not have to wait so long for dermatology appointments. I 

appreciate your support for this bill I will be glad to stand for any questions 
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WHO Warns Teens on Tanning Beds 
No One Under 18 Should Use Them, Agency Says 

Article date: 2005/03/29 
The World Health Organization (WHO) has 
issued a report warning people younger than 18 
to stay away from tanning beds because they 
can raise the risk of skin cancer. 

The global health agency issued the advisory 
because many teens, especially girls, like to use 
the beds to get a tan before summer starts. 

More Tanning Means More Skin Cancer 

Skin cancer is the most common type of cancer in the United States. 
According to American Cancer Society estimates, more than 1 million 
cases of basal cell or squamous cell skin cancers occur every year. These 
types of skin cancer are highly curable, but about 1,000 -2,000 Americans 
die from them each year. 

Melanoma, however, is more dangerous. This type of skin cancer strikes 
more than 59,000 people in the US each year and kills more than 7,000. 
Melanoma is becoming more common in the US and other countries 
around the world, according to WHO statistics, and the popularity of 
tanning and tanning beds is part of the reason. 

Like tanning in the sun, tanning in a bed exposes the skin to damaging 
ultraviolet (UV) radiation. This exposure raises the risk of developing skin 
cancer, even if a person doesn't get burned. 

There is no evidence that tanning in a bed is any safer than tanning in the 
sun - in fact, some tanning beds release much stronger UV light than the 
sun does. And at least one study has shown that women who tan in beds 
are more likely to develop melanoma than those who don't. 

• exposure in childhood is thought to be especially dangerous. 

Page I of2 

ACS News Center 
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ACS :: WHO Warns Teens on Tanning Beds 

The WHO warned that skin cancer isn't the only possible consequence of 

•

o much tanning. Excessive UV exposure can also cause eye damage 
eluding cataracts) and premature skin aging, and may even harm the 
mune system. 

Leitner said the agency has a clear message: "Avoid excess exposure to 
UV and when you have to be in the sun, protect your skin." 

ACS News Center stories are provided as a source of cancer-related 
news and are not intended to be used as press releases . 

• 

Page 2 of2 
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In Support of House 81111154 

As Pediatricians of the state of North Dakota, we find It important to reduce the risks Inherent to children. It Is 
Important that we protect the health and well being of adolescents and young adults as well. Therefore, we feel 
because of the increased of skin problems and disease, being exposed to hannful ultraviolet light for 
unnecessary reasons should not be pennltted. The duties of this bill state a customer under sixteen years of age 
should not be pel!Jlilttel(_to use the tanning facility and we agree with that. 

Slncerely, 

Todd Twogood MD, FAAP 

President of the North Dakota American Academy of Pediatrics (NDAAP 

• 
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Testimony 

House Bill 1154 

House Human Services Committee 

Wednesday, January 10, 2007; 8 a.m. 

North Dakota Department of Health 

Good morning, Chairman Price and members of the House Human Services 
Committee. My name is Kenan Bullinger, and I am the director of the Division of 
Food and Lodging for the North Dakota Department of Health. I am here today to 
provide information on the fiscal impacts of House Bill 1154. 

The fiscal impacts of this legislation were difficult to calculate, as the exact number of 
tanning facilities operating in North Dakota is unknown. In addition, the legislation 
does not mandate tanning facility inspections or inspection frequency. In order to 
adequately enforce the proposed provisions in this legislation, a regulatory agency, 
either state or local, will have to provide on-site inspections. The costs of inspection 
and the costs of administrative rule adoption and implementation are the main 
components of the requested fiscal note. 

The North Dakota Department of Health and several local health departments 
currently carry out a number of regulatory inspections for a variety of businesses in 
the state, including restaurants, lodging facilities, child-care facilities, schools and 
grocery stores. The regulatory infrastructure to carry out the provisions of this 
legislation is in place. The challenge will be the added inspection time, reports and 
travel needed to conduct inspections of the numerous tanning facilities throughout the 
state. A yearly inspection of two hours in length, including time for travel and writing 
the report, for an estimated 650 tanning facilities would equate to about 2,800 hours 
or .75 FTE. Rulemaking, salary, operating and implementation costs for the 2007-
2009 biennium would be $74,583. 

The bill allows the department to establish a fee but does not indicate if the fees are to 
be deposited into the general fund. For the department's Food and Lodging Program, 
fees are deposited in the department's operating fund and used to pay for the 
inspections. The fiscal note was written assuming the fees are deposited into the 
general fund, thus allowing a general fund appropriation for the program . 

This concludes my testimony. I would be happy to answer any questions you may 
have. 
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Testimony 

House Bill 1154 

House Human Services Committee 

Wednesday, January 10, 2007; 8 a.m. 

North Dakota Department of Health 

Good morning, Chairman Price and members of the House Human Services 
Committee. My name is Mary Ann Foss, and I am the director of the Division of 
Cancer Prevention and Control for the North Dakota Department of Health. I am here 
today to provide information on House Bill 1154. 

More than 1.3 million cases of skin cancer are diagnosed every year in the United 
States. Melanoma is the deadliest form of skin cancer, causing nearly 8,000 deaths 
each year. In North Dakota, about 87 people are diagnosed with melanoma each year. 

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation is the most recognized cause of all types of skin cancer, 
including melanoma. The sun and tanning lamps are both sources of UV radiation. In 
fact, recent studies have shown that tanning beds have the capacity to emit levels of 
UV radiation many times stronger than the mid-day sun. 

The World Health Organization has linked sun bed tanning among young people to 
melanoma. According to the agency's conclusions, there is a 75 percent increase in 
the risk of melanoma among those who first used sun beds in their teens or 20s. 

Twenty-five states have regulations restricting youth access to tanning beds. For 
example, New Jersey prohibits children younger than 14 from using tanning beds. 
New Hampshire and North Carolina require a doctor's consent for that age group, and 
Wisconsin has banned indoor tanning for anyone younger than 16. 

This concludes my testimony. I would be happy to answer any questions you may 
have. 
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Testimony on HB 1154 
Presented by Heidi Heitkamp 

Representing the Indoor Tanning Association 

Madam Chairman Price, members of the Human Services Committee, for the record my 
name is Heidi Heitkamp and I am representing today the Indoor Tanning Association. 
Thank you for this opportunity to appear before your committee and present testimony. 

Background information 

As background, the Indoor Tanning Association(www.theITA.com)is a national trade 
association representing all major manufacturers, suppliers and distributors of indoor 
tanning equipment as well as professional tanning facilities nationwide. 

Many of the controls provided in the HB 1154 are already standard practice in the 
industry or are already required by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) under (2 I 
CFR I 040.20) attached 

FDA regulations require visible warning signs, use of eyewear, maximum timer intervals 
specified by regulation and instructions to users to avoid or minimize injury. FDA 's 
Warning label requirement is found in section (d) of21CFR 1040.20. This label must be 
on an exterior surface of the product ...... "so as to be legible and readily accessible to 
view by the person being exposed immediately before use of the product. " Further, the 
Indoor Tanning Association is working with FDA right now on revisions to the warning 
label to make it even more readable and that those changes should be made in the next 
few years. 

The timers are under the control of the staff and cannot be over-ridden by the customer. 
There are strict limits on the output of the equipment. 

In addition, the FDA has spent a great deal of time and energy determining maximum 
exposure times The FDA also requires a warning sign on each device that must be clearly 
legible by the customer. 

Although not required by the FDA, it is standard industry practice is the use of"informed 
consent" forms. When any customer comes to an indoor tanning facility, they are warned 
about the potential dangers of overexposure to ultraviolet light. The warning is conveyed 
by having each customer read and sign what we call an "informed consent" form. 
Insurance carriers for tanning salons require the use of such a form. Further, giving 
clients an honest assessment of the potential benefits and risks associated with UV light 
exposure is the right thing to do . 
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Health Concerns and Claims oflncrease Cancer Risk 

The public is, almost daily, informed of new reports of medical research reporting that 
this product or that product increases the risks of cancer. As is the case in most reports of 
this type there is also a body of literature and research which disputes some of the 
conclusions. That is also true in the case of tanning beds. 

Without spending a great deal of time on these studies that may be useful to you in your 
review of HB 1154. 

I. A summary of the entire peer reviewed studies that have been performed on the 
topic. As you will see from that summary 18 of the 22 studies concluded that 
there was no association between indoor tanning and melanoma. 

2. A New York Times article dated July 20, 2004 entitled "A Dermatologist Who's 
Not Afraid to Sit on the Bench." Dr. Ackerman, the subject of this article and a 
renowned expert in the field of dermatology, argues that the research that 
exposure to ultraviolet rays causes melanoma is inconsistent and fails to make the 
case. In addition the doctor's comments on page 2 of the article about the 
epidemic of melanoma are particularly insightful. 

3. A New York Times article dated August 9, 2005 entitled "Melanoma is Epidemic. 
Or Is It?" This article presents the current debate in the dermatological 
community regarding whether in fact the increased numbers of melanoma 
represent an epidemic of skin cancer or an epidemic of skin cancer screening. A a 
recent study published by The British Medical Journal found that since 1986 skin 
biopsies have risen by 250%, which is the figure nearly the same as the rise in the 
incident of early-stage melanoma. But during that same time there was no change 
in the melanoma death rate and the incidence of advanced disease also did not 
change. 

The Position of the Indoor Tanning Association on HB 1154 

The Indoor Tanning Association has no issue with the licensure provided for in this Bill. 
As outlined above, the provisions in HB 1154 are already required by the federal 
government or are standard operating procedures in the indoor tanning business. 

Consequently, the Indoor Tanning Association will urge a do pass on the Bill provided 
HBI 154 is amended (on page 3 line 19 and 20 of the bill) to strike the language of 
current section 23-39-05 (I) (a.) which provides: "A customer under 16 years of age is 
not permitted to use the facility." and replace it with the following language the 
following language: 
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Before any person under age 18 (eighteen) years of age uses a tanning device, 
he/she shall give the tanning facility a statement, signed by his or her parent or 
legal guardian, stating that the parent or legal guardian has read and understood 
the warnings given by the tanning facility, and that they consent to the minor's 
use of the tanning device and agrees that the minor will use the protective 
eyewear. A customer under the age of 14 will not be permitted to use the facility. 

In support of this amendment I offer the following arguments: 

I. Currently 25 states and 4 counties regulate tanning facilities for minors. After 
debate in all of those states, only Wisconsin has adopted a bill which creates an 
absolute ban on 14 and I 5-year-olds using the facility. In every other state which 
regulates facilities, state legislatures have agreed to allow 14 to 18-year-olds to 
use tanning beds with parental consent. Most notably in Minnesota, where local 
tanning facilities will face the most competition, minors under the age of 16 are 
allowed to use tanning devices provided the operator witnesses a parent or 
guardian's signature on a warning statement. House Bill 1154, by creating an 
absolute prohibition for 14 and 15-year-olds, presents the most radical regulation 
in the country. See attached NCSL spreadsheet. 

2. As the bill is currently drafted there are no additional protections for minors 
between the ages of 16 and 18. The amendment being proposed requires that 
minors between these ages also receive parental consent. 

3. This amendment places the responsibility for child health squarely on the 
shoulders of the parents, where this responsibility belongs. It has been suggested 
that one of the advantages of this HB 1154 is that it empowers parents to protect 
their teenagers by having the government say no instead of the parents. I believe 
this is the absolute worst reason to pass this bill. The North Dakota Legislature in 
past years, when asked to enact a law requiring minors to wear bicycle helmets, 
rejected that law on the basis that the enforcement of bicycle helmets belongs in 
the hands of the parents, I believe that same logic applies today with the use of 
tanning beds. 

4. In North Dakota, minors 14 and over are given great responsibilities. These 
responsibilities include a driving permit, hunting privileges, contact sports, and 
care for smaller children (babysitting). I believe that 14 and 15-year-old girls, 
together with their parents and with adequate information, are capable of making 
informed decisions about their use of tanning beds. 

5. Finally, try as we might, we can never make the world completely safe for our 
children. Parents, teachers, schools, and the government will never be able to 
create a risk-free world for children. Instead we must give our children the tools 
they need to make informed decisions about their safety today and in the future. 
If we constantly attempt to remove any and all risk by government regulation, we 
take these decisions out of the hands of our children and their parents and give 
these decisions to the government. That activity provides a message to kids that 
the government and not day are responsible for their safety. Only in the most 
extreme situations should this be done. 
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Again thank you for this opportunity to appear on HB 1154 and to present this 
amendment. I look forward to working with the Committee as it further deliberates on 
this Bill and I would be glad to answer any questions you might have. 



• 

) 

United States Federal Regulations: 21CFR 1040.20 
(11) Applicability. (I) The provisions 
or this section. as amended. arc 
applicable as specified herein to the 
following products manufactured on or 
alter September 8. 1986. 
(i) Any sunlnmp product. 
(ii) Any ultraviolet lamp intended for 
use in ,my sunlamp product. 
(2) Sunlamp products and ultraviolet 
lamps manufactured on or afler May 7. 
I 980. but before September 8. I 986, 
urc subject to the provisions of this 
section as published in the FEDERAL 
REGISTER of November 9. I 979 (44 

FR65357). 
(b) Definitions. As used in this section 
the fo!lowing delinitions app!y: 
( 1) "Lxposurc position" means any 
position. distance. orientation. or 
location relative to the radiating 
surfaces of the sunlamp product at 
which the user is intended to be 
e.xposed to ultraviolet radiation from 
the product. as recommended by the 
manufacturer. 
(2) "Intended" means the same as 
"intended uses" in 801.4. 
(3) "\rradiance" means the radiant 
pom:r incident on a surface at a 
specified location and orientation 
relative to the radiating surface divided 
b\' the area of the surface. as tht: area 
h~comes vanishingly small. expressed 
in units of watts per square centimeter 
(\\'/cm2). 
(4) "Ma,imum exposure time" means 
the greatest continuous exposure time 
inten·al recommended by the 
manufacturer of the product. 
(5) "Maximum timer interval" means 
the greatest timer interval setting on 
the timer ofa product. 
(6) "Protective eyewear" means any 
device designed to be worn by users of 
a product to reduce exposure of the 
eyes to radiation emitted by the 
product. 
(7) "Spectra! irradiance" means the 
irrndiancc resulting from radiation 
within a wavelength range divided by 
the wavelength range as the range 
becomes vaninshingly small. expressed 

in unils of watts per square cenlimeter 
per nanometer (W/(cm2/nm)). 
(8) "Spectral transmittance" means the 
spectral irradiance transmitted through 
protective eyewcar divided by the 
spectral irradiance incident on the 
protective eyewear. 
(9) "Sunlamp product" means any 
electronic product designed to 
incorpornlc one or more ultraviolet 
lumps and intended for irradiation of 

any part of the living human l:lody. by 
ultraviolet radiation with wavelengths 
in air between 200 and 400 
nanometers. to induce skin tanning. 
( I 0) "Timer" means any device 
incorporated into a product that 
tenninates radiation emission after a 
preset time interval. 
( 11) "Ultraviolet lamp" means any 
lamp that produces ultraviolet radiation 
in the wavelength interval of 200 to 
400 nanometers in air and that is 
intended for use in any sunlamp 
product. 

(c) Performance requirements. (I) 
lrradiance ratio limits. For each 
sunl<1mp product and ultraviolet lamp. 
the ratio of the irradiancc within the 
wavelength range of greater than 200 
nanometers through 260 nanometers to 
the irradiance within the wavelength 
range of greater than 260 nanqmeters 
through 320 nanometers may not 
exceed 0.003 at any distance and 
direction from the product or lamp. 
(2) Timer system. (i) Each sunlamp 
product shall incorporate a timer 
system with multiple timer settings 
adequate for the recommended 
exposure time intervals for different 
exposure positions and expected 
results of the products as specified in 
the label required by paragraph (d) of 
this section. 
(ii) The maximum timer interval(s) 
may not exceed the manufacturer's 
recommended maximum exposure 
timc(s) that is indicated on the label 
required by paragraph (d)( I )(iv) of this 
section. 
(iii) No limcr interval may have an 
error greater than 10 percent of the 
maximum timer interval of the 
product. 
(iv) The timer may not automatically 
reset and cause radiation emission to 
resume for a period greater than the 
unused portion of the timer cycle, 
when emission from the sunlamp 
product has been terminated. 
(v) The timer requirements do not 
preclude a product from allowing a 
user to reset the timer before the end of 
the preset time interval. 
(3) Control for tennination of radiation 
emission. Each sunlamp product shall 
incorporate a control on the product to 
enable the person being exposed to 
tenninate manually radiation emission 
from the product at any time ,-.·ithout 
disconnecting the electrical plug or 
removing the ultraviolet lamp. 

(4) Protecti\'e eycwi..:ar. {i) E.1ch 
sunlamp product shall be accompanied 
by the number of sets ofprotecti\'e 
eyewear that is equal to the maximum 
number of persons that the instructions 
provided under paragraph (c)( I )(ii) or 
this section recommend to lie exposed 
simultaneously to radiation from such 
product. 
(ii) The spectral transmittance to the 
eye of the protective eyewear required 
hy paragraph (c)(4)(i) of this section 
shall not exceed a value of0.00! over 
the wavelength's range of greater th;:m 
200 nanometers through 320 
nanometers and a value of0.01 over 
the wavelength range of greater than 
320 nanometers through 400 
nanometers. and sh.all he suf!icicnl 
over the wavelength greater than 400 
nanometers to enable the user to sec 
clearly enough to reset the timer. 
(5) Compatibility of !amps. An 
ultraviolet lamp may not be capable of 
insertion and operation in either the 
"single contact medium screw" or the 
"double contact medium screw" lamp 
holders described in American 
National Standard CS I. I 0-1976. 
Specifications for F.lectric I.amp Bases 
and Ho\ders_Scrcw Shell Types. which 
is incorporated hy reference. Copies 
are available from the American 
National Standards Institute. 1430 
Broadway. New York. NY 10018 or 
available for inspection at the Office of 
the Fedcra\ Register. 1100 L St. NW. 
Washington. DC 20408. 
(d) Label requirements. In addition to 
the labeling requirements in Part 801 
and the certification and identi!icatinn 
requirements of I DI 0.2 and IO I 0.3. 
each sunlamp product and ultraviolet 
lamp shall he subject to the labeling 
requirements prescribed in this 
paragraph and paragraph (e) of this 
section. 
(I) Labels for sun lamp products. Each 
sunlamp product shall have a lahel(s) 
which contains: 
(i) A warning statement with the words 
"DANGER Ultraviolet radiation. 

Follo\v inst~uctions. A void 
overexposure. As with natural sunlight. 
overexposure can cause eye and skin 
injury and allergic reactions. Repeated 
exposure may cause premature aging 
of the skin and skin cancer. WEAR 
PROTECTIVE EYEWEAR; 
FAILURE TO MAY RESULT IN 
SEVERE BURNS OR I.ONG-TERM 
INJURY TO THE EYF.S. Medications 
or cosmetics may increase your 
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sensitivity to the ultraviolet radiation. 
Consult physician before using 
sunlamp if you are using medications 
or ha,·e a history of skin problems or 
believe yourself especially sensitive to 
sunlight. If you do not tan in the sun. 
you nn: unlikely to tan from use of 
this product." 
(ii) Recommended exposure 
position(s). Any exposure position 
may be expressed either in tenns of a 
distance specified both in meters and 
in foet (or in inches) or through the 
use of markings or other means to 
indicate clearly the recommended 
exposure position. 
(iii) Directions for achieving the 
recommended exposure position(s) 
and a warning th.at the use of other 
positions may result in overexposure. 
(iv) A recommended exposure 
schedule including duration and 
spacing of sequential exposures and 
nm.,imum exposure time(s) in 
minutes. 
(v) /\ statement of the time it may take 
before the expected results appear. 
(vi) Designation of the ultraviolet 
lamp type to be used in the product. 
(2) Labels for ultraviolet lamps. Each 
ultraviolet lamp shall have a label 
which contains: 
( i) The words 
''Sunlamp_ DANG ER_ Ultraviolet 
radiation. Follow instructions. 
(ii) The model identification. 
(iii) The words "Use ONLY in fixture 
equipped with a timer." 
(3) Label spccilications. (i) Any label 
prescribed in this paragraph for 
sunlamp products shall be 
pcmrnnently affixed or inscribed on an 
e:-.:terior surface of the product when 
fully assembled for use so as to be 
legible and readily accessible to view 
by the person being exposed 
immediately before the use of the 
product. 
(ii) Any label prescribed in this 
paragraph for ultraviolet lamps shall 
be pem1a11ently affixed or inscribed on 
the product so as to be legible and 
rcndily accessible to view. 
(iii) If the size. configuration, design. 
or function of the sunlamp product or 
ultraviolet !amp would preclude 
compliance with the requirements for 
any required label or would render the 
required wording of such label 
inappropriate or indTective. or would 
render the required label unnecessaf)·. 
the Director. Ollicc ofComplinnce. 
(lffZ-300). Center for Devices and 
Radiological Health. on the Center's 
O\\ n initiative or upon written 
t1pplication by the manufacturer. may 

approve alternative means of 
providing such labe!(s). alternate 
wording for such labels. or deletion. 
as applicable. 
(iv) In lieu of permanently affixing or 
inscribing tags or labels on the 
ultraviolet lamp as required by 
I0I0.2(b) and 1010.3(a). the 
manufacturer of the ultraviolet lamp 
may pennanently affix or inscribe 
such required tags or labels on the 
lamp packaging uniquely associated 
with the lamp. if the name of the 
manufacturer and month and year of 
manufacture are pem,anently affixed 
or inscribed on the exterior surface of 
the ultraviolet lamp so as to be legible 
and readily accessible to view. The 
name of the manufacturer and month 
and year of the manufacture affixed or 
inscribed on the exterior surface of the 
lamp may be expressed in code or 
symbols, if the manufacturer has 
previously supplied the Director. 
Oflice of Compliance (HFZ-300). 
Center for Devices and Radiological 
Health. with the key to such code or 
symbols and the location of the coded 
infonnation or symbols on the 
ultraviolet lamp. The label or tag 
affixed or inscribed on the lamp 
packaging may provide either the 
month and year of manufacture 
without abbreviation, or infomiation 
to allow the date to be readily 
decoded. 
(v) A label may contain statements or 
illustrations in addition to those 
required by this paragraph if the 
additional statements are not false or 
misleading in any partici1lar: e.g. if the 
do not diminish the impact of the 
required statements. and are not 
prohibited by this chapter. 
(e) Instructions to be pro"ided to 
users. Each manufacturer of a 
sunlamp product and ultraviolet lamp 
shall provide or cause to be provided 
to purchasers and, upon request. to 
others at a cost not to exceed the cost 
of publication and distribution, 
adequate instructions for use to avoid 
or to minimize potential injUf)' to the 
user. including the following technical 
and safety information as applicable: 
(I) Sunlamp products. The users' 
instructions for a sunlamp product 
shall contain: 
(i) A reproduction of the labcl(s) 
required in paragraph (d)( l) of this 
section prominently displayed at the 
beginning of the instructions. 
(ii) A statement of the maximum 
number of people who may be 
exposed to the product at the same 
time and a 

warning that only tlrnt numhcr or 
protective eyewear lrns been pro,·ided. 
(iii) Instructions for the prnpcr 
operation of the product including the 
function. use. and setting of the timer 
and other controls. and the use of' 
protective eyewear. 
(iv) Instructions for detem,ining the 
correct exposure time and schedule for 
persons accordi11g to skin type. 
(v) Instructions for obtaining repair~ 
and recommt::nded replacement 
components and accessories which arc 
compatible with the product. including 
compatible protective eyc\l'car. 
ultraviolet lamps. timers. rcfli.:ctors. 
and filters. and which will. if installed 
or used 
continued 
standard. 

as instructed. 
compliance 

result in 
with the 

(2) Ultraviolet lamps, The users' 
instructions for an ultraviolet !amp nol 
accompanying a sunlamp product 
shall contain: 
(i) A reproduction of the label(s) 
required in paragraphs (d)(l)(i) and 
(2) of this section. prominently 
displayed at the beginning of the 
instructions. 
(ii) A warning that the instructions 
accompanying the sunlamp product 
should always be followed to avoid or 
to minimize potential injuf)'. 
(iii) A clear identification !:,y brand 
and model designation of all lamp 
models for which replacement lamps 
are promoted. if applicable. 

( f) Test for determination of 

compliance. Tests on which 
certification pursuant to 1010.2 is 
based shall account for all errors and 
statistical uncertainties in the process 
and. wherever applicable. for changes 
in radiation emission or degradation in 
radiation safety with age of the 
product. Measurements for 
certification purposes sha\! be nrnde 
under those operational conditions. 
lamp voltage. current. and position as 
recommended bv the manufacturer. 
For these ~1easurements. the 
measuring instrument shall be 
positioned at the recommended 
exposure position and so oriented as 
to result in the maximum detection of 
the radiation by the instrurnenl. 
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CLAIM: "Indoor tanning is linked to melanoma skin cancer. " 

FACT: The truth is that 18 of the 22 studies ever conducted on this topic - including the largest 
and most recent - show no association between indoor tanning and melanoma. The four that 
allege a connection did not adequately control for confounding variables such as how much time 
a person spent outdoors and his or her history of outdoor sunburns. Individuals who use tanning 
salons are more likely to spend more time outdoors in the sun than individuals who don't. Unless 
researchers control for this fact, the results cannot be relied upon. In addition, melanoma's 
relationship with UV light is unclear. Melanoma is more common in indoor workers than in 
outdoor workers. Melanoma also appears most often on parts of the body that are not regularly 
exposed to the sun. Thus, sunburn - not tanning- appears to be the link, if any, between 
melanoma and ultraviolet light. 

INDOOR TANNING IS NOT LINKED TO MELANOMA: Epidemiological Studies To Date 
Assessing the Relationship Between Indoor Tanning Facilities and Melanoma Skin Cancer. 

Klenn & Magnus 1979 Norway No association Small samnle size. 

Adam et al t981 England Increase in risk Small study. Fair-skinned sample not applicable to 
the U.S .. Does not control variables. 

Holman et al 1982 Australia No association Larner studv. 

Galla12her et al 1986 Canada No association Larger studv. 

Elwood et n! 1986 En2land No association Small samole size. 

Hol!v ct al 1987 USA No association First U.S. studv. 

Ostcrlind et al 1988 Denmark No association Tanning bed users actually had 
lower risk than non-tanners. 

Swerdlow et al t988 Scotland Increase in risk Small study. Wide variation in results is 
unexolained. 

Zanetti et al 1988 ltalv No association Wide variation in results. 
MacKic et al 1989 Scotland No association Fair-skinned sample, 

Wide variation in results. 

Dubin ct al 1989 USA No association Included medical use of 
tanning eouioment. 

Bcitncr et al 1990 Sweden No association Larger study. Did not control 
For variables. 

Walter et al 1990 Canada No associationg Onlv risk was home units. 

Autier et al 1991 Belgium Increase in risk Relative risk increased 4.1 times for males. but 1.8 
times for females. No explanation. Results of this 
study conflict with Autier"s 2002 data which shov,· 
no association. 

Garbe et al 1993 Germany No association Results varied widely. Did not control 
for variables. 

Dunn•Lane et al 1993 Ireland No association Small studv. Variables uncontrolled. 
Westerdah 1 et a 1 1994 Sweden No association Results varied. Variables uncontrolled. H 

Autkr ct al 1994 Belgium No association Some showed a reduction in risk. Some 
showed a minor increase. 

Holli et al 1995 USA No association Included medical use of tanninP eauiomcnt. 

Chen. et al 1998 USA No association On!v risk was home units. 

Westerdahl et al 2000 Sweden Increase in.risk Risk declined for those who tanned most 
freouentlv. Result is unexnlained. 

Autier. et al 2002 Belgium No association No association in any cateQorv. 
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Impartial Analysis of Epidemiological Studies 

In 1989, Dr. Anthony J. Swerdlow and Dr. Martin Weinstock, both of the Brown 
University School of Medicine, published a paper examining 19 of the studies listed in 
the chart. Ors. Swerdlow and Weinstock, who are not affiliated with the indoor tanning 
industry and were not funded by the industry, concluded "At this time, the published 
DalCI are insufficient to determine whether tanning lamps cause Melanoma. " The 
authors cite the following reasons: 

J. Lack of Relevant Intensity and Output Data. According to Swerdlow and 
Weintock, "The published studies gave no information on the intensity and 
spectral outputs of the tanning lamps to which exposure had occurred. 
Furthermore, because the prevalent type of lamp has changed over time, there is 
some uncertainly in the extrapolation from historical exposure in the population 
today". What this means is that the authors of the studies did not account for the 
differences in sunbeds, lamps and exposure times, which means they could not 
calculate total irradiance values. Also the authors refer to the high UVB lamps 
used in the early days of the tanning industry compared to the combinations used 
today. 

2. Recall Bias Potential. According to Swerdlow and Weinstock, "All of the studies 
depended on recall of exposures by the study participants and this recall may 
potentially be biased. " For example, many researchers believe patients with 
melanoma might exaggerate their past exposures or recall more of them than 
control participants. It is also possible that such a recall bias cold affect the 
outcome in other ways. 

3. Studies Specificity Regarding Exposure. According to Swerdlow and 
Weinstock, "Many of the studies reported only a comparison between persons 
who were ever exposed to tanning lamps and those who were never so exposed or 
between undefined tanning lamps. " 

4. Failure to Control Lamp and Exposure Location Variables. According to 
Swerdlow and Weinstock, "Relatively few of the reports described their variables 
on tanning beds and the analysis of the data in detail or with precision. For 
example, some included medical in addition to cosmetic UV lamp exposure in 
their analyses, without distinction and others did not and for several reasons it 
was not clear whether medical exposure had been included. Ideally, both ofthese 
sources and occupational exposures would be included in the data collection and 
analysis. " 

5. Possibility of Confounding Errors. According to Swerdlow and Weinstock, 
"Interpretation is also complicated by the possibility of the confounding. For 
instance, sun exposure, particularly recreational sun exposure is a potentially 
confounding variable because it seems likely that tanning lamp users may also he 
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more likely to sunbathe. In addition, sun sensitivity and sociocconomic-re/ated 
factors are also potentially corifounding variables" 

6. Publication Bias. According to Swerdlow and Weinstock, "There may be 
substantial publication bias in the area of literature. Case-control studies that 
support the null hypothesis (tanning lamps are not associated with the laler 
development o_( melanoma or that tanning lamps may be beneficial) may be less 
likely to mention this aspect of their data or to describe in detail the resulting 
publication than those that found an association between sunbed use and 
melanoma. 

7. Inadequate Sample Size. According to Swerdlow and Weinstock, Many studies 
appear to have low power to detect a plausible size of association" 
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The New York Times 

July 20, 2004 

I BFC TO DIFFER 

A Dermatologist Who's Not Afraid to Sit on the Beach 
By GINA KOLATA 

Dr. A. Bernard Ackerman, a dermatologist, spends much of his time diagnosing the potentially 
deadly cancer melanoma and other skin diseases. 

But when he returned from a recent trip to Israel, he was, well, deeply tanned. Burnished brown. 
in fact. Dr. Ackerman did not use sunscreen on his trip. He did not give any thought to the 
hundreds of moles that speckle his body. He did not even put a hat on his bald head. 

Other dermatologists may worry about getting melanoma from exposure to ultraviolet rays. But 
Dr. Ackerman, 67, a renowned expert in the field and the emeritus director of the Ackerman 
Academy of Dermatopathology in New York, said the link between melanoma and sun exposure 
was "not proven." He has scrutinized, one by one, the widely held precepts about melanoma and 
the sun, and found the evidence wanting. "The field is just replete with nonsense," he said. For 
example, it is commonly assumed that painful or blistering sunburns early in life set the stage for 
the skin cancer later on. But while some studies show a small association, Dr. Ackerman says, 
others show none. And even studies that do show an effect disagree on when the danger period 
for sunburns is supposed to be. 

Taken as a whole, Dr. Ackerman argues, the research is inconsistent and fails to make the case. 
Common wisdom also has it that sunscreens protect against melanoma. But Dr. Ackerman points 
to a recent editorial in the journal Archives of Dermatology concluding that there was no 
evidence to support that idea. Finally, many people assert that the more intense a person's sun 
exposure, the greater the risk of melanoma. For example, Dr. Darrell S. Rigel, a New York 
dermatologist, points out that the incidence of melanoma increases as distance to the equator 
decreases. Dr. Rigel, a past president of the American Academy of Dermatology and the lead 
editor of "Cancer of the Skin," a major textbook in the field, cites this as a compelling reason to 
conclude that sun exposure causes the skin cancer. 

But it is not compelling to Dr. Ackerman. Epidemiological data on melanoma, he says, are 
imprecise and inaccurate. In searching for the causes of other cancers, he argues, epidemiological 
data have led researchers astray, and by their nature they cannot demonstrate cause and effect. 
Stay out of the sun, Dr. Ackerman advises, but do it to avoid premature aging of the skin. If you 
are very fair. avoiding sunlight will also help prevent squamous cell carcinoma, a less dangerous 
cancer. But it would be a mistake, he says, to assume that avoiding sunlight or using sunscreens 
will offer protection from melanoma. 

Dr. Ackerman has been enamored of the skin and its diseases since his earliest days as a resident 
at Columbia. Studying dermatology, to him, was like taking courses in art history. "If you know a 
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certain artist you can recognize him again," he said. "So it is with lesions in the skin. A lesion is 
like a painting or a piece of sculpture." He has spent most of his career in academia and has 
published 625 research papers. His list of honors and awards includes this year's the Master 
Award, given to one person a year by the American Academy of Dermatology. 

In 1999 he started his own academy, supported by AmeriPath, a company that owns pathology 
laboratories. "I had nothing to sell - I was always in university life," Dr. Ackerman said. "If you'll 
excuse the expression and not think I'm a tart, they bought me." His academy, he says. is now the 
world's largest training center for dermatopathology. Dr. Ackerman. who is paid a flat salary. and 
his six associates examine more than 100,000 specimens and have done more than 4,000 
consultations each year. Dr. Ackerman continues to teach and write, and also to ask for data and 
question his field's conventional wisdom. Challenging the link between sun and melanoma is pa11 
of this pattern. 

Dr. Ackerman even questions whether the "epidemic" of melanoma proclaimed by many 
dermatologists exists. The definition of the cancer, he says, has changed over time, leading 
doctors to diagnose, remove and cure cancerous groW1hs that once would not have been called 
melanoma. "The criteria today, clinically and histopathologically, are diametrically different 
from those 30 years ago," he said. In medical school, he continued, "we were taught that 
melanoma is a big, black, fungating tumor that kills. Who would have believed then that you can 
recognize melanoma for what it is when it is small and flat and the size of the fingernail on your 
pinky? You would have said they were insane." · 

Anyone who argues that sun exposure causes melanoma, Dr. Ackerman says, needs to explain 
why blacks and Asians get melanoma almost exclusively on skin that is not exposed to sunlight: 
the palms, soles, nails and mucous membranes. Even in whites, the most common melanoma sites 
- the leg in women, the trunk in men - are hardly the most sun-exposed body parts. It is not a 
popular argument. Dr. Rigel, reached by telephone in Hawaii, where he was vacationing. said it 
was perverse of Dr. Ackennan to pick the data apart. Melanoma, Dr. Rigel said, can occur "where 
the sun doesn't shine." But that is because sunlight suppresses immune cells in the skin's surface 
that ordinarily hold cancer at bay, he said. He himself stays pale, even in Hawaii, that land of 
intense sunlight. "I'm a dennatologist," he explained. 

Dr. Ackerman does not buy the immune-system argument. It is a hypothesis to support the 
hypothesis that sun exposure causes melanoma, he says. But it is not evidence. Of course, Dr. 
Ackerman adds, he could be wrong. "If the evidence were compelling, I'd be the first to 
capitulate," he said. "I'd say: 'I tip my hat to you. Well done.'" 
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August 9, 2005 

Melanoma Is Epidemic. Or Is It? 
By GINA KOLATA 

The nat!on is in the grip of what looks like a terrifying melanoma epidemic: melanoma is 
being diagnosed at more than double the rate it was in 1986, increasing faster than any 
other major cancer. 

But why the numbers are increasing is a contentious subject, so touchy that one 
dermatologist called it "the third rail of dermatology." 

Many dermatologists argue that melanoma, the most deadly of the skin cancers, is in fact 
becoming more common. And they recommend regular skin cancer screening as the best 
way to save lives. But some specialists say that what the numbers represent is not an 
epidemic of skin cancer but an epidemic of skin cancer screening, and a new study lends 
support to this view. 

In the study, published in the current issue of The British Medical Journal, Dr. H. Gilbert 
Welch of the Department of Veterans Affairs in White River Junction, Vt., and 
Dartmouth Medical School and his colleagues analyzed melanoma's changing incidence 
and death rate over time. 

The researchers used Medicare data to track the swift rise in melanoma cases since 1 986 
and data compiled by the National Cancer Institute to track the death rate and the number 
of people with early and late-stage disease. 

They found that since I 986, skin biopsies have risen by 250 percent, a figure nearly the 
same as the rise in the incidence of early stage melanoma. But there was no change in the 
melanoma death rate. And the incidence of advanced disease also did not change, the 
researchers found. 

Dr. Welch and two colleagues, Dr. Steven Woloshin and Dr. Lisa M. Schwartz, argue 
that if there was really an epidemic of melanoma - for example, if something in the 
environment was causing people to get the skin cancer, scientists should see increases in 
cancers at all stages. This is what happened with lung cancer caused by smoking, and 
with other cancers caused by toxic substances. 

The fact that the increase was seen only in very early stage disease was a tip-off that the 
epidemic might be less than it seemed, Dr. Welch said . 
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And that, he says, leads to a difficult question. The point of screening for melanoma is to 
reduce the_ death toll from the cancer. But if screening has not altered the number of 
patients wah advanced disease or lowered the death rate, what is its benefit? 

"That's the million dollar question," Dr. Welch said. "It certainly raises questions about 
whether we're doing any good." 

The researchers hastened to add that people who notice suspicious moles or spots should 
not hesitate to see a doctor. But skin cancer screening, they said, is directed at healthy 
people who have no reason to suspect that anything is wrong. 

The federal Preventative Services Task Force, which makes screening recommendations. 
has said that there was insufficient evidence to recommend either for or against skin 
screening. 

But the American Cancer Society recommends regular skin screening, as does the 
American Academy of Dermatology, which sponsors Melanoma Mondays and free skin 
screening clinics that see more than 200,00 people a year. 

Speaking for the dermatology academy, one of its past presidents, Dr. Darrell Rigel. a 
dermatologist in New York, said it only made sense to look for melanomas and remove 
them before they spread. "As dermatologists, we see people die every day from 
melanoma," he said. "And there's another thing we know with melanoma that's very clear. 
The earlier you find it and treat it, the better the survival." 

More and more people are having skin biopsies, Dr. Rigel said, but he questioned Dr. 
Welch's conclusion that the biopsies were leading to excessive diagnoses of melanoma. "I 
would say the inverse is more likely," Dr. Rigel said. "There are more melanomas and 
therefore more biopsies." 

At the American Cancer Society, Dr. Len Lichtenfeld, an oncologist, said his group 
reviewed the same data as Dr. Welch and came to a different conclusion. Screening, he 
said, appears to be saving lives. 

As evidence Dr. Lichtenfeld pointed to a trend in the data indicating that the death rate 
from the disease rose slightly year by year until about a decade ago. That is consistent 
with an increase in serious cases of melanoma. 

Now, he said, "there has been a suggestion in the data that the death rates in the Medicare 
age group are going down," an effect that would be expected if screening was working. 

He added, "We agree that some of the melanomas are biologically indolent, but we also 
feel that when we look at the trend in the data and the suggestion of decreased mortality 
that there has been a benefit from increased surveillance for the disease." 
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Dr. Welch disagrees. He said the cancer society was "taking tiny, tiny differences" in 
death rates from year to year and "putting a huge microscope 011 it." 

In fact. h~ said, the death rate has been basically flat since 1986, although it bounces 
around slightly from year to year as a result of statistical fluctuations. 

"We don't disagree about the data," Dr. Welch said. "We disagree about the 
interpretation. We are not arguing that there is zero change in disease burden. We are 
arguing that most of the newly diagnosed cases are the result of increased screening." 

In a 1997 article, two dermatologists, Dr. Robert Swerlick and Dr. Suephy Chen of 
Emory University and the Atlanta Veterans Affairs Medical Center, wrote that while 
some people might be saved by screening, there also are risks from a melanoma 
diagnosis. 

"After a patient has received the diagnosis of melanoma, obtaining insurance can be 
extremely difficult," they wrote. "The diagnosis of melanoma also results in heightened 
scrutiny of all first-degree relatives and family members of the patient, and if increased 
surveillance leads to increased diagnosis, this process may also put them at risk for the 
diagnosis of melanoma." 

Others who study cancer screening said that Dr. Welch's arguments were convincing and 
that he had raised issues about the national melanoma epidemic that could not easily be 
dismissed . 

Dr. Barnett Kramer, associate director of the Office of Disease Prevention at the National 
Institutes of Health, said that, of course, the ideal way to know if a screening program 
works is to do a randomized clinical trial, assigning some people to screening and not 
others, then seeing if the screening saved lives. Absent such a study, he said, he finds Dr. 
Welch's paper convincing. 

"It's doesn't look like our melanoma awareness campaigns have made an impact on 
mortality or on late-stage disease," Dr. Kramer said. 

Dr. Russell Harris, a professor of medicine at the University of North Carolina and a 
member of the Preventive Services Task Force, said the new paper "should certainly 
make us worry about screening." 

That also is the view of Dr. A. Bernard Ackerman, emeritus director of the Ackerman 
Academy of Dermatopathology in New York. Dermatologists have gone too far, he said, 
with screening clinics, removing innocuous moles and diagnosing melanoma too freely. 

It makes sense for a doctor to look at your skin during a regular physical exam, Dr. 
Ackerman said, but screening programs have led to an excessive zeal for skin biopsies 
and for diagnosing melanoma. 
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"There has been a mania for taking off these moles that are ofno consequence," Dr. 
Ackerman said. "We're talking about billions and billions of dollars being spent. based on 
hype." 

While there may be questions about screening programs, Dr. Swer!ick said that few in his 
field wanted to discussion their merits. He and Dr. Chen tried to open the debate 
themselves a few years ago but were met with hostility or disdain, he said. 

"My colleagues in private practice know what we have written and they can't imagine 
that it could be correct," Dr. Swerlick said. 

"This is a very touchy subject," he added. 

And he appreciates why. "Many well-intentioned people have focused their clinical 
careers on this," he said, "and I can understand how unnerving it might be to be faced 
with the prospect that their efforts have been directed toward something ineffectual." 

For his part, Dr. Welch says that early detection "is a double-edged sword and people 
need to remember that." 

A few people might be saved because a cancer is found early, he said, but many, many 
more will be thrown into the medical mill when there is nothing wrong with them. 

"People should realize that is the price we pay for screening," Dr. Welch said, and 
although screening is widely promoted, "we ought to know whether it helps." 

http://wwv-.•.nytimes.com/2005/08/09/health/09skin.html?pagewanted=print 
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Tanning Restrictions for Minors 
A State-by-State Comparison 

Most skin damage from the sun occurs before age 18 and, 

according to the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer 

Center, many youth will total 50 percent to 80 percent of their 

lifetime sun exposure during childhood. Research shows that 

blistering sunburns and overexposure during childhood greatly 
increase the chances of developing skin cancer later in life. 

Because sun exposure in childhood and the teenage years can be so 
damaging, policymakers in some states are regulating minors' use 

·=----:"'.'.:::Jar tanning facilities (like tanning beds). Currently, at least 25 
states and 4 counties regulate tanning facilities for minors. 

Childhood overexposure to the sun Is causing cancer fatalities 
at very young ages. According to the Charlie Guild Melanoma 

Foundation, Melanoma Is the most common cancer for men and women between the ages of 20 and 29. For women 25-29, lt 
is the leading cause of cancer death. In women 30-34, ft is the second leading cause of cancer death. 

Sun exposure causes most nonmelanoma skin cancers. The American Cancer Society (ACS) estimates that over a million 
people a year are diagnosed with this type of cancer. Nonmelanoma rarely spreads to other parts of the body and, if detected 
early, is treatable and ~as excellent survival rates. 

Melanoma is also treatable if caught early, but because it is likely to spread to other parts of the body, it is also very dangerous 

and potentially fatal. ACS estimates that there will be 62,190 new cases of Melanoma this year and 7,910 people will die. Risk 

factors for Melanoma include sun exposure and sunburn, blistering sunburns during childhood or teenage years, fair skin, 

freckles, moles, and a family history of melanoma. ACS recommends avoiding sunlight between 10 am and 4 pm when the 

sun's rays are strongest, avoiding tanning devices and sun lamps, using and re-applying sunscreen when exposed to UV rays, 
covering skin with clothing and wearing hats and sunglasses. 

Updated August 2006 

Tanning Restrictions for Minors 

State Statute Age Parent must Accompany Parent must sign written permission 

Restriction Minor 

Arizona Ariz. Admin. under 18 Written permission from a parent of 

Code guardian required for someone under 18 

R12·1-1414 A2 to use the facility. 

California Cal. Bus. and under 14; Written permission required for ages 14-

Prof. Code 14·18 18. Children under 14 prohibited. 

§ 22706 (b) (3) 
and (4) 

Connecticut Conn. Public Act under 16 Written permission from parent of guardian 

No. 06-195 required for a person under 16 to use 
tanning facilities. 

Florida Fla. Stat. Ann. under 14; Parents must accompany Written permission required for ages 14-18. 

§ 3BL89 (1998) 14·18 children under 14 on all visits 

Georgia Ga. Code Ann. under 18 Written permission required for those under 

§ 31-38·8 18. 

(1996) 

Illinois Ill. Admin. Code under 14; Children under 14 are prohibited; parent 

Title 77; Sec. 14·18 must sign a conscent form in the presence 

http: //v,.'\,w. nc sl. org/ pro grams/heal th/tanningrestri cti o ns. htm l /8/2007 
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795.190(c) 
of the facility operator if child is 14-18 years 
old. 

Indiana Ind. Code Ann. under 16; Parent must accompany Parent of minors aged 16-18 must sign a 
§ 25-8-15.4-15 16-18 children under the age of 16 risk waiver in the presence of the tanning 
and 16 device operator. 

Kentucky Ch. 103 of the under 14; Parent must accompany Parents of minors age 14-18 must sign a 
Acts of 2006 ( H B 14-18 children under the age of 14 statement that they read and understand 
151) 

the warnings and certify that their child will 
use protective eye wear. 

Louisiana La. Rev. Stat. under 14; Parent must accompany Parent must sign risk waiver for minors 14-
Ann. § 14-18 children under the age of 14 18. 
40:2701 to 

40:2718 (2005) 

Maine 10-144 Dept. of under 18 People under the age of 18 must present 
Human Servlces written consent form signed by a parent or 
ch. 223 12A (3) legal guardian; parents/guardians must 
(f) have been supplied with standard warning 

materials. 

Massachusetts Mass. Gen. Laws under 14; Parent must accompany Parent must sign prior written consent for 
Ann. ch. l ll 14-17 children under the age of 14 minors age 14-17. 
Public Health § 

211 

Michigan Mich. Comp. under 14; Parent must accompany Parent must present a statement similar to 
Laws Ann. § 14-18 children under the age of 14 other customers that they read and 
333.13407 understand the risks tanning poses to their 

child and that the child will wear protective 
eye wear before someone under 18 may 
tan. 

Minnesota Minn. Stat. Ann. under16 Tanning device operator must witness a 
§ 325H.08 parent or guardian sign a warning 

statement. 

Mississippi Agency under 16 No one under 16 allowed to use tanning 

) 
Regulations, devices without written consent from a 
Division of parent or legal guardian. 
Radiological 
Health 

801.AA.12 (c) 

(5) 

New N.H. Rev. Stat. under 14; A licensed Physician must A parent or guardian must sign written 

Hampshire Ann. § tit. XXX 14-18 authorize use of the device and consent to use the facility and verify the age 

313-A:31 parent or guardian must be of the minor for those 14-18 years 

present for each use for kids old. Parent must sign in the presence of the 

under 14. operator and be present for the initial use of 
the device. Written permission is only good 

for 12 visits, Minor must present age 
verification when using the device. 

New Jersey N.l. Rev. Stat. § under 14; Children under the age of 14 prohibited 

C. 26: 2D-82. l 14-18 from using the device; parents of minors 

age 14-18 must sign documentation stating 
that they have read and understand the 

warnings. 

New York N.Y. Public under 14; Children under 14 prohibited; minors age 14 

Health Law ch. 14-18 to 18 must have signed permission from a 

• 
573 parent or guardian to use the facilities; the 

signature must be obtained by the facility 

operator in person and is only valid for 

http://wv.w.ncsl.org/programs/health/tanningrestrictions.htm l /8/2007 
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twelve months. 
North Carolina N.C. Gen. Stat. under 13 Children under 13 are prohibited from using 

§ 104E-9.1 tanning devices without a physician's 

written prescriptior. specifying the nature of 

the medical condition requiring the 

treatment, the number of exposures and the 
time of exposure. 

Ohio Ohio Admin. under 18 Facility operators must obtain written 
Code .::i713-19- consent from a parent or legal 
09 (B) guardian before each tanning 

session (signed at the facility) that 
authorizes the number of sessions the minor 
may purchase. For that number of 
sessions, the minor may sign for 
themselves. 

Oregon OAR 333-119- under 18 People under the age of 18 must have a 
0090 (2) parent or legal guardian's signature 

authorizing their use of the device and 
stating that they understand the risks 
involved. Signature must occur before the 

tanning facility operator. 

Rhode Island 

South Carolina S.C. Code Ann. under 18 People under the age of 18 must have 

§ ch. 61, sec. written permission from a parent or 

106-4.5 guardian signed in the presence of the 

tanning faci1lty operator. 

Tennessee Tenn. Code Ann. under 14; Parents or guardians of children People under 18 must be accompanied by a 

§ 68-117-104 14-18 under 14 must accompany the parent or guardian who signs the consent 

child, sign a statement that form or present a notarized statement of 

they understand the risks, and consent and a statement of 

sign a statement defining their their relationship with the minor. 

relationship with the child. 

Texas Tex. Health and under 13; Under age 13, a physician For minors 16-17 years old, a parent must 

Safety Code 13-15; 16- must recommend it's use and a sign stating that they understand the 

Ann. § 145.008 18 parent must be present while warnings and consent to the device's use. 

the device is used. For children 

ages 13-15, a parent must be 
present at the facllity while the 

device is in use. 

Wisconsin Wis. Code Ann. under 16 No one under age 16 is permitted to use 

§ 255.08 (9)(a) tanning devices. 

Source: The Charlie Guild Melanoma Foundation and NCSL, 2006 
Note: List may not be comprehensive but is representative of the state laws that exist. NCSL appreciates additions and 

corrections. 
More Resources: Cancer Information 

© 2007 National Conference of State Legislatures, All Rights Reserved 

Denver Office: Tel: 303-364-7700 I Fax: 303-364-7800 I 7700 East First Place I Denver, CO 80230 I Map 
Washington Office: Tel: 202-624-5400 I Fax: 202-737-1069 I 444 North Capitol Street, N.W., Suite 515 I Washington, 

D.C. 20001 
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REJECT THE TAN BAN IN N.D . 
BY Tom Dennis for the Herald 
January 8, 2007 

Column: OUR OPINION 
Skiing is more dangerous. Hunting is more dangerous. Heck, youth hockey and high school football send 
many more young people to emergency rooms, by far. 
So, why are some lawmakers in Bismarck talking about preventing 16-year-olds from using tanning 
facilities? For one thing, because they can. Tanning has a Coppertone aroma of vanity about it that makes it 
harder for freedom-lovers to defend and easier for health police to attack. 
For another thing, because tanning is associated with cancer - the big C, a letter that prompts almost as 
much outrage and condemnation in modern society as a scarlet A did in years past. But in this case, the link 
between tanning and cancer shouldn't be enough for the state to step in. 
That's because skin cancer is not lung cancer, sunlight is not cigarette smoke, and smoking is not tanning. 
In other words, the evidence used to ban smoking among young people and crack down on it in public 
places isn't nearly as strong regarding the risks of getting a tan. 
• Skin cancer is not lung cancer. The Centers for Disease Control estimates 440,000 deaths each year in the 
United States are associated with smoking. In addition to lung cancer, the causes of death include heart 
disease, pulmonary disease and other illnesses aggravated by smoking. 
In contrast, "the American Cancer Society estimates there will be about 10,710 deaths from skin cancer in 
2006," the society's Web site reports. 
In North Dakota, that translates into 20 to 30 skin-cancer deaths a year. And remember, a tanning-bed law 
would help only a much smaller number - namely, those who would develop skin cancer as a result of 
visiting tanning salons as a teen. 
Is it worth restricting the freedom of tens of thousands and usurping parents' authority to maybe, possibly, 
benefit a few? 
• Sunlight is not cigarette smoke. The sunlight/skin cancer link, it turns out, is complicated. Here's how an 
MSNBC story summarized the data in August: 
"There's no doubt that sun exposure increases the rate of basal and squamous cell carcinomas .... Having 
them removed frequently can be bothersome and even disfiguring, but they almost never threaten your life. 
"With melanoma, the potentially deadly skin cancer, the role of the sun gets murkier. ... A review article in 
this week's New England Journal of Medicine concludes that the strongest risk factors for melanoma are a 
family history, multiple 'nevi' skin lesions and a previous history of the disease. Exposure to ultraviolet 
light, the harmful rays from the sun, are a more distant 'additional risk factor."' 
• Smoking is not tanning. Then, there is the recent bombshell that "a role for sunlight and vitamin D in 
cancer prevention (emphasis added) is strongly suggested by epidemiologic obserations." That's not 
MSNBC speaking; it's an editorial in the April 2006 issue of the Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 
commenting on the startling new research about vitamin D's role in human health. 
In August, a USA Today story summarized that research this way: "Even if too much sun leads to skin 
cancer, which is rarely deadly, too little sun may be worse." By the way, people in Northern climates in 
winter are said to be especially vulnerable to vitamin D deficiency. 
No, this isn't an ad for the tanning industry. lt1s a suggestion that banning teenagers from visiting salons is 
an overreaction. The state should have to clear a high bar before it restricts a free people's lawful activities; 
and in the matter of the risks of tanning salons, North Dakota's not over that bar yet. 
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NBC: What's wrong with a little sun? 
The battle over how much is too much is not about facts 
COMMENTARY 
By Robert Bazell 
Chief science and health correspondent 
NBC News 
Updated: 6:16 a.m. CT Aug 9, 2006 
The heresy: the sun can be healthy. The heretic: Dr. Michael Holick of Boston University, a seemingly gentle, 
but combative scientist-physician who studies the beneficial effects of Vitamin D, produced by our skin when 
exposed to the sun. 
Report a story about Holick's research and a reporter can expect to get - as I did - a rocket in the name of 
the president of the American Academy of Dermatology (AAD) alleging that the information endangers 
America's health. 
This battle is not about facts. 
It is more akin to arguments that erupt over advice that a drink or two of alcoholic beverages a day can help 
the heart. If we give those who are addicted an excuse, the argument goes, we're handing them a ticket to 
excess. 
To understand the debate, one must appreciate the AAD's enormous success in recent years persuading 
Americans to either avoid the sun altogether or to slather on a lot of sun block if they can't. Then, along 
comes Holick alleging that the campaign has gone overboard leaving millions of Americans Vitamin D 
deficient. 
Not long ago medical wisdom held that Vitamin D deficiency only matters if severe enough to produce rickets, 
a horrible disintegration of the bones seen in children living in severe poverty. But research by Holick and 
others in recent years proves that Vitamin D plays a key role in avoiding osteoporosis, the bone thinning that 
often occurs with aging. 
In addition, every cell and tissue in the body requires Vitamin D so a lack of it can increase the risk for 
conditions including heart disease, breast and prostate cancer and high blood pressure. 
Many experts now say we need at least 1,000 international units a day of Vitamin D, and it is almost 
impossible to ingest that much from the typical American diet. Large doses of supplements or moderate sun 
exposure are the alternatives. One can argue the sun is the far more natural alternative . 
Even Holick's critics agree his science is sound. But that did not stop the dermatologists from pressuring him 
to resign from the Dermatology Department at Boston University. (He remains on the faculty in the 
endocrinology department). 
"The concern," argues Dr. Thomas Kupper, a dermatologist at Brigham and Women's Hospital who speaks for 
the AAD, is that if "people hear 10 or 15 minutes is OK, then a little more is better and then 30 to 40 minutes 
becomes an hour and then an hour-and-a-half." 
Holick's response: "They're promoting abstinence and abstinence campaigns usually don't work." 
The argument gets even trickier when we consider how dangerous the sun really is. There is no doubt that sun 
exposure increases the rate of basal and squamous cell carcinomas. These are called skin cancer. Having 
them removed frequently can be bothersome and even disfiguring, but they almost never threaten your life. 
Murky role 
With melanoma, the potentially deadly skin cancer the role of the sun gets murkier. Research also shows that 

people who build up and maintain a constant tan such as those who work outdoors are less at risk from 
melanoma than those who get sudden, rapid exposure. A history of sunburns can be especially dangerous. 
A review article in this week's New England Journal of Medicine concludes that the strongest risk factors for 
melanoma are a family history, multiple "nevi" skin lesions that can become melanoma, and a previous history 
of the disease. Exposure to ultraviolet light, the harmful rays from the sun are a more distant "additional risk 
factor." People often get melanoma on parts of the body never exposed to the sun. 
Scientists are elucidating the specific genes that make up that family history. Just last week researchers from 
the National Cancer Institute, and other institutions, reported in the journal Science that inherited variations 
in a gene called MClR can increase a person's risk for melanoma up to 17-fold. In the not too distant future, 
we may have blood tests to reveal who is truly at risk for melanoma from sun exposure. 
Meanwhile, there is no escaping the data proving a little bit of skin exposure is actually beneficial - no matter 
what the dermatologists say. 
© 2006 MSNBC Interactive© 2006 MSNBC Interactive 
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My name is Paula Brosseau. I am a 35 year old married, mother of2 young boys in elementary school. 

I was recently diagnosed with multiple abnormal skin lesions and melanoma. I contribute my skin condition 
to, among other things, patronizing tanning salons during my teens. I now take extraordinary precautions to 
avoid long term exposure to sunlight. My husband accuses me of contently following my boy's and 
applying too much sunscreen to their exposed skin during the summer months. 

I agree with Senator Kilzer'• proposed legislation to make it illegal for those 16 and younger to use the 
services of a tanning salon. I don't believe that those in their teens are capable of understanding the 
implications of increased exposure to ultraviolet rays. Quite frankly, I personally feel that those under 30 
years of age are incapable of such logic either, but I can't do anything about that. 

Thank you for the opportunity to express my short but heart-felt opinion with this letter. 

Sinceret?cw¼ 

Paula Brosseau 
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The World Health Organization recommends that no 
person under 18 should use a sunbed 

Today, the World Health Organization (WHO) is highlighting that sunbed use poses a risk of skin 
cancer, and that no person under 18 years of age should use a sun bed. It is known that young people 
who get burnt from exposure to UV will have a greater risk of developing melanoma later in life, 
ancl recent studies demonstrate the direct link between the use of sunbeds and cancer. 

WHO highlights its recommendations as many people, especially young women in developed 
countries, prepare to get a tan in anticipation of summer. 

Worldwide, WHO says, there are an estimated 132 000 cases of malignant melanoma (the most 
dangerous form of skin cancer) annually, and an estimated 66 000 deaths from malignant melanoma 
and other skin cancers. These figures continue to rise: in Norway and Sweden, the annual incidence 
rate for melanoma is estimated to have more than tripled in the last 45 years, while, in the United 
States, the rate has doubled in the last 30 years. Growth in the use of sunbeds, combined with the 
desire and fashion to have a tan, are considered to be the prime reasons behind this fast growth in 
skin cancers. 

Worldwide, the incidence of melanoma varies more than 150-fold. The highest rates are found 
mainly in those nations where people are fairest-skinned and where the sun tanning culture is 
strongest: Australia, New Zealand, North America and northern Europe. One in three cancers 
worldwide is skin-related; in the United States, that figure is one in two. There are an estimated 1.1 
million annual cases of skin cancer in the United States. 

"There has been mounting concern over the past several years that people and in particular, 
teenagers are using sunbeds excessively to acquire tans which are seen as socially desirable. 
However, the consequence of this sun bed usage has been a precipitous rise in the number of skin 
cancer cases," said Dr Kerstin Leitner, WHO Assistant Director-General responsible for 
environmental health. "We are therefore calling attention to this fact and we would hope that this 
recommendation will inspire regulatory authorities to adopt stricter controls on the usage of 
sunbeds. 11 

Some sunbeds have the capacity to emit levels of ultraviolet (UV) radiation many times stronger 
than the mid-day summer sun in most countries. At present, however, only a few countries have 
effective regulations on sunbeds or their use. Belgium, France and Sweden have legislation, limiting 
the maximum proportion ofUV-B (the most dangerous component of UV radiation) in the UV 
output to 1.5% (a similar level of the carcinogenic UV that is emitted by the sun). In France the 
regulations require all UV radiation-emitting appliances to be declared to the health authority, 
minors under the age of 18 are banned from their use, trained personnel must supervise all 
commercial establishments and any claim of health benefit is forbidden. The State of California in 
the United States prohibits anyone under I 8 from using sunbeds/tanning salons. Often, however, 
effective implementation of regulations remains a challenging issue. WHO encourages countries to 



formulate and reinforce laws in order to better control the use of sunbeds such as the ban of all 
unsupervised sunbeds operations. 

Some of the main consequences of excess UV exposure include skin cancers, eye damage and 
premature skin ageing. A study in Norway and Sweden, for example, found a significant increase in 
the risk of malignant melanoma among women who had regularly used sunbeds. Furthermore, 
excessive UV exposure can reduce the effectiveness of the immune system, possibly leading to a 
greater risk of infectious diseases. 

Acute effects of UV radiation on the eye include cataracts, pterygium (a white coloured growth over 
the cornea) and innammations of the eye such as photokeratitis and photoconjunctivitis. This is why 
protective goggles are recommended when using a sunbed. 

Only in very rare and specific cases, WHO counsels, should medically-supervised sunbed use be 
considered. Medical UV devices successfully treat certain skin conditions such as dermatitis and 
psoriasis. These treatments should only be conducted under qualified medical supervision in an 
approved medical clinic and not unsupervised either in commercial tanning premises or at home 
using a domestic sunbed. 

WHO's recommendation on sun bed usage is part of its overall efforts to protect the health of those 
people who could be overexposed to UV radiation. WHO, along with its partners, the International 
Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection, the United Nations Environment Programme 
and the World Meteorological Organization, have elaborated the Global Solar UV Index, which is 
now used in many countries including Argentina, Australia, Czech Republic, Finland, France, 
Germany, Greece, Israel, Mexico, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and Switzerland, and 
has recently been adopted for general usage in the United States and Canada. 

"In all of our actions, we are clear: avoid excess exposure to UV and, when you have to be in the 
sun, protect your skin. Malignant melanomas, other cancers and conditions are the consequence of 
not taking the proper precautions," added Dr Leitner. 

For more information contact: 

Gregory Hartl 
Telephone: +41 22 791 4458 
Email: lrnrtl 0 r?tlwho.int 



You th Access Laws 

I 11 I he Dark al the Tanning Parlor? 

Rohcrt P. Dellavalle, MD, PhD; Eva R. Parker, MD; Nancy Cersonshy, MD; Eric]. fiesta, MD; 
L/rng,g, Hrnw1c, JD; Dione L. Hurhharclt, JD; Alan K. Chen, JD; Lisa M. Schilling, 1\1D 

Oblectlves To compare laws governing youth access to 
L.:v it radiation at indoor tanning facilities with laws gov
erning ynuth access to tobacco. 

Re1ulta1 The 5 English-speaking countries with com
mon law-based legal systems unilaterally prohibit 
youth access to tobacco but rarely limit you1h access 
to UV irradiation from tanning salons. Only very lim
ited regions in the United States and Canada prohibit 
youth access to indoor tanning facilities: Texas, Illi
nois, Wisconsin, and New Brunswick prohibit tanning 
salon use by minors younger than 13, 14, 16, and 18 
years, respectively. In conirast, Prench law allows 
minors to purchase tobacco but prohibits those 
younger than 18 years from patronizing tanning 
salons. 

Design: Tnbacrn and UV irradiation youth access laws 
wnc assc.<.scd via correspondence wiLh public hc,tllh of
fices :ind compulcrizcd legal scarchl'S of 6 in<lustrializc<l 
11;11i,)ns wilh \Videly differing skin cancer incidence ralcs. 

Settings National, provincial, and state legal srstems in 
.-\u:-,n:dia, C:m:1da, France, New Zeatand, the United King
dom. and the United States. 

Participants: Puhlic heahh, legal, information sci
c11n'.. ,111d medical professionals ,rn<l government and tan-
11ing industry rcpresrntativcs. 

Conclualona, Youth access laws governing indoor tan
ning display renrnrkahle variety. Uniform indoor tan
ning youth access laws modeled on 1he example of to
bacco youth access laws merit considenition. 

Main Outcome Meat1ura11 Statutes specifying age re
~\ rictions for Lhc purchase of indoor Lanning services or 
1nhal'co products. Arch Dermawl. 2003; 139:443-448 

i·,0111 1/1c D,:l'u1fmc11i of 
\-',·1..r<1H~ i\_fJi.1i1 ~ ,\kilicul Ct·nw 
I /l1 f,ld/m·,d/<'), 1.JcpMJ111c111~ of 
/),-r1nllwlo,1;y (JJrs Udl,1v.1/le, 
l'tJ1 !1,·1, Co.~,1n.~l1y. a11d 
H,·,1,·rJ, Pi,·1,·111iv1· ,\k,licin,· 
011d /!i,1111<'/li(\ (Dt fklltn'dllt·), 
u11d ,\1cdirnH' (D, Sd1il/i11i:,), 
L'nn ,T.,i1y oj Co/11rmltJ 5(/Jool 
n[ ,\tedicin<, <1rrd llHiw,·sily of 
!Jc11l'r1· Co/11.'.~i: of Luw 
(.\h1 //,·mm,· mid /3urhhmd1 
,111,/ ,\r,- Ch,•nl. /Jerne1. C,,lo. 
f!i.· £111d111r., /1avc no rd,:vwu 
/JJ1,111ciu/ in!r'fnl in 1/iis ar1ick. 

T 
HE NUMBER of minors us
ing tanning devices is sur
prisingly large and increas
ing. The $5 billion tanning 
salon industry counts more 

than 2.3 million teenagers among its es
timated North Amcrirnn consumer base 
of 28 million. u Seu dies assessing indoor 
1a1111ing by minors in the past decade con
f'irm widcsprca<l use: In 1991. 34% of I 008 
suburban :vtinnesota high school stu
drnts reported using commercial tan
ning facililies (lifetime prevalence of 51 % 
for girls and 15% for boys). 3 Fifty-seven 
pen:elll of 1252 Swedish students age<l be
l \.vcen 14 and l 0 years rept1rte<l sunbc<l use 
4 or more times during the previous year.~ 
In the US Midwest, 12.5% of female 17-
lO 19-ycar-ol<ls answering lclephonc ques
tionnaires in 1994 reported using indoor 
wnning devices 6 or more times in the past 
)'Car.1 ln 1998, a US population-based tele
phone survey found that 10% of children 

aged 11 to 18 years reported using tan
ning sunlamps in the previous year.6 And 
in 1999, a large US cross-sectional study 
using self-reported questionnaires found 
nearly 10% of respondents aged 12 to l8 
years reported using a tanning bed in the 
previous year. 7 

See also pages 
436 and 520 

While teenagers may seek indoor tan
ning because tanned skin is portrayed so
cially as beau1iful and healthy, indoor tan
ning equipment may cause cutaneous and 
ocular hums, immune system suppres
sion, pol)'morphous light crup1ions, and 
drug- and cosme1ic-induced phornsensi
tivity.11·11 A recent US case-control study 
has demonstrated a significant associa
lion of any use of tanning devices with in
creased skin cancer incidence: squamous 
cell carcinoma odds ratio (OR), 2.5 (95% 
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A, Distribution o! 1obacco youth access laws: Red indicates areas where the 
purchase of tobacco by minors younger than a specified age is prohibited. 
Green indicates areas where lobacco purchase by minors is unrestricted. 
B, Distribution of UV irradiation youth access laws: Red indicates areas 
where the use of indoor tanning facilities by minors younger than a specified 
age is prohibited. Yellow indicates areas where written guardian consent or 
uuarclian accompaniment is required for the use of indoor tanning facll!ties 
by minors younger than a specified age. Green indicates areas where indoor 
ianning facility use by minors is not restricted. 

t"ll11!hk11cc inlcr\'al [Cl], l.7-3.A): basal cell carcinoma 
Cl R, I. 5 (t)5t};1 Cl, 1.1-2.1 ). 11 Tanning device use has also 
hc1·n implicated in increasing melanoma risk, 1H 7 de
~pitc mcdiodnlogical challenges encountered in associ
;11 ing t,u111i11g Jevicc use and mclanoma. u \Vhile the dan
.~('.I'~ 1)1' i11door LV irrndiation and tiutdoM UV exposure 
arc difficult to compctrc, indoor ianning readily pro
duce~ DNA mutation and burns, and may involve cquip-
111rnt tha1 emit.s levels of LV-A radiation up w \0 times 
h i~llL'r tlu11 thosl'. uccurring in natural sunlight. i-1.ltl.l" Since 
yl1111h ban l'Sjl('.Cially critical perind during which UV 
1r1·~1d1ation 1nnt'ast·s skin cancer risk, 11 ·21)· 21 altering the 

tanning behavior of minors is an important goal in dis
ease prcvention. 11 ,1.I,!! 

Laws protecting the health and safety of children re
nect changing societal allitudes. As an example, child la
bor laws in the United States first emerged in the mid-
19th century, but these laws \vere not widespread until 
the early 1900s :md were not effectively enforced until 
lhe mid-20th century. 2l.H The US rcguhuion of tobacco 
sales to minors has similarly evolved, culminating with 
a 1992 federal law rc4uiring each state to ban the sale of 
tohact:o to minors as a condition for receiving fe<lernl 
grants for substance abuse prevention and treatmentY 
Pursuant to that law, all US states ban the sale of to
bacco to minorsY' Unlike indoor tanning youth access 
laws, tobacco youth access laws have been extensively 
studied and chronicled. 26 The aim of the present study 
was to assess youth access laws for indoor tanning and 
to compare these with tobacco youth access laws. 

MrTIIODS 

The search for youth ,1ccrss laws focused on English-speaking 
industrialized nations with common law-based legal systems 
and well-developed legal information networks but widely 
divergent skin cancer rates. The French legal sys{cm was 
included to illustrate the contrast ihat French yc1uth access 
laws provide (Figure). Youth access laws were assessed via 
( l) computerized searches of Internet information sources 
and legal clmabases; (2) correspondence. with regional health 
departments and ministries, professional societies, and tan
ning industry representatives; and (3) verifiable information 
canvassed from attendees of scientific meetings where pre
limim1ry search results were presented in roster format. 

For the computr.ri:ed search, we used 1he propricrnry le
gal search engines LEXIS, WESTLA W, and CCINFOWEB: the 
Internet search engines Yahoo! and Google; an<l the tem1s "tan
ning," "sunbed," "solarium," "radiation," ~tanning or 'indoor 
tanning' w/s (minor or child or parent}," and "skin care.~ Le
gal informatic1n l'rnm government and other relevant Weh 
site!'i was compiled independently hy 4 of the authors and 
compared. lnfornrntion was also requested from the hc,1\th 
depanments of all US states, Canadian provinces, and other 
organizations and individuals, including the American Acad
emy uf Dermatology, the British Association of Dermatolo
gists, the Indoor Tanning Association, the North American 
1\lliam:e of Tanning Salon Owners, International Smart Tan 
Network, law firms representing the tanning industry, and 
attendees of 1hc 62nd Annual Meeting of the Society for 
Investigative Dermatology, May 9-12, 2001, Washington, DC, 
an<l the Sixth Annual Meeting 1)f the Dermatoepidemiology 
Association, June 9-11, 2001. Noordwidjkerhout, the Nether
lands, where preliminary legal search results were presented 
as posters. A list of Weh sites used in th.c darn collection 
appears at the end of this article. Acccssihility to all \Veh sites 
was verified on February 7, 2003. 

Computerized searches for information on enforcement 
plans for youth access indoor tanning rcgulati(ms used the natu
ral language (non-Boolenn) function of WEST LAW for tht'. terms 
"tanning parlors," "salons," "regulations," "minors," "youth ac
cess," "parental consent forms," "penalties," "enforcement," 
"s1ing operations," and "undercover oprra1ions.'' This search 
was done in the AU.NEWSPLUS databasr, the broadest avail
able news database in WESTLAW, and repeated with Yahoo! 
anJ Coogk search engines. Statutes rcg:1rding whaccD youth 
access l.iws were accessed using the s;unc search engines anJ 
the Bnolcan search rhrase "(tobacco or smokO w/s minor." 
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• 
• RESUl.rS 

The purclrnsc of tohacco products by minors is heavily re
:-.lriL'Lt.:<l in aH regions of Lhc 5 English-speaking countries 
hu1 not in France (Figure, A). Our search rcconfim1ed pre
\'ious nndings26 thal all 50 stales in lhe United Stales and 
most regions of the other surveyed nations prohibit the pur
L·h:lSl' llf tobacco products hy those younger than 18 years. 
Purchasers of tobacco must he at least 16 years old in the 
L:n11cd Kingdom and 19 in Alaska, Alabama, Urnh, and the 
Canadian provinces of Ontario and British Columbia. 

In contrast to tohact.:o youth access laws, only f"rance 
,1rnl li1ni1ec.l rrgitins of the GnitcJ. States and Canada pro
hihit youth access ll1 indoor tanning (Figure. B). Since 
1997. France has prohibited the use of ianning facilities 
hy tlhist· younger than 18 years. 27 ln the United States, 
1>nly 3 s1:1tt·s, Wisconsin, Illinois, and Texas, prohibit tan
ning parlor use by those younger than l 6, l 4, and l 3 years, 
1T~l1L'Cl i\'t'.iy. Eighteen states and 3 counties within 2 ad
ditional sratcs require written guardian O1nse111 for tecn
:1g1: minors t1r various ages to use indonr tanning facili
tic-;. Eight llf the l8 slates requiring guardian consent 
,1dditionally require guardian :1ccompaniment of chil
dren youngcr than either I-+ nr If> years Lo the tanning 
!acility (Table 1 ). !11 2002, Tennessee enacted legisla
tiini requiring notarized guardian sigrnllures on consent 
1·\lnns if parents are not present with the minor at the tan
ning foci!ity. Higher ~onscnt standards are required of 
thl' mccJical profession. Medical treatment of those 
younger than 18 years with artificial UV irradialion for 
;;kin disc;:tse such as psoriasis or cutaneous T-cell lym
ph1lllHl requires guardian consenl for therapy in all US 
states except Louisiana.!t. 

Nn11c11mpliance with statutes governing youth 
access 10 indoor tanning is generally considered a 
111isdnnc,u10r punishable by fines up to $2000 and/or in
cnrcrration up to 60 days and may result in revocation 
()fa 1an11ing facility's license (see http://www.uchsc 
cdu/tanning/index.htm). Georgia and Texas impose the 
l1arshcs1 nimi m,l prrrnlt ies, allowing for incarceration for 
ur to I yc:u for vendor noncompliance, while Texas and 
SllUth C:1rnlina allow the highest civil pcnallies, up to 
S21llll0. No l'.nforcement plans for incloor tanning youth 
clCtTS-" laws were found. 

Only I province in Canada Um its lanning facility ac
e~·-,:-; hy minors: New flrunswick prohihits tanning facility 
tht' h)' thtN'. younger than 18years (Figure, B; Table l ). The 
l 111 tt·d r.: indgl1m has 1H1 existing hiws re~tricLing minorac
n·s.-- io tanning salons. Similarly, New Zealand and Austra
lt;i haw no restrictiuns on minors' access to tanning salons, 
:111d I lwsc cm1ntriL'S haVL' the highest rates of melanoma and 
tH1nn1L·la11nma skin rnnccr of those surveyed (male age
:1d_justd melanoma incidence rate per 100000 person-years: 
·\usu;,lia, 40.5: New Zealand, 36.7; United States, 13.3; 
C.uuda, f-1.2; France, 6.ll United Kingdom, 3.8).2

'1 

The Australian Surndan1 for Solaria recommends a 
minimum age of 18 yc,irs for Lanning facilily use with
lllll parc111;.il consent and a minimum age of 15 years with 
p;1rcn1a\ cunsenl.w However, unlike youth aL:cess laws, 
tht'Sl' rl'rommcn<l:itions arc voluntar)' and carry no pcn
:1!1 ti~:-. for nonrnmp!iancc. Li kcwisc, several European na-
111111-. (Spain, Germany, and Sweden) and international 

organizations have adopted or are considering age limit 
recommendations for tanning device use, (cg, the Euro
pean Society of Skin Cancer Prevention [\vww.euroskin 
.org], the International Commission on Nonionizing Ra
diation Protection [www.icnirp.de], the International 
Electrotechnical Commission [www.icc.ch], and lhe Eu
ropean Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization 
[ www.cenelec.be]). See http://www.uchsc.edu/tanning 
/index.htm for legal updates and funher details. 

_____ _,_;•&MIIH -'-------
More than l 00 years ago, unrevealing fashions and shadc
se.eking behavior routinely limited UV radiation exposure 
for most of the population. Many credit French fashion de
signer Coco Chanel for making tan skin chic in the l 920s. 11 

Throughoul the 20th cenlUry, skin cancer incidence has 
increased, rdlccting the populurity of revealing fashions and 
the increased sun-seeking behavior allowed by incre,1std 
leisure time, outdoor activity, and travc\. 12 

Tobacco youth access resLrictions arc surprisingly old: 
by 1890, 26 US states had banned the sale of tnbacco to 
minors. 33 By contrast, indoor tanning regulations arc few 
and recent: in 2003 only 3 states ban younger suhseL'i of 
minors from patronizing tanning salons despite widely ac
cepted evidem:e that youth is the most critical period for 
UV exposure elevating skin cancer risk.8 Why several re
cent attempts to increase regulation of youth access to in
door 1anning have met with severe compromiseH and de~ 
feat (Table 2) deserves further analysis. 

The disparity between indoor tanning and tobacco 
youth access laws might be explained by several factors: 
( l) the relatively small morbidi1y and mortality of Janning 
compared with smoking; (2) the less addictive nature of 
tanning compared with tobacco use; (3) the novelty of the 
tanning industry (starting in the l970s):and (-+) the lack 
of puhlicity oft he carcinogenic properties of UV irradia
tion (eg, no US Surgeon General warning on the hazards 
of indoor tanning). Nonetheless many parallels between 
tobacco use anti indoor tanning are evident: ( l)Just as 1he 
10bacco industry had no standard on a minimum age for 
tohacco use until recently, the tanning industry has no stan
dard on a minimum age for indoor tanning. (2) The to

bacco and Indoor tanning industries each represent ma
jor business incerests that have derived financial benefits 
from allowing minors unlimited access to their carcino
genic products. (3) Just as 1he wbacco industry developed 
before science demonstrated the harm of smoking, the tan
ning industry also has evolved ahead of recent research 
showing harm. ( 4) Adverse effects of smoking and UV ir
radiation, inclmling cancer, may emerge only after decades 
and in only a subset of users. Thus, multiple parallel fac
tors may serve as barriers to the introduction of youth 
access regulations for these carcinogens. 

While tobacco vouth access laws remain controver
sial public health n;easures,35 such laws have been re
ported lo effectively aid reducing teen smoking up to 
40%_ i~ Youth access restrictions may prove even more 
effec1ive for indoor tanning than for smoking for the fol
lowing reasons: ( 1) Many underage smokers obtain ciga
rc11es from parents, friends, and strangers or by ,heft, 
whereas similar social sources for indoor ~anning do not 
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Table 1. Age Restrictions on Tanning Bed Users 

Parent Musi Accompany Chlld Must Present Written 
location Child' Parenlal Consent• Statute 

Countries 
France No use tor those < 18 No use for those <18 Deere 97-617, www.tegifrance.gouv.fr/ 

hlml/lrame_lo!s_reglt.htm 

Canadian Provinces 
New Brunswick No use tor those <18 No use for those < 18 New Brunswick Reg 92-12 under the 

Radiological Health Protection Act 
(1992) 

us States 
California <14 14-17. CAL BUS & PROF COOE §22706(b)(3) 

and (41(1997) 
Florida <14 14-17 FLA STAT ANN Chap 381 .89 (1998). 
Georgia Not required <18 GA CODE ANN §31-38-8 (1996) 
Illinois No use for those <14 14-17 Ill ADMIN CODE Title_77. 

§795.190(c)(2001 I 
Indiana < 16 < 16 lNO CODE ANN §25-8-15.4-15 to 

-16 (1999) and IND AOMIN CODE 
TIiie 820, §5-1-31 (2000) 

Louisiana < 14 14-17 LA REV STAT ANN §40:2714_ (1992) 
Maine Not required < 18 COOE ME R 10' W Chap 223, 

§12.A(3)(!) (1996) 
Massachusetts <14 14-17 MASS GEN LAWS ANN Chap 111 

§21_1 (1996) and MASS REGS CODE 
rnre 105, §123.003(0)(2) (2DD1) 

Mictiigan < 14 <18 MICH COMP LAWS ANN §333.134D7 
(Supp 2001) 

Minneso1a Not required <16 MINN STAT ANN §325H.08 (1995) 
Mississippi Not required <16 MISS REG 80TAA.12(c) (5) (1989) 
North Carolina Not required <18 NC ADMIN CODE Title 15A, 

§11.1418(2001) 
Ohio Nol required <18 OHIO ADMIN CODE §4713-19-09(6) 

(2001) 
Oregon Not required <18 OR ADMIN R 333-119-0090 (2) (2000) 
Rhode Island Not required <18 RI CODER 23-68-TAN, §9.5 (1998) 
South Carolina Not required <18 SC CODE ANN REGS 61-106-4.5 (2001) 
Tennessee <14 14· 17, parent must TENN CODE ANN §68-117-104 (3). (4) 

accompany to sign (1996); SENATE BILL 2030, HOUSE 
consent or a notarized BILL 3121 (2002) 
signature ts required 

Texas No use for those <13; 16-17 TEX HEALTH & SAFETY CODE ANN 
parental accompaniment §145.008(1, g) (2001)'. 
required lor those 13-15 

Wisconsin No use for those <16 No consent required for WIS CODE ANN §255.06 (9)(a) (1999) 
those >16 

US Countll!s 
Montgomery County, Maryland <18 

Salt Lake and Utah counties, Utah Not required 

• Numbers represent ages in years 

l'.\h1. C) Indoor tanning requires significamly more time 
,rnd 111\l'nH·ti(lll between vendor and buyer than does pur
ch,1si11g 1nbacco, which leaves both parties to an indoor 
1:111ni11~ 1ru11sac1inn morl' exposed Lo law enforcement. 
: n l'r,dl"ssional tanning organizations may adopt poli-
1·11·--- to p1nrnn1c the integrity of the tanning industry by 
li111H111~ yuuth :icccss, while no similar professional to· 

h.i(ui \'l"IHlor associatinns exist. 
L:ndcr thl' !aw, minors require ,1dult guidance in 

111any areas \lf aciivuy hecausc Lht:'y ha\'e yet to obtain 

Parent must accompany MONTGOMERY COUNTY CODES, 
child <18 §51A·13 (b)(3) (1989) 

<17 SALT LAKE CITY-COUNTY, UTAH, Health 
Regulatlori No. 2s, Commercial 
Tanning Facilitles, §7.3(F) (1986); 
UTAH COUNTY, UTAH, Commercial 
Tanning Regu!atlon 99-01 (1999) 

fu!l aulOnom}' and decision-making capacity. Without re• 
strict ions, youth may accepl the risk-taking behavior of 
tanning without weighing \ong•term health risks. At a 

minimum. uniform youth access restrictions on to
bacco and indoor UV irradiation will reinforce public 
heal ch education on these carcinogens, spur research on 
the efficacy of these measures, an<l call auention to the 
importance of improving compliancc . .1 7 \Vhile youth ac• 
cess laws in isolation may fail, the addition of other proven 
carcinogen control strategics, including taxes, educa-
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Table 2. Recently Defeated Legislation Proposing Restrictions on Youth Access to Indoor UV lrradlallon 

State · BIii 

Missouri House Bill 66, 91 st General Assembly {introduced January 3, 2001), would have required a person younger than 14 years 
to be accompanied by a parent or legal guardian when using a tanning device. It would also have required persons 
between the ages of 14 and 1a·years to pro\'ide the written consent ol a parent or legal guardian .. , . 

New York Assembly Bill 3234, 224th Annual Legislative SesSion (inlr0~uced Jahuary 30, ·2001 ). would Have requir'ed the parent or 
legal guardian ot a person younger thiin 18 years to sign the warning stalement already requlrec1 for customers ol 
tanning facilities. ' · '· 

Pennsylv<1nia Senate Bill 783, 185th General Assembly (introduced April 5, 2001) would have required persons younger than 18 years 
to provide the written consent of a parent or legal guardian before using tanning facilities. House Bill 795 (introduced 
February 20, 2001) would have required persons between the ages of 14 and 18 years to provide a parent's or 
guardian's written consent and would also have required persons 14 years or younger to be accompanied by a parent 
or guardian when using a tanning device. · 

1i1ln. and media campaigns, may rnpidly lower youth in
door tanning rates. 

Our sl'arch uncovered no plans for enforcement of 
i11do(lr tanning youth access laws. Enforcement deci
:>iPn..; arc generally not publidy rcponcd and may be made 
,in ,1 case-by-case basis. S1a1e and local officials' deci
:--il)ns alirHII how and when to enforce laws are largely sub
JCCI 1t1 the discretion of the relevant officials wi1ose de
cisions may in turn be constrained hy budgetary and 
p<ilitical implications. Nonetheless, the recent arrest and 
jailing nr Eve Hibbils for allowing her children to bc
rnn1t: sunburned at an Ohio County fair38 may set pre
l'l'dcnl fnr the prosecution of those allowing or facilitat
ing Lhl' UV burning of minors . 

One criticism of youth access laws is that changes 
in behavior cannot be legislated. Hmvever, enacting youth 
<lL'rt·ss indnor wnning l,nvs mar spark societal changes 
that fl1ster hchaviornl change. Such changes have been 
illus.;1ratcd by 1he cnac\lnent of seal helt legislation. The 
lilt~· lifscat bch use in the United States, only 10% lO 15% 
in ! he early I 9B0s, increased to approximately 70% fol
lo\\'ill,I.; the cmKtmcnt and l'nforcernent nf mandatory scat 
bcl1 use laws and public education campaigns. 3

~,
4

~ This 
example demonstrates that legislation may influence cul
wral attitudt·s toward risk-taking hehavior and effec
tive!r impact public health. 

Societal attitudes toward tan skin, like societal at
titude~ toward smoking in airplanes :rnd restaurants or 
drinking alcoholic beverages and driving, are malleable. 
~urwys in Australia have shown that the social appeal 
ol" t<lll ~l<in decreased following skin cancer education and 
p1 r:vcntion campaigns.~ 1 This· fluctu:llion highlights the 
lll'.ccl io examine the efficacy of current youth access tan
n i n,i.t restrictions where such laws exist. The present study 
pnl\'ide~ a starting point for a rc.gularlr updated Inter
net refcrcnc-c on indoor tanning youth access laws. \Ve 
ill\ ill' submission 10 the :iulhors of any missed indoor 
ta11 ni ng rout h ,1ccess regulations, especially city, county, 
,111d other lorn\ nrdinances. These submissions will be in
dcpcntkn!ly verified and posted at http://www.uchsc.edu/ 
t ,1 n n ing/i ndc:x. ht m. 

By limiting mi1wrs' access to tanning s.1lons, we ac
L:n1n,·!l'.dge that Sl'rking UV radiation l'xposure is a car
r11H1gt:11ic hcha\'ior that should he carefully consi<lcrcJ 
111 illi:;; vulnnahlc pnrul,ninn. Instituting uniform age re
.,tnnion.-; ,,·ill hinder :ind discourage casual, unin-
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formed exposure to UV ra<lialion by minors at tanning 
facilities and will serve as a small but imponant step w
ward reversing the rising tide of skin cancer and other 
UV radiation-associated disease. 

In an effort to curh smoking among minors, the 
French Senate on February 11, 2003, approved a bill to 
ban the sale of cigarettes to children younger than 16 years. 
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Objectives. To describe the association of sunscreen use, sunburning, and tanning bed use 
by age, sex, residence, and psychosocial variables associated with tan-seeking behaviors, 
and to compare these findings with sun protection recommendations from federal 
agencies and cancer organizations. 

. .- ( Comment [Ul]: 
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Methods. A cross-sectional study, from all 50 states, of 10079 boys and girls 12 to 18 
years of age in 1999. Data were collected from self-report questionnaires with the 
children of the participants from the Nurses Health Study (Growing Up Today Study). 

Results. The prevalence of sunscreen use was 34.4% with girls more likely to use 
sunscreen than boys (40.0 vs 26.4, odds ratio: 1.86; 95% confidence interval: 1.70-2.03). 
Eighty-three percent of respondents had at least I sunburn during the previous summer, 
and 36% had 3 or more sunburns. Nearly I 0% of respondents used a tanning bed during 
the previous year. Girls were far more likely than boys to report tanning bed use (14.4 vs 
2.4), and older girls (ages 15-18) were far more likely than younger girls (ages 12-14) to 
report tanning bed use (24.6% vs 4.7). Tanning bed use increased from 7% among 14-
year-old girls to 16% by age 15, and more than doubled again by age 17 (35%; N- 244), 
Multivariate analysis demonstrated that attitudes associated with tanning, such as the 
preference for tanned skin, having many friends who were tanned, and belief in the worth 
of burning to get a tan, were generally associated with sporadic sunscreen use, more 
frequent sunburns, and increased use of tanning beds. 

Conclusions. Our findings suggest that many children are at subsequent risk of skin 
cancer because of suboptimal sunscreen use, high rates of sunburning, and tanning bed 
use. Recommendations in the United States for improved sun protection and avoidance of 
tanning beds and sunburning, which began in the early 1990s, have been primarily 
unheeded. Nationally coordinated campaigns with strong policy components must be 
developed and sustained to prevent skin cancer in a new generation of children and 
adolescents. 

Key Words: melanoma• skin cancer prevention • children • epidemiology 

Abbreviations: UV, ultraviolet• GUTS, Growing Up Today Study• NHS 11, Nurses' 
Health Study II• SPF, Sun Protection Factor; OR, odds ratio• CI, confidence interval 
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Results from epidemiologic studies have shown that sun exposure is the major 



environmental risk factor for the development of both melanoma and nonmelanoma skin 
cancers.'-· It has been estimated that ultraviolet (UV) radiation from the sun is 
responsible for at least 65% of the melanoma cases worldwide:' It has been suggested that 
limiting sun exposure during childhood and adolescence, through the use of sunscreen, 
cou Id reduce the lifetime risk of developing nonmelanoma skin cancers by as much as 
78%.' 

Although skin cancers are rare in individuals under the age of 20, there is evidence to 
support a role of sun exposure during early life and subsequent risk of skin cancer during 
adulthood.'·-'' Furthermore, patterns of sun exposure seem to be important in the 
development of these cancers, specifically intermittent sun exposure received during the 
critical periods of childhood and adolescence.''·'" 

The effects of sun exposure during early life are important because most of an 
individual's exposure occurs during childhood and adolescence.''·" Children spend an 
estimated 2.5 to 3 hours outdoors each day"·" and may receive 3 times more annual UV
B rays than adults, because they have a greater opportunity for midday sun exposure 
during the summer months. 1

•
1
•
1
·' Health behaviors, includin& unprotected sun exposure, are 

established early in life and may "track" into adulthood."'·'' Furthermore, there is some 
evidence to suggest that primary prevention programs to reduce sun exposure are 
beginning to have a beneficial effect on reducing skin cancer in younger age cohorts." 

Recent recommendations from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the 
American Cancer Society, the American Academy of Dermatology, the Environmental 
Protection Agency, and the Skin Cancer Foundation, among others, have called for 
increased use of sun protection, minimizing sunburns, and avoiding tanning beds. 1 

"-
21 

The purpose of the current study was to assess adherence to these new recommendations, 
and to examine the relationship between sunscreen use, sunburning, and tanning bed use 
by demographics and psychosocial correlates related to tan-seeking. We hypothesized that 
adolescents were not adopting these recommendations and that tan-seeking behaviors 
were related to noncompliance. In addition, we hypothesized that tan-seeking behaviors, 
including use of tanning beds, would be more prevalent among female adolescents. This 
is the first study to jointly examine sunscreen use, sunburning, and tanning bed use in US 
children. 

► METHODS 
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Study Population and Survey Methods 
In the current study, we analyzed the findings from white 
preadolescents and adolescents aged 12 to 18 years. Because children 
of nonwhite races have a far lower risk of skin cancer and sunburn, 
the focus of this study was on white children. 

The Growing Up Today Study (GUTS} is a longitudinal study that 
was established in 1996 and originally involved the children and 
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adolescent offspring of women participating in the Nurses' Health Study II (NHS II}. 
NHS II is a national longitudinal cohort study of I 16 671 female nurses, established in 
I 989. Letters were first sent to the approximately 40 000 women who participated in NHS 
II and who had indicated that they had a child between 9 and 14 years of age. Mothers 
who gave permission for their child to participate provided each child's name, age, 
gender, and address. These 25 000 children then were sent a packet including a letter 
inviting them to participate in a new study and a gender-specific questionnaire. Return of 
a completed questionnaire was considered consent to participate. This study was approved 
by the Human Subjects Committees at the Harvard School of Public Health and the 
Brigham and Women's Hospital in Boston, Massachusetts. Mothers who gave permission 
to contact their children were slightly different from those who did not grant permission 
in terms of mother's smoking status (8% vs 10%, respectively), age (37.7 vs 37.8 years), 
and body mass index (25.3 kg/m2 vs 25.7 kg/m2

).
21 

In 1999, 16 625 adolescents of all races (ages 12-18) were eligible to complete the 
survey, and 94% of these were white (N- 15 627). Sunscreen questions were completed 
by IO 843 respondents, of whom IO 079 were white. The overall response rate for white 
adolescents was 65% . 

Measures 
We created a variable based on the child's state of residence and then categorized these 
into warmer states (N - 13) and cooler states (N- 37; see methodology used 
elsewhere).' 1 [n general, warmer climates included Hawaii, Southern California, the 
Southeast, and the Southwest defined as having the highest mean UV Index at the time of 
survey completion. 

In 1999, 7 questions on sun protection attitudes and practices were added to the GUTS 
questionnaire. The questions, divided into predictors and outcomes were: 

Predictors 

I . What is the color of your untanned skin? 
Color of untanned skin was categorized as very fair, fair, olive, and dark. 

2. How many of your friends had a tan at the end of the summer(this past summer)? 
Responses were categorized on a 5-point scale, ranging from none to all. 

3. How much do you agree with the following statement? 
It's worth getting a little burned to get a good tan? 



• 
Responses were categorized on a 5-point scale, from strongly agree to strongly 
disagree. 

4. What kind of tan is most attractive to you? 
Responses included natural skin color, a little color from the sun, a light brown 
suntan, a moderate brown suntan, and a very dark brown suntan. 
For these 3 psychosocial questions, we then further categorized respondents into 2 
groups: all, most, some friends tanned versus none and a few; worth getting a little 
burned to get a good tan into strongly agree and agree versus others; and 
attractiveness of tan into natural color and a little color from the sun compared 
with a light brown suntan, a moderate brown suntan, and very dark brown suntan. 

Outcomes 
The primary endpoints of interest included: I) routine use of sunscreen, 2) the presence of 
at least 3 sunburns during the past summer, and 3) use ofa tanning booth or salon during 
the past year. The outcomes are further described below: 

I. When you were outside on a sunny day this past summer for> I 5 minutes, how 
often did you use sunscreen or sunblock with a Sun Protection Factor (SPF) of 15 
or more? 
Sunscreen use was defined as "routine" if the child reported using sunscreen 
always or often.''' Sporadic use of sunscreen was defined as sometimes, rarely, 
and never. 

2. How many times did you get a sunburn this past summer (that is, how many times 
did exposed parts of your skin stay red for several hours after you had been out in 
the sun)? 
No sun bum, I to 2 times, 3 or more times. 

3. During the past year, how many times did you use a tanning booth or tanning 
salon? 
Responses ranged from never to l O or more times. 

Data Analysis Plan 
Statistical analyses were performed using SAS (SAS Insitute, Cary, NC). All analyses 
were stratified by gender. We calculated descriptive statistics to describe sun protection 
practices and attitudes of the study cohort. Univariate and multivariate analyses were 
performed to evaluate associations between the primary endpoints and demographic 
factors (age, gender, and residence), skin color (very fair, fair, olive, and dark), and 
psychosocial factors and attitudes related to beliefs about tanning. x2 analysis tests for 
categorical data were performed and regression modeling was done to identify the sets of 
predictor variables for the three primary endpoints. In logistic regression analysis, we 
evaluated the association between the predictor variables and the trend toward the 
occurrence of multiple sunburns. 

► RESULTS 
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The mean age of the IO 079 respondents was 14 years of age, and 
girls represented 59% of the sample. Nearly one third ofthe cohort 
lived in warmer climates. Seventy-five percent ofrespondents had 
very fair or fair skin. 
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G iris used sunscreen more routinely than boys (40.0% vs 26.3%; odds 
1 

ratio [OR]: 1.86; 95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.70-2.03), but were 
more likely to have received at least 3 sunburns the previous summer, (OR: 2.06; 95% Cl: 
1.83-2.32). Girls were far more likely than boys to have used a tanning booth during the 
past year ( 14.4% vs 2.4%; OR: 6.99; 95% Cl: 5.65-8.65; Table I). 

View this table: TABLE l. Sun Protection Practices and Attitudes in GUTS 
!in 1hi, "indowJ Cohort(n= 10079) 
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G iris were more likely than boys to state that it was worth burning to get a good tan (29.2 
vs 22.8; OR: 1.39; 95% CI: 1.27-1.52) and were also more likely to report that all, most, 
or some of their friends tanned (89.2 vs 77.8; OR: 2.35; 95% Cl: 2.10-2.63). Tanned skin 
was more strongly preferred by girls compared with boys (OR: 1.45; 95% Cl: 1.32-1 .59; 
r .1:·k :). 

Sunscreen Use 
Only one third of the respondents reported routine use of sunscreen during the past 
summer. Use of sunscreen was inversely associated with age for both boys and girls. 
Overall, very fair children were more likely than olive-complected and dark-complected 
children to report routine use ( 49% vs 29% and 20%, respectively; P < .00 I). These 
relationships were consistent when stratified by gender. There were no differences 
between rou.tine and sporadic users by residence. Children reporting that it was worth 
getting burned to get a good tan used sunscreen less frequently (21 % vs 39%; OR 0.42; 
95% Cl: 0.37-0.46) as did those who preferred a tan versus natural or light color (31% vs 
44%: OR: 0.57; 95% Cl: 0.52-0.62). Univariate analyses showed strong differences 
between boys and girls for most variables. Multivariate analysis confirmed that girls, 
younger children, children with very fair skin and fair skin, children not believing that it 
was worth burning to get a tan, those preferring natural skin color ora little color, and 
having friends who were not tanned were more likely to report sunscreen use (Table 2). 
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TABLE 2. Adjusted ORs for Factors Associated With Sunscreen 
Use, Sunburning, and Tanning Bed Use 

Most respondents (83%; N = 8355) reported sunburning at least once, and 36% of 
children reported 3 or more burns during the previous summer (Table I). The 3 
psychosocial variables emerged as strong predictors of multiple burning. For example, 
49% of multiple burners agreed that it was worth burning to get a tan compared with 31 % 
of those who did not bum (OR: 3.24; 95% Cl: 2.79-3.76). Likewise, having friends who 
were tanned at the end of last summer was associated with multiple buming(OR: 2. 72; 
95% Cl: 1.32-3.18). In the multivariate analysis, the trend toward multiple burning was 
most common for girls, older children, those in warmer climates, children with very fair 
and fair skin, children who stated that it was worth getting burnt to get a tan, those who 
preferred tanned skin, and children whose friends tanned (Table 2). 

Tanning Bed Use 
Nearly 10% of respondents used a tanning bed during the previous year. Girls were far 
more likely to report tanning bed use and older girls (ages 15-18) were far more likely 
than younger girls to report tanning bed use (24.6% vs 4.7; P < .00 I). Tanning bed use 
increased from 7% among 14-year-old girls to 16% by age 15, and more than doubled 
again by age 17 (35%; P < .00 I) . 

A significant trend toward increased tanning bed use for olive- and dark-complected 
children was observed (OR: 1.90; 95% Cl: 1.44-2.51). This may be partly explained by 
the fact that olive-skinned children were more likely than very fair children to prefer 
tanned skin (P < .00 I). Overall, having friends who tanned was strongly associated with 
tanning bed use (OR: 4.37; 95% Cl: 3.18-6.00) as was stating that it was worth getting a 
little burned to get a tan (OR: 2.58; 95% Cl: 2.26--2.96). Of those using tanning beds, 
23% used sunscreen routinely compared with 35% among children who did not use 
tanning beds (P < .001). 

Among girls, all 3 psychosocial variables were predictive oftanning bed use. In 
particular, tanning bed use among girls reporting that it was worth getting burned was 
nearly double than for those without this belief (22.3 vs 11.3; OR: 2.25; 95% Cl: 1.94-
2.60). Similarly, tanning bed use by girls was much higher when they believed that all, 
most, or some of their friends tanned, (OR: 3.57; 95% Cl: 2.47-5.16) or if they preferred 
tanned skin, (OR: 4.45; 95% Cl: 3.38-5.85). In the multivariate analysis, girls, older age, 
report of darkest untanned skin, stating that it was worth getting burnt to get a tan, having 
a preference for tanned skin, and having friends who were tanned remained significant 

! .1hk· ~ ! . 
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Current public health recommendations endorse "safe sun" behaviors, including use of 
sunscreens with SPF of 15 or higher, minimizing sunburns, and avoidance of tanning 
beds.'''-·" In this, the largest national survey on the sun protection attitudes and practices 
of US children and adolescents, we find that a majority of teens are not following these 
recommendations. Our findings suggest that many children are at subsequent risk of skin 
cancer because of suboptimal sunscreen use, high rates of sunburning, and tanning bed 
use. Specifically, we found that during the prior summer, only 34% of teenagers used 
sunscreen routinely and 83% sunburned at least one time. Moreover, among female 
adolescents, 14% used a tanning bed at least one time. Contrary to expectations, there 
were few differences in sunscreen use and sunburning rates in wanner versus cooler 
states . 

Our study demonstrates that attitudes associated with tanning, such as the preference for 
tanned skin, having many friends who were tanned, and belief in the worth of burning to 
get a tan were generally associated with sporadic sunscreen use, more frequent sunburns, 
and increased use of tanning beds. There seems to be a gender difference as girls are more 
likely to be innuenced by their peer network. In particular, the very high use of tanning 
beds among older teenage girls merits additional study. 

Limitations 
Although the results presented here are self-reported, we are less concerned about bias as 
the respondents report 2 findings of low social desirability-suboptimal use of sunscreen 
and high rates of sunburning. Furthermore, because these respondents are generally from 
middle-class families and the children of health professionals, the rates reported in this 
study may be different from those for other children. However, the lack of 
generalizability does not invalidate the data or preclude raising general hypotheses for 
other groups. Third, without data on cumulative exposure and intentional sunbathing, we 
cannot explain the contradictory finding of higher sunburning rates and more routine 
sunscreen use by girls. It is possible that facial or body creams, more frequently used by 
girls, lull girls into a false sense of protection thus enhancing their exposure to the sun. 
We were also surprised that tanning booth use was higher for olive- and dark-complected 
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children compared with those of fairer skin, and we can only speculate that adolescents 
use tanning booths to maintain their tanned or darker appearance. Future studies will also 
need to determine whether children are applying enough sunscreen, using SPF of 15 or 
more, and seek to corroborate their report of sunscreen use. Finally, sunscreen use was the 
only type of sun protection examined, therefore overall rates of sun protection may be 
higher than reported. 

Prevalence reported in this study is generally similar to that reported in other studies, 
although compar~sons are limit~? because of variation in the wording and methodology of 
other surveys.''•-•· Coogan et al"· asked a single question on the use of sun protection 
among 25 000 Connecticut children completing a Health Check survey and found that 
only 14% of boys and 20% of girls ages 13 to 18 routinely used sun protection. Tanning 
bed use in this current study is also similar to findings of a population-based survey in 
Quebec, where rates were highest among women and young people." Geller and 
colleagues''' surveyed lifeguards (median age 19) at poolsites in Massachusetts and 
Hawaii and found sunburning rates approaching 80%. However,sunburning rates of83% 
in th is study were markedly higher than parent reported rates of 53% for I 0- to I 1-year
olds in a Massachusetts coastal town.·;0 

In the United States, selected small-scale interventions for skin cancer prevention in 
community settings/0·'i,; outdoor pools]').3'> and other recreation facilities40

'
11 have shown 

the feasibility of implementing broader programs to change sun protection behaviors. But 
larger public educational campaigns and especially policy changes are also needed ifwe 
Jre to influence behavior and change social norms ... _ After many years, such programs in 
the Australian State of Victoria have resulted in decreased value of a tan, although 
adolescents remain the most resistant to changing attitudes regarding the appeal of a tan. u 

In 1998, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention launched the "Choose Your 
Cover" campaign, 1'' designed to influence social norms related to sun protection and 
tanned skin, and to increase awareness, knowledge and behaviors related to skin cancer 
prevention. Campaign planners conducted formative research with young people and 
found strongly held beliefs about the benefits of tanned skin, including how it can help 
one look younger, healthier, sexier, and thinner. 1') The glamour and attractiveness of a tan 
seems to be widespread and seems to be a forerunner in the pathway toward inadequate 
sun protection and excessive burning. Changing these beliefs is crucial in increasing the 
acceptability and adoption of sun protection behaviors. In addition, focus group 
participants viewed sunburns as inconsequential, although few teens knew that sunburns 
increased one's risk of skin cancer. 1•) 

Using multiple, mutually reinforcing strategies holds the most promise for successful sun 
protection educational programs. Long-term policy, for example, age restrictions on 
tanning bed use, and environmental changes can help encourage and support changes in 
attitudes and behaviors.'' Finding few differences between the geographic regions 
supports a nationally based series of policies and recommendations. Such strategies may 
include improving sun protection education at US schools"; building sun safe schools,,.· 
parks, and facilities; and incorporating sun safety awareness into everyday events, such as 
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using the daily UV Index in weather, news, and other broadcasts."·" Peer education 
programs in schools, commonly used in tobacco education but sparingly used for sun 
protection, holds promise for future interventions. 

► CONCLUSION 
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Recent recommendations in the United States for improved sun protection and avoidance 
of tanning beds and sunburning have apparently yielded few positive results. As we look 
to the lessons learned from Australia, preventing skin cancer will require a long-term, 
sustained effort. Nationally coordinated campaigns must be developed and sustained to 
prevent skin cancer in a new generation of children and adolescents. 
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A Prospective Study of Pigmentation, Sun Exposure, and 
Risk of Cutaneous Malignant Melanoma in Women 

Maril Bragelien Veier¢d, Elisabete Weiderpass, Magnus Thorn, Johan Hansson, 
Eiliv Lund, Bruce Armstrong, Hans-Olav Adami 

Background: Although sun exposure is an established cause 
of cutaneous malignant melanoma, possible interactions with 
host factors remain incompletely understood. Here we re
port the first results from a large prospective cohort study of 
pigmentation factors and sun exposure in relation to mela
noma risk. Methods: The Women's Lifestyle and Health Co
hort Study Included 106 379 women from Norway and Swe
den who were aged 30-50 years in 1991 or 1992 when they 
completed an extensive questionnaire on personal character
istics and exposures. Linkages to national registries ensured 
complete follow-up through December 31, 1999. Poisson re
gression models were used to estimate relative risks (RRs). 
All statistical tests were two-sided. Results: During an aver
age follow-up of 8.1 years, 187 cases of melanoma were di
agnosed. Risk of melanoma was statistically significantly as
sociated with increasing body surface area (RR for ~1.79 m2 

versus =s;;:J.61 m2 = 1.60, 95% confidence interval [Cl)= 1.03 
to 2.48; P,rend = .02), number of large asymmetric nevi on the 
legs (RR for e>7 nevi versus 0 nevi= 5.29, 95% CI= 2.33 to 
12.0 I; P trend<.001 ), hair color (RR for red versus dark 
brown or black= 4.05, 95% Cl= 2.11 to 7.76; Ptrend<.001), 
sunburns per year at ages 10-19, 20-291 and 30-39 years 
(P1re1u1<.001, ptrend = .03, and P,rend = .OS, respectively), and 
use of a device that emits artificial light (solarium) one or 
more times per month (P = .04). Conclusions: Our results 
ccinfirm previous findings that hair color, number of nevi on 
the legs, and history of sunburn are risk factors for mela
nomu and suggest that use of a solarium is also associated 
with melanoma risk. Adolescence and early adulthood ap-

pear to be among the most sensitive age periods for the 
effects of sunburn and solarium use on melanoma risk. How
ever, It may be too early to see the full effect of adult expo
sures In this cohort. [J Natl Cancer Inst 2003;95:1530-8] 

Cutaneous malignant melanoma (hereafter called melanoma) 
imposes a considerable public health burden. The incidence of 
melanoma varies more than 150-fold around the world, with the 
highest rates occurring among white or predominantly white 
populations in Australia, New Zealand, North America, and 
northern Europe ( 1 ). Rates of melanoma in Norway and Sweden 
have more than tripled since 1958-1962, the first years that 
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reliable information was available from cancer registries; rates 
are now higher there than they are elsewhere in Europe (2) and 
are predicted to increase ( 3 ). 

Although sun exposure is the major established risk factor for 
melanoma (4,5), geographic differences in melanoma incidence 
cannot be attributed solely to differences in the intensity of solar 
exposure. Within Europe, for example, the incidence of mela
noma is higher at northern latitudes, which generally have lower 
solar intensities, than at southern latitudes, which generally have 
higher solar intensities (2), although in both Norway and SweM 
t.len, an inverse relationship between melanoma incidence and 
latitLJde has been noted (6,7). Hence, the effect of UV light on 
melanoma risk may be strongly modified by other factors, such 
us differences in sun sensitivity and the nature of the exposure to 
the sun /8). 

A number of studies have examined factors that influence the 
association between sun exposure and the risk of melanoma. An 
intermittent pattern of sun exposure, which is typically assessed 
by measures of sun-intensive activities, such as outdoor recre
ation or vacations, is associated with increased risk of melanoma 
(9). In addition, many studies /4,5,9,10) have reported that sun
burn, which is an indicator of an intermittent pattern of sun 
exposure, is positively associated with the risk of melanoma. 
Results of many studies have suggested that childhood is a criti
cal period for sun exposure (9), and ecologic studies have shown 
more consistent associations than case-control studies between 
childhood sun exposure and melanoma risk ( 11 ). Host factors 
such :.1s eye color, hair color, skin color, the number of nevi, and 
skin reaction to chronic and acute sun exposure have also been 
associated with the risk of melanoma (4,12) . 

Mose of what is known about the association between sun 
exposure and melanoma risk comes from results of case-control 
studies. The Nurses' Health Study is, as far as we know, the only 
cohort study to examine the association between sun exposure 
anJ. malignant melanoma; however, a case~control design within 
the cohort was used in these analyses (13,14). Case-control 
sruJ.ies are limited by the potential for differential bias in recall 
of sun exposure between case patients and control subjects 
( /5,16). Prospective cohort studies can overcome such limita
tions because the exposure infonnation is collected prior to dis
ease occurrence. Here we report the first results from the Nor
wegian-Swedish Women's Lifestyle and Health Cohort Study, 
which was initiated in 1991. This study is the first prospective 
cohort study, to our knowledge, to examine the associations 
between pigmentation factors and sun exposure and the risk of 
malignant melanoma. 

SUBJECTS AND METHODS 

Study Population 

For practical reasons, women were enrolled in the Norwegi
an-Swedish Women.'s Lifestyle and Health Cohort Study in 
both 1991 and I 992. In Norway, a nationwide random sample of 
I 00 000 women who were born between I 943 and I 957 (i.e., 
aged 34---49 years at inclusion) was drawn from the National 
Population Register at Statistics Norway (Oslo, Norway). In 
Sweden, a random sample of 96 000 women who were born 
between 1943 and 1962 (i.e., aged 30-50 years at inclusion) and 
were residing in the Uppsala Health Care Region (which com
prises about one-sixth of the Swedish population) was drawn 
from the National Population Register at Statistics Sweden 
(Stockholm, Sweden). 

All women received a letter inviting them to participate in the 
study. The letter also requested that they provide written in
formed consent and contained a comprehensive questionnaire 
that was to be completed and returned in a prepaid envelope. 
Identical questions relevant to the analysis presented here were 
included in the questionnaires sent to women in the two coun
tries. The study was approved by the Data Inspection Boards in 
both countries and by the regional Ethical Committees, and all 
women gave written informed consent to participate. 

Host Factors and Exposure Information 

In the questionnaires, study participants were asked to cat
egorize their natural hair color (dark brown/black, brown, blond, 
or red) and their eye color (brown, gray/green, or blue) and to 
categorize the number of asymmetric nevi larger than 5 mm on 
their legs from toes to groin (0, I, 2-3, 4-6. 7-12, 13-24, or ;;,,25 
nevi). A brochure that was included with the questionnaire pro
vided color pictures with three examples of asymmetric nevi. 

Participants recorded their sun sensitivity according to their 
reactions to both acute and chronic exposure to the sun. Regard
ing acute sun exposure, the questionnaire asked the women to 
choose from among four categories to describe how their skin 
reacts to heavy sun exposure at the beginning of the summer: the 
skin turns brown without first becoming red, the skin turns red, 
the skin turns red with pain, or the skin turns red with pain and 
blisters. The women were asked to describe how their skin reacts 
to long-lasting or chronic sun exposure according to four cat
egories: the skin turns deep brown, brown, or light brown, or the 
skin never turns brown. 

Participants were asked to report their histories of sunburn 
and sunbathing vacations and on the frequency of their use of a 
solarium (i.e., a sun bed or a sunlamp that emits artificial UV 
light) when they were aged 10-19, 20-29, 30-39, or 40-49 
years. For each age period, the participant was asked to report 
the number of times per year she had been burned by the sun so 
severely that it resulted in pain or bIISters that subsequently 
peeled by choosing from among five categories: never, one time 
per year at most, two or three times per year, four or five times 
per year, or six or more times per year. Participants reported the 
average number of weeks per year spent on sunbathing vacations 
in southern latitudes (typically southern Europe, e.g., Spain or 
Greece) or within Norway or Sweden for each age period by 
choosing from among five categories: never, 1 week per year, 
2-3 weeks per year, 4-6 weeks per year, or ";3:;7 weeks per year. 
Participants reported their average use of a solarium during each 
age period by choosing from among six categories: never, rarely, 
one time per month, two times per month, three or four times per 
month, or more than one time per week. The questionnaires also 
contained questions about the participant's current height and 
weight, current and past contraceptive use, reproductive history, 
prevalent diseases, and lifestyle. 

Follow-up and Endpoints 

Start of follow-up was defined as the date of receipt of the 
returned questionnaire. Person-years were calculated from the 
start of follow-up to the date of diagnosis of primary melanoma, 
to the date of emigration or death, or to the end of follow-up 
(December 31. 1999). whichever occurred first. Each resident of 
Norway and Sweden is assigned a unique national registration 
number that includes the person's date of birth; those registra
tion numbers are entered into the nationwide.databases that were 
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used in this study. By linkage of cohort data to the national 
cancer registries in Norway and Sweden, this national registra
tion number allowed us to identify cancer cases. Infonnation on 
death and emigration was gathered by linkage to Statistics Nor
way and Statistics Sweden. 

A total of 57 584 (57.6%) of the Norwegian women and 
49 259 (51.3%) of the Swedish women returned completed ques
tionnaires: the overall response rate was 54.5%. We excluded 
four women because of the lack of vital status information in the 
available register files, 18 women who had emigrated or died 
before the start of follow-up, 198 women who did not adequately 
answer the questions regarding sun exposure or personal char
acteristics (i.e., sun sensitivity of skin, hair color, eye color, and 
number of asymmetric nevi), and 244 wOmen who were diag
nosed with melanoma prior to the start of follow-up. 

Statistical Analysis 

Particip(\nts' geographic regions of residence were defined 
according to four categories: the southern region of Norway, the 
middle region of Norway, the northern region of Norway, and 
the Uppsala Health Care Region in Sweden. The latitudes of the 
population center of mass within each Norwegian county, which 
were provided by the Norwegian Mapping Authority, together 
wi1h the observed number of melanoma cases in those counties, 
formed the basis for our definitions of the three Norwegian 
regions. The southern region of Norway includes Vest-Agder, 
Aust-Agder, Rogaland, Vestfold, 0stfold, and Telemark coun
ties, with population centers of mass located at 58°24'-59°31' 
N; the middle region of Norway includes Oslo, Akershus, Bus
kenid, Hordaland, Oppland, Hedmark, and Sogn og Fjordane 
counties, with population centers of mass located at 59°58'-
610301 N; the northern region of Norway inc1udes M~re og 
Romsdal, S¢r-Tr¢ndelag, Nord-Tr¢ndelag, Nordland, Trams, 
and Finn mark counties, with population centers of mass located 
at 62'44'-70°22' N. The Uppsala Health Care Region in Swe
den has the population center of mass located at 59°86' N. 
Body surface area was calculated according to the formula ( 17) 
weighto-1::!.5 x height0

·
725 x 71.84 and categorized by quartiles. 

We combined the upper two categories of the variables concern
ing acute and chronic exposures to sun because of the small 
numbers in each category and analyzed nevus counts in three 
categories: 0, I, 2-6, and ~7 (only two categories, 0 and ~l. 
were used when testing interaction effects). In the age period
specific anlilyses of sunburns, sunbathing vacations, and so
larium use, we combined the upper categories of these variables 
be\:ause of small numbers. For each of the variables (sunburns, 
sunbathing vacations, and solarium use), new variables were 
constructed to combine the exposure during the three age peri
ods that were recorded for all women (i.e., 10-19, 20-29, 30-39 
years). 

We used Poisson regression analysis to estimate the associa
tion between. sun exposure or personal characteristics and the 
risk of melanoma. The statistical significance of independent 
variables and interaction effects was tested by using the likeli
hood ratio test. We tested for trends across categories of vari
ables by assigning equally spaced values (e.g., 1, 2, 3, or 4) to 
the cntegories and treating the variables as continuous variables 
in the Poisson regression analysis. All analyses were adjusted for 
attained age (i.e., age at study entry plus the duration of follow
up), which was categorized by 5-year intervals (for analyses of 
women aged 40 years or older, we used only two age categories, 

<50 years and 50-60 years), and all multivariable models also 
included geographic region of residence. The analyses of per
sonal characteristics included mutual adjustments for statisti
cally significant variables. The multivariable models used in the 
analyses of sunburn, sunbathing vacations, and use of a solarium 
included hair color. In addition, each age-specific model for use 
of a solarium included the corresponding numbers of age
specific sunburns and sunbathing vacations. Results are pre
sented as relative risks (RRs) with 95% confidence intervals 
(Cls). All P values are two-sided, and a 5% level of statistical 
significance was used. 

RESULTS 

The final study sample consisted of 106 379 Norwegian and 
Swedish women. During an average 8.1 years of follow-up (me
dian = 8.3 years, range = 0.01-8.6 years) corresponding to 
866 668 person-years of observation, 187 incident cases of mela
noma were reported to the Cancer Registries in Norway and 
Sweden. These incident cases occurred among 183 women for 
whom melanoma was their first cancer diagnosis and four 
women for whom melanoma was their second cancer diagnosis. 
All incident cancer cases were histopathologically confirmed as 
invasive melanoma. Characteristics of the study cohort and of 
the incident cases of malignant melanoma and their frequencies 
are summarized in Table I. Melanomas on the lower limbs were 
observed most frequently, followed by melanomas on the trunk. 
Classification of subtypes was less frequently performed in Swe
den than in Norway. Seventy-one percent of the Norwegian cases 
were classified as superficial spreading melanoma (Table 1 ). 

Table 2 summarizes the associations between personal char
acteristics and the risk of melanoma. Ca1culated body surface 
area was positively associated with the risk of melanoma (P trend 

= .02), as was hair color (Pueod<.001). Compared with women 
who had dark brown or black hair, women with blond hair had 
an approximately twofold higher risk of melanoma, whereas 
women with red hair had an approximately fourfold higher risk. 
Eye color was not associated with melanoma risk. We also found 
no statistically significant association between tanning of the 
skin after heavy or repeated sun exposure and the risk of mela
noma, although an indication of a trend was seen for skin color 
after repeated sun exposure. The number of large asymmetric 
nevi on the legs was a strong predictor of melanoma risk: women 
with seven or more nevi had an approximately fivefold higher 
risk of melanoma than women with no nevi (Pircnd<.00 I). Mu
tual adjustment for all statistically significant variables listed in 
Table 2 did not appreciably change any of the multivariable 
relative risks presented in the table (data not shown). 

Risks of melanoma increased with increasing numbers of 
sunburns women reported having during the second, third, and 
fourth decade of life (Table 3). The estimated risk of melanoma 
was highest for women who reported having sunburns during 
adolescence (i.e., the 10-19-year age period), whereas no asso
ciation between risk and sunburns during the fifth decade of life 
(i.e., the 40-49-year age period) was observed. Next, we com
bined the information about the number of sunburns at ages 
10-19, 20-29, and 30-39 years into one new variable. Women 
who had one or no sunburns per year during these three periods 
were used as the reference category. The other categories were 
sunburns two or more times per year during the adult years (i.e., 
20-29 years and/or 30-39 years), sunburns two or more times 
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Tobie J. Characteristics of participants in the Norwegian-Swedish Women's Lifestyle and Health Cohort Study and of the incident cases 

• _____________ o_r_,_"_ta_n_,o_u_,_"_,a_h_g_n,_n_,_m_,_1,_n_o_m_a_d_u_d_ng_fo_l_lo_w_-u_p_fr_om_l_9_9_1-_1_9_92-•h_ro_u.;g_h_l_9_99 ____________ _ 

- Charncteristics 

M~un ltg.: 1.1t study entry. y (range) 

Persun-years of follow-up 

Number of incident cases of melanoma 

Mean :1ge 111 diagnosis of melanoma, y (range) 

Site of 1m:lanoma, No.(%) 
Trunk 
Upper limb· 
Lower limb 
01hert 

l-listologic type pf melanoma, No. (%) 
Superficial spreading melanoma 
Nodulur melanoma 
Lentigo nwlignant melanoma 
Malignant melanoma, not otherwise specified 

Body surface urea in m2 :j:, No.(%) (n = 103 333) 
,,.; 1.61 
1.62-J .69 
1.70-1.78 
~1.79 

Norway 
(n = 57311)"' 

41.! {34-49) 

468 982 

121 

45,7 (35.4--54.0) 

32(26) 
12 (10) 
60 (50) 
17 (14) 

86 (71) 
16 (13) 
2 (2) 

17 (14) 

13 985 (25) 
13929 (25) 
14361 (261 
13 896 (25) 

Sweden Total 
(n = 49 068)"' (N = 106 379)* 

39 6 (30--50) 40.4 (30-50) 

397 686 866 668 

66 187 

45.3 (31.9-57.5) 45.6 (31.9-57.5) 

19 (29) 51 (27) 
10 (15) 22 (12) 
29(44) 89(48) 

8 (12) 25 (13\ 

5 (8) 91 (49) 
2 (3) 18 (JO) 
0 (0) 2 (I) 

59 (89) 76 (411 

11 696 (25) 25 681 (25) 
11 680 (25) 25 609 (25) 
11 802 (25) 26 163 (25) 
11 984 (25) 25 880 (25) 

Skin color ufter heavy sun exposure in the beginning of the summer, No.(%) (n = 105 595) 
Brown 14 856 (26) I! 532 (24) 26 388 (25) 

Red 
Reel with pain 
Red with puin and blisters 

Skin rnlor after repeated sun exposure, No.(%) (n = 103312) 
Deep brown 
Brown 
Light brown 
Never brown 

ll:1ir color. No.(%) (n 
Dari.: brown. black 
Brown 
Blond 
Red 

Eye color, No,(%) (n 
Brown ' ' 
Orny, green. or mix 
Blue 

103 027) 

102710) 

Tmal No. of asymmetric nevi >5 mm on legs, No.(%) (n = 100980) 

0 
I 

27 584 (49) 
11342 (20) 

2999 (5) 

8797 (16) 
31 394 (58) 
I 3 453 (25) 

900 (2) 

9348 (17) 
2 l 500 (39) 
22241 (41) 

1495 (3) 

6345 (12) 
21 062 (39) 
27 170 (50) 

47 704 (89) 
3438 (6) 
1595 (3) 
416 (I) 
324 (I) 

23 243 (48) 50 827 (48) 
11 421 (23) 22 763 (22) 

2618 (5) 5617 (5) 

7979 ( 16) 16776(16) 
30 029 (62) 61 423 (59) 
10129 \21) 23 582 (23) 

631 (I) 1531 (!) 

13 813 (29) 23 161 (23) 
20939 (43) 42439 (41) 
12185 (25) 34426 (33) 

1506 (J) 3001 (3) 

6738 (14) 13083(13) 
17110(36) 38 192 (37) 
24 265 (50) 5 I 435 (50) 

38 997 (82) 86701 (86) 
4842 ( 10) 8280 (8) 
2424 (5) 4019(4) 
713 (2) 1129 (I) 
527 (I) 85 I ( I) 

*Bemuse of missing values, the number of women will differ in 1he presentation of personal characteristics below. The total number of women (n) is presented 

for c<1..:h personal charnctelistic. 
tlk.id/neck and skin unspecified. 
tC,ilculated uccording to the following formula (/7); weighc0

·
4

2.'I x heigh1° 72
' x 71.84. 

per year during adolescence (i.e., 10-19 years), and sunburns 
two or more times per year during all three age decades (i.e., 
I 0-19, 20-29, and 30-39 years). We observed increased risk of 
melanoma 1for the upper two categories of this new variable and 
u statistically significant positive trend (Table 3). Collapsing the 
upper three categories into one gave a multivariable relative risk 
of 1.70 (95% Cl = 1.23 to 2.34; P = .002) for sunburns two or 
more times J)er. year for at least one of the three age decades as 
compared with a maximum of one sunburn per year in all three 
decades. No statistically significant interaction was found be
tween this dichotomous sunburn variable and the number of nevi 

on 1he legs, (P = .84). 

We found suggestive evidence for an association between 
increasing risk of melanoma and increasing number of weeks 
women spent ·on sunbathing vacations at ages 30-39 years 
(Table 4). Although most of the point estimates and all of the 
trends pertaining to this association were not statistically signifi
cant, we consistently observed a risk increase of approximately 
60%-70% for the highest compared with the lowest exposure 
category for women who took sunbathing vacations between the 
ages of 10 and 39 years, Increased risk, albeit not statistically 
significant and with no appreciable trend, was also observed 
when information on sunbathing vacations from these three de
cades of life was combined into a new variable in a way analo-
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Table 2. Relative risks (RRs) and 95% confidence intervals (Cls) of cutaneous malignant melanoma according to personal characteristics• 

• 

Ch,1rncteristic 

Body sutfuce urea, m2 :j: (n "" 103 333) 
,_ 1.61 
l ,62-1.69 
1.70-1.78 
... 1.79 

Skin color after heavy sun exposure al the beginning of summer (n = 105 595) 
Brown 
Red 
Red with pnin/red with pain and blisters 

Skin r.:olor :ifler repeated sun exposure (n 
Deep brown 
Brown 
Light brown/never brown 

Hair rnlor (n = 103 027) 
Dltd.: brnwn, black 
Brown 
Blond 
!<et.I 

Eye cnlor(n = 102710) 
Brown 
Grny. green'. or mix 
Blui;: 

103 312) 

T,md No. of 11symmetric nevi >5 mm on legs (n = JOO 980) 
0 
I 
2-6 
.,7 

*Poisson regression analysis. All statistical tests were two-sided. 
tMultivariable models included auuined age and region of residence. 

No. of cases 

32 
44 
57 
52 

36 
100 
51 

21 
107 
51 

26 
57 
82 
14 

18 
63 
97 

128 
26 
16 
6 

Age-adjusted RR (95% Cl) Multivariab\e RRt (95% Cl) 

1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 
l.311 (0.87 to 2.17) 1.37 (0.87 to 2.17) 
1.74 (1.13 to 2.68) 1.73 (1.12 to 2.66) 
J .60 (1.03 lO 2.49) 1.60 ( 1.03 to 2.48) 

Plrcnd = .02 P ucnd = .02 

1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 
I .45 (0.99 to 2.12) 1.45(0.99102.13) 
1.34 (0.88 to 2.06) 1.36 (0.89 10 2.08) 

ptrend = .21 Pirend = ,19 

1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 
1.39 (0.87 to 2.22) 1.40 (0.87 to 2.23) 
I .62 (0.97 to 2.69) 1.60 (0.96 to 2.67) 

P.,~00 = .07 P,,..,00 = .07 

1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 
I.I 8 (0.74 {O J.88) 1.16 (0.73 to 1.84) 
2. 10 ( 1.35 to 3.26) 1.96 (1.25 to 3.07) 
4.13 (2.16 IO 7.91) 4.05 (2.11 10 7.76) 

PucNl<.001 Puend<.001 

1.00 (referent) LOO (referent) 
1.18 (0.70 to 1.99) 1.15 (0.68 to 1.94) 
1.36 (0.82 to 2.25) 1.33 (0.80 to 2.20) 

P,..., 00 = .17 P,...,,iJ = .19 

1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 
2.15 (1.41 to 3.28) 2.29 (1.50 to 3.49) 
2.14 (1.27 to 3.60) 2.30 (1.36 to 3.87) 
4.92 (2.17 to 11.15) 5.29 (2.33 to 12.01) 

Piren<l<.001 P.,"00<.001 

tC.ikuluted uccording co the following fonnula (17): weight0425 
>< heighto.m x 71.84. 

gous to that described above for sunburns (Table 4). Collapsing 
the upper three categories of this new variable gave a multivari
able relative risk of 1.51 (95% Cl = 0.95 Jo 2.40; P = .07) for 
sunbathing vacations one or more weeks per year in at least one 
of 1he three age decades as compared with never going on sun
b;.11hing va~ations in any of the three decades. No statistically 
significant _interaction was found between this dichotomous vari
nble for sunbathing vacations an_d the number of nevi on the legs 
(P = .58)., , 

We had limited power to examine the association between the 
use of a solarium during adolescence and melanoma risk be
cause only f% of the women in the study reported having such 

! 1 exposure. HoWever, we found 1hat compared with women who 
never used J.t s'olarium at ages 20-29 years. women who reported 
using a solarium once or more per month during that age period 
had a relative risk of melanoma of 2.58 (95% CI = 1.48 to 4.50; 
P1n.mt1 ::::: .006) (Table 5). Use of a solarium at ages 30-39 years 
llnd 40-49 years also appeared to be associated with a risk, 
although not a statistically significantly increased risk, of mela
noma (Table 5). In a multivariable analysis of the combined 
variable for solarium use during the 10-39-year age period, 
women who used a solarium one or more times per month in at 
least one of the three decades between ages IO and 39 had a 
s1atistil'.,1lly significantly higher risk of melanoma than women 
who h<1d never or rarely used a solarium during those three 
decades (RR = 1.55, 95% Cl 1.04 Jo 2.32; P = .04)(Table 5). 

The multivariable models in Tables 3-5 include hair color as 
a measure of sun sensitivity. Additional adjustment for skin 
color after repeated sun exposure gave similar results and did not 
affect the conclusions (data not shown). 

DISCUSSION 

Results of our prospective analysis suggest that hair color, the 
number of large asymmetric nevi on 1he legs, and body surface 
area are important personal characteristics that contribute IO the 
risk of melanoma. The number of sunburns was also an impor
tant predictor of melanoma risk, and the strongest effects were 
associated with the number of sunburns women experienced 
during adolescence; there was similar, albeit weaker, evidence 
for an association between the number of sunbathing vacations 
taken in Norway, Sweden, or more southern latitudes and mela
noma risk. Using a solarium one or more times per month, 
particularly during the 20-29-year age period, adjusted for num
bers of sunburns and sunbathing vacations, was statistically sig
nificantly associated with melanoma risk. 

The incidence of melanoma observed in our study was higher 
among the Norwegian women than among the Swedish women. 
The crude incidence rates of melanoma, which we calculated 
from the data presented in Table I, were 25.8 cases per 100000 
person-years of follow-up for the Norwegian women and 16.6 
cases per 100000 person-years of follow-up for the Swedish 
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Table 3. Relative risks (RRs) and 95% confidence intervals {Cls) of cutaneous malignant melrmoma according to annual number of 
sunburns during different age periods• 

Frequencies, 
.-\gc pt!riod mi.LI number of sunburns No.(%) No. of cases Age-adjusted RR (95% Cl) Multivadable RRt (95% Cl) 

IIJ-19 ye.irs tn = 9~ 472) 

II 21 747 (23) 22 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent l 

~ I/year 52 452 (55) 94 1.80(1.13102.86) 1.64 (1.03 lo 2.62) 

~2/ye,ir 21 273 (22) 55 2.70(1.65 to4.44) 2.42 (1.46 JO 4.02) 

PLren<.J<,001 pllent.l<,001 

:!0-2Y ye.irs (n = 97 442) 
u 20346(21) 28 I .DO (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

~ I/ye.ir 58 458 (60) 102 l.29 (0.85 to 1.96) l.24 (0.81 to 1.88) 

~:Yye,1r 18638 (19) 43 1.76 ( 1.09 to 2.84) L69 ( 1.04 to 2.76) 
Ptrcn<.l = ,02 P.,en<.l ::::, ,OJ 

30-;19 years (n = 94 850) 
0 JO 588 (32) 48 LOO (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

~1/ye:ir 54 199 (57) 99 1.15 (0.82 to 1.63) 1.15 {0.81 to 1.62) 

;;;,2/year 10063(11) 27 1.71 (1.07 to 2.74) I.71 (1.06 to 2.76) 

p ircnJ ""' .04 P.,00<1 "' .05 

40-49 yeurst (n = 45 269) 
0 20031 (44) 43 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

~ 1/yeur 22 260 (49) 44 0.92 (0.61 to 1.41) 0.92 (0.61 to 1.41) 

:;;.:?/year 2978 (7) 6 0.94 (0.40 10 2.21) 0.96 (0.41 to 2.27) 

P...,nJ = .74 P,rc .. <1 = .77 

Combined. 10-39 years (n = 90633) 
""-l/yl!ar.10-39yenrs 64 807 (72) 99 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

➔ :?/yl!ar, 20--29 years and/or 30-39 yeurs 5873 (6) I J I .47 (0.82 to 2.62) 1.54 (0.86 to 2.75) 

;..-}/year, 10--19 years 7357 (8) 20 1.82 (1.13 to 2.95) 1.66 (1.02 to 2.70) 

:;o-2/yc:ir. 10----39 years !2595(14) 34 l.83{1.24to2.70) 1.79 ( 1.20 10 2.68) 

PtrtnJ<,001 p"""'.J = .002 

*Pois~on nygression analysis. All statistical tests were two-sided . 
tMullivariuble models included attained age, region of residence, and hair color. 
tlnduderJ Qnly women who were aged 40 years or older when answering the questionnaire. 

women. These incidence rates are in accordance with crude in
cidem;e rates report_ed for Norwegian and Swedish women for 
1993 1hrough 1997 (23.3 cases per 100000 person-years for 
Norwegian women and 17.3 cases per 100000 person-years for 
Swedish w0men) (3). Age-adjusted incidence rates of melanoma 
have been consistently higher among Norwegian than among 
Swedish women since the 1960s. 

We observed a strong association between hair color and 
melanoma risk but not between eye color and melanoma risk. 
These results are consistent with results of a pooled analysis of 
darn derived from published case-control studies, in which the 
repor!ed relative risks were 2.38 (95% Cl = 1.90 to 2.97) for 
individuals who have red hair compared with those who have 
black or dark brown hair and 1.55 (95% Cl = 1.35 to 1.78) for 
individuals who have blue eyes compared with those who have 
brown eyes ( 12). However, the association we observed between 
l'Utaneous sensitivity to the sun (i.e., burning or tanning) and 
melanoma risk was much weaker than that reported in a retro
spec.:1ive Australian study (18). Our findings, that hair color but 
not eye color was statistically significantly associated with mela
noma risk, airee with those of two Danish case~control studies 
( /9,20); irl addition, the association between melanoma risk and 
cutaneous '.sun sensi1ivity reported in 1hose two studies was also 
much weaker than 1ha1 for hair color. A Swedish case-con!rol 
stuJy (21) also found that hair and eye color and skin type were 
stntisfically 1· significantly associated with melanoma risk, al
though the associations were considerably weaker for eye color 
and skin type than for hair color, whereas an early Norwegian 
ciise-comrol ~tudy (22) that used hospital-based control subjects 
found tha,t ;tolerance to sun exposure, but not hair or eye color, 

was associated with melanoma risk. We speculate tha:t hair color 
may be the best measure (combining accuracy of measurement 
and predictive capacity) of sun sensitivity in homogeneous fair
skinned populations. such as those of Scandinavia. By contrast, 
reported sun sensitivity may be a less reliable measure of sun 
sensitivity in these populations because it depends on an indi
vidual's experience with repeated and quite heavy sun exposure, 
which many Scandinavian subjects may not have. 

In agreement with the results of several case-control studies 
(23-25), the results of our cohort study show that the number of 
asymmetric nevi larger than 5 mm on the legs was the strongest 
host risk factor for melanoma. The participants self-reported 
such nevi on their legs, guided by color pictures of dysplastic 
nevi in a brochure that was enclosed with the questionnaire. The 
method we used for this self-reporting has been shown to have 
limited accuracy for the diagnosis of one or more dysplastic 
nevi, with an estimated sensitivity of 29% and a specificity of 
85% /26). Hence, !he relative risk of 5.3 for melanoma in the 
presence of seven or more large nevi on the legs that we ob
served in our study may underestimate the excess risk. Increased 
surveillance and more frequent excision of suspected lesions 
might, on the other hand, spuriously inflate the risk of melanoma 
among subjects with asymmetric nevi. However, such an effect 
seems unlikely because all incident cases were histopathologi
cally confirmed invasive malignant melanomas. 

Our results confirm the positive association between past his
tory of sunburn and melanoma reported previously by the ma
jority of case-control studies (9, JO). Our effect estimates were 
higher for sunburns that occurred during adolescence than for 
those that occurred later in life; however, it may be too early to 
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Table 4. Relative risks (RRs) and 95% confidence intervals (Cls) of cutaneous malignant melanoma according to the average number of 
, weeks per year spent on sunbathing vacotions 10 southern latitudes or within Norway or Sweden during different age periods* 

Frequencies, 
Age perioJ .und annual weeks on sunbathing vacation No.(%) No. of cases Age-adjusted RR (95% Cl) Multivariablc RRt (95% CJ) 

10-19 year,; (n - 93418) 
0 45 298 (48) 77 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

I week/yeur 19921 (21) 3l 1.10 (0.74 to 1.6l) 1.21 (0.80co 1.83) 
2-J wed,~/year. 20 086 (22) 32 1.02 (0.67 lO J.54) 1.09(0.71 to 1.65) 
;;,,4 wceks/yenr 8113 (9) 20 1.56 (0.95 to 2.55) 1.67 (1.01 to 2.74) 

P.,crwJ "" .22 P,,..,n<J=.12 

20-29 years (n ~ 96029) 

0 26 460 (28) 41 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

l wei;:k/year 28 723 (30) ll 1.28 (0.8l to 1.92) 1.36 (0,90 (O 2.0l) 

2-J weeks/year 32 997 (34) l3 1.08 (0.71 (0 1.62) 1.13 (0.74 to 1.70) 
~4 weeks/year 7849 (8) 19 1.67 (0.96 to 2.88) 1.79 (1.03 to3.J I) 

P,.0 n.i = .26 P.,.nJ"" .18 

:I0-]9 yenh (n 93 845) 
0 24 29] (26) 33 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 
I week/year 28858(31) 56 1.42 (0.93 to 2.19) 1.49 (0.97 to 2.30) 
1-:1 weeks/year 33 144 (3lJ 6l 1.43 (0.94 to 2.18) 1.45 (0.95 to 2.21 J 
2e4 weeks/ye.m 7550 (8) 16 1.56 (0.86 IO 2.84) l.63 (0.89 lO 2.97) 

' Plren,J = • 10 PtromJ :::a .08 

4U-49 yeurs:j: (n 45 21 l) 
0 13 806 (31) 23 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 
I wed,/ye.ir 12801 (28) 36 1.70 (1.01 to 2.87) 1.87 (I.I I to 3.18) 

~~-] weekS/y_ear 18604 (41) 31 1.01 (0.59 10 1.73) 1.06 (0.61 to 1.81) 
P.,eoo = .87 P.,000 = .98 

Combined. 10-39 years (n "" 88450) 
0, I 0-39 years 15799(18) 21 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

;., I week/year. 20--29 and/or 30-39 years 27851(31) 53 1.42 (0.86 to 2.36) 1.45 (0.87 to 2.40) 
;,,1 week/year. 10-19 years 17ll (2) 3 1.37 (0.4110 4.59) 1.46 (0.43 lO 4.92) 

➔ I week/year, 10-39 years 43 049 (49) 79 1.44 (0.89 to 2.34) 1.56 (0.95 to 2.56) 
P,rcnd = .27 Puon.J = .13 

*Poisson regression analysis. All statistical tests were two-sided. 
tM11ltivariable models included attained age. region of residence. and hair color. 
:j:lni:luJed only women who were aged 40 years or older when answering the questionnaire. 

Table 5. Relative risks (RRsJ and 95% confidence intervals (Cls) of cutaneous malignant melanoma according to solarium use during different age periods• 

Frequencies, 
Age period and solarium use No.(%) No. of cases Age-adjus1ed RR (95% Cl) Multivariahle RRt (95% Cl) 

10-19 year!> (n = 85 847) 
Never 84 ! 82 {98) 152 1.00 (referenl) 1.00 (referenl) 

Rari::ly or;, I time/month 1665 (2) 4 1.65 (0.61 to4.47) 1.52 (0.56 to 4.12) 
P = .36 p = .44 

20-29 Yl'.trs ~n = 89 142) 
Ne\,·r 71133(80) 123 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

Rarel_y . 
1 

I I 618 (13) 19 1.16 (0.70to J.92) I.I I (0.67 to 1.85) 

~ I tm1e/month 6391 (7) 18 2.32 ( 1.35 to 3.99) 2.58 ( I .48 to 4.50) 

Ptren.J = .009 PL,cn.J = .006 

J0-,19 years (n 87 890) 
Ne\'cl' 44 338 (l0) 78 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

Rurely ;: 28 383 (32) 51 1.03 (0.72 to 1.48) 0.93 (0.64 lO 1.34) 

~ I timelm0nth 15169(17) 36 1.40 (0.93 !O 2.10) 1.42 (0.93 to 2.16) 
P,.,., 0 ,1 = .15 P,,coo = .19 

--Hl--49 yeurst (n = 41409) 
Never I 17 345 (42) 27 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

R.ircly 14 l 14 (35) 33 1.46 (0.88 to 2.43) l.39 (0.82 IO 2.33) 

iii) time/month 9550 (23) 22 1.48 (0.84 to 2.60) 1.67 (0.93 lO 2.99) 
P,.,.,0 ,1 = .14 P<ren.J = ,08 

Comhined. l0-39 years (n = 79616) 
Nevcr/rnrely. 10-39 years 65 239 (82) Ill 1.00 (referent) 1.00 (referent) 

;..1 time/month 10-19, 20-29, or 30-39 years 14377(18) 34 1.45 (0.98 to 2.14) 1.55 (] ,04 IO 2.32) 

P = .07 p = .04 

*Pnis~on regression analysis. All statistical tests were two-sided. 
tMultivariable models included attained uge, region of residence, hair color, and the corresponding number of uge-specific sunburns and weeks on annual summer 

\'.ll:;1l1oll,\. 

tlno.:luded only women who were uged 40 years or older when answering the questionnaire. 
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see the full effect of sunburns later in life in our cohort of 
: .women. Systematic reviews of case-control studies ( JO, 1 I) have 

not found evidence of an overall stronger effect of sunburns in 
t:arly life than in later life. Fur1hermore, the reported dose
response gradients of melanoma risk with frequency of sunburn 
were comparable during childhood and adulthood in a recent 
large rnulticenter case-control study from Europe (27). How
ever. it is poSsible that the case-control studies have underesti
mated the effects of sunburn during childhood and adolescence 
bel:ause of high recall error from the very long recall period for 
most subjects. All of our study subjects were younger than 50 
years when they answered the questionnaire, giving a shorter 
recall period than in many case-control studies (9) that include 
subjects up to. 70 years old or older. 

Sun exposure during sunbathing vacations is usual1y intense 
and intermittent, and results of previous case-control studies 
( JO) suggest that there is a positive association between the 
incidence of melanoma and high levels of intermittent sun ex
posure. We recorded the number of sunbathing vacations in 
Norw:iy and Sweden (at latitudes higher than 58° N, where UV 
levels are low, even in summer) and those in southern latitudes 
in the same variable. which may explain the lack of a strong 
association between sunbathing vacations and melanoma in ol1r 
study. Previous Scandinavian studies show inconsistencies in 
their results on_ sunbathing and melanoma risk. One Swedish 
study (21) and a Danish study (28) found associations between 
vacations spent in sunny places and melanoma risk, whereas 
ano1her Swedish study (29) did not. 

• 

OL1r resu'1ts provide stronger evidence than those of other 
studies that ·solarium use is associated with an increased risk of 
melanoma: we found that overall, regular (i.e., one or more times 
per mon1h) solarium. use at any age was associated with a sta-
tistically significant 55% increase in risk of melanoma after 
adjustment for sun sensitivity and measures of sun exposure. 
Although other studies (30-34) have reported positive associa
tions between ITlelanoma risk and exposure to artificial UV light, 
1hest: associ3ti0ns often apply to specific subgroups of the study 
population (e.g. the youngest subjects with melanoma), or they 
have not been adjusted for possible confounding with sun ex
posure. A recent review (35) concluded that there was insuffi-
cient evidence to determine whether or not tanning lamps cause 
melanoma. The more consistent and overall statistically signifi
cant nssociation between melanoma risk and solarium use ob
served in our study, which may be due to the relative youth of 
our cohort, adds substantially to the existing evidence that arti
ficial UV light for recreational tanning increases risk of melanoma. 

Our study has several important strengths. First, because all 
physll.'ians, hospital departments, and histopathologic laborato
ri~s in Norway and Sweden are obliged to report malignant 
diseases to thC cancer registries, and the cancer registries match 
regulilrly agains_t the death registers at Statistics Norway and 
SttHistics Sweden, respectively, we had a complete follow-up 
and histopalho\ogic confirmation of all incident cases of mela
noma. Second, our study had a prospective design, such that 
detailed information on host factors and sun exposure was col
lected prior \O melanoma diagnosis. Error in measurement of 
these factors js inevitable in epidemiologic studies of skin cancer 

,: ent swJy. By contrast,· measurement error in case-control stud-
· -( 26,36,37) but can be assumed to be non-differential in the pres-

, , • ies may be influenced by a diagnosis of skin cancer and therefore 
1~. nrny differ iil degree between cases and controls (15,16). 
;.i 

Among the limitations of our study were the comparatively 
small number of cases, the limited detail about the exposure 
measurements, and the rela1ively short follow-up period for solar 
and artificial UV light exposure during midlife. In addition, we 
did not adjust for the multiple comparisons made in this study. 
Instead, we chose to evaluate the individual associations on their 
own merits and with respect to results from prior studies. Fi
nally, because our cohort included only women, our results may 
not be generalizable to both sex.es. In Norway and Sweden, 
incidence rates of melanoma tend to be slightly higher among 
women than among men ( 3 ). However, previous case-control 
studies (9) have not focused on whether there are sex differences 
in the associations between pigmentation characteristics or sun 
exposure and the risk of melanoma. 

The results of our cohort study suggest that public health 
recommendations for melanoma prevention should include a 
combination of information on inherent predisposition and the 
effects of exposure to UV radiation. Hair color and large asym
metric nevi on the legs were the most important host factors 
associated with risk, and our results for sunburn, sunbathing 
vacations, and use of a solarium suppon current recommenda
tions for the avoidance of UV exposure, especially intermillent 
ex.posure, either from natural or from artificial sources. Al
though our study cohort is still too young to fully assess whether 
UV exposure during adolescence is more critical than UV ex
posure during adulthood for melanoma risk, there is great po
tential to explore this question and the important issue of inter• 
actions between risk factors in future follow-up studies of these 
Norwegian and Swedish women. 
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Melanoma Survivors Support Tough Regulations for Indoor 
Tanning 

Patient Profile 
Two women from Pennsylvania live in a constant state of dread and 
uncertainty about the future. Foremost on their minds is the worry that 
they may not live long enough to raise their children. Getting melanoma 
has completely changed their lives. 

One can hear the anger in their voices when they ask why they were not 
infonned of the risks associated with tanning-bed use. Roxanne Smith and 
Diana Schaffer fervently hope that their state government will take the 
action needed to regulate indoor tanning in Pennsylvania so that others 
will know the risks. 

To help convince their legislators and others of these risks, these women 
agreed to share their experiences with the American Academy of 
Dermatology (Academy). 

Roxanne Smith, 46 
"I Would Never Have Used Tanning Beds If I Had Known the 
Risks" 
In 1996, Roxanne Smith lived a healthy lifestyle. She did not smoke, never 
drank, and exercised regularly. She finnly believed in avoiding risky 
behaviors. 

Encouraged by a friend who regularly used tanning beds, Roxanne 
believed that the look of a tan fit her healthy lifestyle. For four years, she 
frequented tanning salons in Pennsylvania. 

Roxanne never thought that she was at risk for skin cancer. She has 
brown hair and brown eyes, fewer than 15 moles, rarely burns, and does 
not have a family history of skin cancer. 

However, while using tanning beds, Roxanne did notice changes on her 
skin. She developed seborrheic keratoses (non-cancerous lesions that may 
resemble a mole and vary in color from light tan to black), skin tags, and 
a blotchy complexion. She was not aware that these changes, while 
common in aging skin, typically do not occur until much later in life -

I 
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usually after midlife. Roxanne was in her 30s. 

The skin changes did not deter her. To maintain that "healthy looking" 
tan, Roxanne kept using tanning beds. However, a woman she knew who 
also was using tanning beds decided it was time to quit after she 
developed similar changes on her skin. Looking back, Roxanne wishes 
she, too, had stopped tanning then. Today, she wonders if she would 
have been diagnosed with melanoma if she had stopped using tanning 
beds sooner. 

Roxanne is convinced that tanning-bed use caused her melanoma. 
Roxanne says, "I have three sisters. One is a redhead who has many 
freckles and moles. Two are blonde. We all received the same amount of 
sun exposure growing up. I am the only one who used tanning beds, and 
I am the only one with melanoma." 

Several other women whom Roxanne met through tanning salons also 
have developed skin cancer. The friend who encouraged Roxanne to try 
tanning beds has been diagnosed with stage III melanoma. 

Living with melanoma has profoundly affected Roxanne's life. She and her 
husband can no longer enjoy their sailboat and decided to sell it. All 
summer long, Roxanne swelters in pants and long sleeves. She worries 
that her 10-year-old daughter does not apply enough sunscreen. When 
she gets a headache or feels sore after exercising, she fears that it is a 
sign the melanoma has returned or spread. 

Roxanne knows that her life will never be carefree again. She urges her 
state legislators to pass legislation that will inform people of the risks of 
indoor tanning, so that others do not have to suffer the same fate. 

Diana Shaffer, 24 
"Why Do We Let Tanning Beds Kill Peop/e?n 
When Diana Shaffer started using tanning beds at the age of 14, she had 
no idea that the beds exposed her to dangerous ultraviolet (UV) light. She 
was told that as long as she wore eye protection and waited 24 hours 
between sessions everything would be okay. She followed these two 
guidelines. After eight years of using tanning beds, Diana was diagnosed 
with melanoma. 

Diana finnly believes that tanning beds caused her melanoma. "I think I 
became addicted to tanning," she recalls. "In the beginning, I went two or 
three times a week. Before I knew it, I was going more often. I wanted to 
go everyday after school because it was relaxing." Despite turning "crispy 
brown" and warnings from her mother that she should stop, Diana 
continued to tan. "I always thought that I was not tan enough." 

At age 24, she wonders why people can legally continue to tell customers 
that tanning beds are safe - even healthy. Not long ago, while shopping 
for furniture she recalls that a salesperson tried to sell her a tanning bed. 
She declined, explaining that she has been diagnosed with melanoma. The 
salesperson persisted saying it was safe because the light bulbs had been 
approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) . 

After this experience Diana asked, "Why do we continue to let tanning 

http://www.skincarephysicians.com/skincancernet/update.html l/8/07 
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LJ -

. . ... - . -
prohibits anyone under the age of 18 from using a tanning bed. Diana 
invites everyone reading this who wants the look of a tan to use a self
tanning lotion or spray-on tan - never a tanning bed. Diana pleads, 
"Don't believe that if you use a tanning bed you will not be the one who 
gets skin cancer. Ask yourself, 'Why wouldn't I get skin cancer?"' 

Tougher Laws Needed 
The Academy supports these women's pleas and endorses the World 
Health Organization's (WHO) rerommendation that no person under the 
age of 18 should use a tanning bed. 

State legislators in Texas, California, and Tennessee have worked 
vigorously to enact tough legislation restricting the use of indoor tanning 
facilities, especially among minors. The Academy enoourages more states 
to oonsider the WHO rerommendation and urges states to enact and 
enforce regulations that prohibit indoor tanning for minors. 

The American Academy of Dermatology Association supports the following 
requirements for indoor tanning facilities: 

• No minor should be permitted to use tanning devices. 
• A Surgeon General's warning should be placed on all tanning 

devices. 
• No person or facility should advertise the use of any ultraviolet A or 

ultraviolet B tanning device using wording such as "safe," "safe 
tanning," "no harmful rays," "no adverse effect," or similar wording 
or concepts. 

Roxanne and Diane adamantly believe these requirements should be the 
law in Pennsylvania. As laws, these regulations will save lives and prevent 
oountless people from living every day with the fear and uncertainty that a 
life-threatening disease brings. 

An_:duc.ational program brought to you by the American Academy of Dennatology. 

© American Academy of Dermatology, 
2005 All rights reserved. 
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Testimony 

House Bill 1154 

Senate Human Services Committee 

Tuesday, February 27, 2007; 9:00 a. m. 

North Dakota Department of Health 

Good morning, Chairman Lee and members of the Senate Human Services 
Committee. My name is Kenan Bullinger, and I am the director of the Division of 
Food and Lodging for the North Dakota Department ofl-Iealth. I am here today to 
provide information on the fiscal impacts of House Bill 1154. 

The fiscal impacts of this legislation were difficult to calculate, as the exact number of 
tanning facilities operating in North Dakota is unknown. In addition, the legislation 
does not mandate tanning facility inspections or inspection frequency. In order to 
adequately enforce the proposed provisions in this legislation, a regulatory agency, 
either state or local, will have to provide on-site inspections. The costs of inspection 
and the costs of administrative rule adoption and implementation are the main 
components of the fiscal note. 

The North Dakota Department of Health and several local health departments 
currently carry out a number of regulatory inspections for a variety of businesses in 
the state, including restaurants, lodging facilities, child-care facilities, schools and 
grocery stores. The regulatory infrastructure to carry out.the provisions of this 
legislation is in place. The challenge will be the added inspection time, reports and 
travel needed to conduct inspections of the numerous tanning facilities throughout the 
state. In phone calls made to all the local health units a few weeks back, it is estimated 
that around two"thirds of the currently operating tanning facilities will be inspected by 
the local health units. The balance, around 250 such firms, will be licensed and 
inspected by the North Dakota Department of Health. A yearly inspection of two 
hours in length, including time for travel and writing the report, for an estimated 250 
tanning facilities would equate to about I, 180 hours or .5 FTE. Salary and operating 
costs for implementation and rulemaking for the 2007-2009 biennium would be 
$32,281. 

Previously, the Department of Health had two concerns with the bill. The bill allows 
the department to establish a fee but does not provide the ability for the department to 
use the fees to cover expenses. In addition, the bill makes no mention of accepting 
local jurisdiction if the local requirements meet or exceed the requirements of state 



• 
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law. Because this legislation passed the House without opportunity for amendments, 
language was added to Section 7 of the Department's appropriation bill, House Bill 
1004, to address those concerns. Copies of that added language are attached to this 
testimony. 

This concludes my testimony. I am happy to answer any questions you may have . 
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From Engrossed House Bill No. 1004 

SECTION 7. A new section to chapter 23-39 of the North Dakota Century Code 
is created and enacted as follows: 

License fees. The fees established by the department must be based on the cost of 
conducting routine and complaint inspections, enforcement action, and preparing and 
sending license renewals. License fees collected pursuant to this chapter must be 
deposited in the department's operating fund in the state treasury and any expenditure 
from the fund is subject to appropriation by the legislative assembly. The department 
shall waive all or a portion of the license fee for any tanning facility that is subject to 
local jurisdiction. 

The department shall accept city or county enforcement of this chapter if the 
department determines the city or county requirements meet or exceed the requirements 
of this chapter and any rules promulgated under this chapter. 
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Engrossed HB 1154 - First Engrossment with Senate 
Amendments -- Proposed Amendments 

Page 5, replace lines 14-18 with: 

"23-39-06. Injury reports. If a health care provider has determined, in 
the exercise of professional judgment, that a patient has received a 
sunburn injury. as a result of exposure to UV solar radiation from a 
sunlamp or sunbed, the health care provider shall report the 
circumstances of the injury to the state department of health. A person 
making a report under this section who is acting in good faith is immune 
from liability for any damages which may be caus·ed by that act." 

Page 5, OLD VERSION of lines 14-18: 

Lines 14-18: IfaH indiYidual reEjUires medieal llttelltieH due te use efa tw-_-lillg faeility, any 
physieian, medieal prefessieHal er the evmer efthat tamiing faeility shall repert that injury te 
the department in writing and send a eepy efthat FCJ:l0Ft te the injured individual. The e·.vner 
efthe tw-.aing faeility shall retain a ee13y efthe rCjlert fer at least three years . 

Other laws requiring reporting injury or disease -

43-17-41. Duty of physicians and others to report injury-Penalty. 
1. Any physician, physician assistant, or any individual licensed under chapter 43-12.1 
who performs any diagnosis or treatment for any individual suffering from any 
wound, injury. or other physical trauma: 
a. Inflicted by the individual's own act or by the act of another by means of a knife, 
gun. or pistol shall as soon as practicable report the wound, injury, or trauma to 
a law enforcement agency in the county in which the care was rendered; or 
b. Which the individual performing diagnosis or treatment has reasonable cause 
to suspect was inflicted in violation of any criminal law of this state, shall as 
soon as practicable report the wound, injury, or trauma to a law enforcement 
agency in the county in which the care was rendered. 

25-17-04. Testing and reporting requirements. The physician attending a newborn 
child. or the birth attendant in the case of an out-of-hospital birth, shall cause that newborn 
child 
to be subjected to testing for metabolic diseases, in the manner prescribed by the state 
department of health. A physician attending a patient with a metabolic disease shall 
report the case to the state department of health. The testing requirements of this section 
do not apply if the parents of a newborn child object to the testing on the grounds that testing 
for metabolic diseases conflicts with their religious tenets and practices. 

r 
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CHAPTER 23-07 
REPORTABLE DISEASES 

23-07-01. State department of health - Collection of public health information. 

The state department of health shall designate the diseases or conditions that must be reported. 
Such diseases or conditions may include contagious, infectious, sexually transmitted, or 
chronic diseases or any illness or injury which may have a significant impact on public health. 

23-07-01.2. Rules. The department may adopt rules under chapter 28-32 for the 
efficient enforcement of this chapter. 

23-07-02. Who to report reportable diseases. Except as otherwise provided by 
section 23-07-02.1, the following persons or their designees shall report to the state 
department of health any reportable disease coming to their knowledge: 
1. All health care providers, including physicians, physician assistants, nurse 
practitioners, nurses, dentists, medical examiners or coroners, pharmacists, 
emergency medical service providers, and local health officers. 
2. The director, principal manager, or chief executive officer of: 
a. Health care institutions, including hospitals, medical centers, clinics, long-term 
care facilities, assisted living facilities, or other institutional facilities; 

A person making a report in good faith is immune from liability for any damages which may 
be caused by that act. 

23-07-02.1. Reports of human immunodeficiency virus infection - Penalty. Every 
attending physician treating an individual known by the physician to have a diagnosis of 
human immunodeficiency virus infection, acquired immune deficiency syndrome, or human 
immunodeficiency virus-related illness, including death from human immunodeficiency virus 
infection, shall make a report on that individual to the state department of health. 

23-07-03. Report of cases of sexually transmitted disease. The superintendent ofa 
hospital, dispensary, or charitable or penal institution, in which there is a case of sexually 
transmitted disease, or the superintendent's designee, shall report such case to the nearest 
health officer having jurisdiction. The report must be made in the form and manner directed 
by the state department of health . 
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Engrossed HB 1154 - First Engrossment with Senate Amendments 
Regulation of Commercial Tanning Facilities 

Proposed Amendments for Conference Committee consideration. 

Page 2, add subsection f 

23-39-03. Advertising- Notice - Warning sign -Tubes - Prohibited claims. 

2. A tanning facility shall give to each of the tanning facility's customers written notice of the 
following: 
a. Failure to wear the eye protection provided by the facility may result in damage to the 
customer's eyes and may cause cataracts; 
b. Overexposure to a tanning device causes burns; 
c. Repeated exposure to a tanning device may cause premature aging of the skin and may cause 
skin cancer; 
d. Abnormal skin sensitivity or burning of the skin while using a tanning device may be caused 
by: 

I. Certain foods; 
2. Certain cosmetics; 
3. Certain medications, including tranquilizers, diuretics, antibiotics, high blood 
pressure medicines, and birth control pills; af!d 

e. An individual who takes a drug should consult with a physician before using a tanning 
device; and 
f. An individual, or someone on behalf of the individual, who suffers burning of the skin, 
damage to the eyes, or other acute injury requiring medical attention by a healthcare 
professional while using a tanning device in this facility, may report these injuries to the ND 
Department of Health on forms available from the Division of Food and Lodging Inspections. 

Page 5, replace lines I 4-18 with: 

23-39-06. Injury reports. The department shall develop a form for the purpose of 
receiving reports of injuries resulting from a customer's use ofa commercial tanning facility as 
described in subsection subsection 2 of section 23-39-03. Information contained in the report 
shall be considered confidential, and may be utilized by the department to direct the owner of 
the tanning facility in which the reported injury occurred to take corrective action to address the 
cause of the reported injury. 

Lines 14-18: If an individual requires medioal attention due to use of a tanning faoility, any 
physioian, medieal professional or the owner of that tar.ning faoility shall report that injury to 
the depttthnJnt in writing and send a oopy of that report to the injured individual. The owner of 
the tar.ning faoilit)' shall retain a oopy of the report for at least three years. 

April 11, 2007 
ND Medical Association 
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Proposed Amendments regarding reporting injuries 

Option 1 - Only M.D. (or other provider) reports injury 

This is the most commonly used method for reporting injury 
and disease; a health care provider reports an injury to the 
Department of Health. 

Option 2 - Both (1) M;D. reports injury; AND 

(2) Tanning facility owner reports injury 

This option requires a tanning facility owner to report an 
injury - to make sure make sure of that any injury is reported 
even if the customer does not seek medical attention. (Note: 
most laws requiring reporting of injury or illness do not 
require the person causing the injury or illness to make a 
report.) 

Option 3 - (1) MD report injury; AND 

(2) Tanning facility owner must give customer 
information on how to report injury to DOH 

This option requires a health care provider to report a tanning 
device injury; and requires the owner of the facility to give 
customers information on how to report an injury to the Department 
of Health. Again, this option facilitates reporting oftanning device 
injuries when the customer does not seek medical attention . 
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Authority of a Physician to Disclose Protected Health 
Information -- If the Disclosure Is Required by Law 

Under the HIPAA privacy rule, a physician is permitted to 
disclose protected health information if the disclosure is 
required [mandated] by law. 45 C.F.R. § 164.512(a). 

In addition, a physician or other covered health care provider is 
permitted to disclose protected health information for public 
health purposes (such as surveillance of injuries and diseases) 
to a public health authority (such as the state Department of 
Health or a local public health unit). 45 C.F.R. § 164.512(b) . 
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Engrossed HB 1154 - First Engrossment with Senate 
Amendments -- Proposed Amendments [Rev. # 3J 

Option 1 - Only MD (or other provider) reports injury 

Page 5, replace lines 14-18 with: 

"23-39-06. Injury reports. If a health care provider treats a patient for a 
sunburn injury and determines, in the exercise of professional judgment, 
that the injury occurred as a result of using a tanning device at a tanning 
facility, the health care provider shall report the circumstances of the 
injury to the state department of health. A health care provider making or 
not making a report in good faith pursuant to this section is immune from 
liability for making or not making a report." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page 5, OLD VERSION of lines 14-18: 

Lines 14-18: If an individual requires medical attention due to use of a tanning facility, any 
physician, medical professional or the ovmer of that tanning facility shall report that injury to 
the department in writing and send a eopy of that report to the injured individual. The owner 
of the tanning facility shall retain a copy of the report for at least three years . 
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Engrossed HB 1154 - First Engrossment with Senate 
Amendments -- Proposed Amendments [Rev.# 3) 

Option 2 - Both (1) M.D. reports injury; AND 

(2) Tanning facility owner reports injury 

Page 5, replace lines 14-18 with: 

"23-39-06. Injury reports. If a customer of a tanning facility reports a 
sunburn injury resulting from the use of a tanning device at that facility, 
the owner of the facility shall report the circumstances of the alleged 
injury to the state department of health, and give a copy of the report to 
the customer. If a health care provider treats a patient for a sunburn 
injury and determines, in the exercise of professional judgment, that the 
injury occurred as a result of using a tanning device at a tanning facility, 
the health care provider shall report the circumstances of the injury to the 
state department of health. A health care provider making or not making 
a report in good faith pursuant to this section is immune from liability for 
making or not making a report." 

Renumber accordingly 
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Engrossed HB 1154 - First Engrossment with Senate 
Amendments -- Proposed Amendments [Rev.# 3;fA.·1t'i:{{H'fitJ1 
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Option 3 - (1) MD report injury; AND 

(2) Tanning facility owner must give customer 
information on how to report injury to DOH 

Page 5, replace lines 14-18 with: 

"23-39-06. Injury reports. If a customer of a tanning facility reports a 
sunburn injury resulting from the use of a tanning device at that facility to 
the facility, the owner shall provide the customer with written information 
on how to report the alleged injury to the state department of health. If a 
health care provider treats a patient for a sunburn injury and determines, 
in the exercise of professional judgment, that the injury occurred as a 
result of using a tanning device at a tanning facility, the health care 
provider shall report the circumstances of the injury to the 
state department of health. A health care provider making or not making 
a report in good faith pursuant to this section is immune from liability for 
making or not making a report." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page 5, OLD VERSION of lines 14-18: 
Lines 14-18: If an individual requires medical attention due lo use of a tanning faeility, any 
physician, medical professional er the owner of that tanning facility shall report that injary to 
the department in writing and send a eopy of that report to the injared individual. The owner 
of the tanning faeility shall retain a espy of the report for at least three years . 



• PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1154 

Page 1, line 22, place a period after "annually" and delete "on June thirtieth." 

' a e 2 line 13, after th derscored period, i 
t be based 

Renumber accordingly 
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